
Mark Saccoccio  
Town Clerk  

  01525 631920 
      info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

 

 
This will be a remote meeting held via Microsoft Teams in accordance with The Local Authorities 
and Crime Panels (Coronavirus)(Flexibility of Meetings)(England and Wales) Regulations 2020 

20 April 2021 
 
To:  The Town Mayor and all Members of Leighton-Linslade Town Council 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Leighton-Linslade Town Council to 

be held on Monday, 26 April 2021 commencing at 7.30 pm. This will be a remote 

meeting held via Microsoft Teams in accordance with The Local Authorities and Crime 

Panels (Coronavirus)(Flexibility of Meetings)(England and Wales) Regulations 2020. 

 

https://tinyurl.com/43bdcyd3 or by tel: +44 20 3795 5672 (Conf.ID: 635 597 759#) 
 

 
M Saccoccio 
Town Clerk 

Prayers will be said at 1920 hours 

AGENDA 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 (i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it.  

 
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on 

the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by 
the Council (see Dispensation Procedure). 

 

3.   TOWN MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

4.   LEADERS' ANNOUNCEMENTS  

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/
https://tinyurl.com/43bdcyd3


LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL Monday, 26 April 2021 
 

 

 

 

5.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 

 To receive questions and statements from members of the public as provided 
for in Standing Order Nos.3 (f) and 3 (g)   
 
 

6.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 14) 

 

 (a) To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Council 

meetings held on 25 January 2021 and on 1 February 2021 (attached) in 

accordance with Standing Order 12.  

 

(b) To receive information updates on matters arising from the previous 

meeting (if appropriate). 

 
 

7.   INSPIRING MUSIC TIME MACHINE PROJECT  

 

 In February 2020 Council approved a financial contribution of £ to the Time 
Machine project, due to be delivered in Autumn 2020. This was delayed due to 
Covid-19. To consider whether the Council is happy for the funds, which have 
been ringfenced by Central Bedfordshire Council, to support delivery of the 
project in 2021-22. 
 
 

8.   PROPOSED CHANGES TO STANDING ORDERS (Pages 15 - 46) 

 

 As presented to the Policy and Finance Committee on 29 March 2021, to 
consider proposed changes to Town Council Standing Orders (original report 
attached).  
 
(in accordance with SO 26b, once proposed and seconded, any amendments 
will stand adjourned without discussion until the next ordinary meeting of the 
Council). 
 

9.   FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN (Pages 47 - 60) 

 

 As recommended by the Policy & Finance Committee on 22 February 2021, to 
consider endorsing the five year financial plan (original report attached).  
 

10.   PARSON'S CLOSE INCLUSIVE ADVENTURE (Pages 61 - 126) 

 

 As presented to the Policy and Finance Committee on 19 April 2021, to 
consider funding arrangements for this project (report attached).  
 

11.   CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2021-2022 (Pages 127 - 142) 

 



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL Monday, 26 April 2021 
 

 

 

 To consider arrangements for meetings and decision making from 7 May 2021 
(report attached).  
 

12.   ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 143 - 158) 

 

 As presented to the Policy and Finance Committee on 19 April 2021, to 
consider approval of the Annual Report for 2020-21 (attached) (financial 
details to be added following completion of year end accounting statements).  
 

13.   OPERATION DODFORD 2021-2022 (Pages 159 - 170) 

 

 To consider the recommendation made by the Community Safety Sub-
Committee on 12 April 2021: to approve the Operation Dodford agreement with 
Bedfordshire Police for the period 1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022 (attached).  
 
 

14.   COMMITTEE MINUTES (Pages 171 - 280) 

 

 (i) To receive and note the Minutes of Committee meetings held 
between 19 January 2021 – 21 April 2021 as specified below 
(attached). 

 
(ii) To consider the recommendations contained in committee minutes 

which have not already been resolved, as specified below. 
 

(iii) To receive any relevant verbal updates from officers or Committee 
Chairs and any councillor comments or questions relating to the 
below minutes. 

 
a) Planning & Transport Committee 27 January 2021 
b) Partnership Committee 4 February 2021 
c) Planning & Transport Committee 17 February 2021 
d) Policy & Finance Committee 22 February 2021 
Recommendation at Minute Reference 200/PF (Investment Strategy) 
e) Cultural & Economic Committee 1 March 2021 
f) Grounds & Environmental Committee 8 March 2021 
g) Planning & Transport Committee 10 March 2021 
Recommendation at Minute Reference 180/P (Temporary High Street 
Pedestrianisation) 
h) Policy & Finance Committee 29 March 2021 
Recommendations at Minute Reference 214/PF (Third Party Funding 
Protocol) and 216/PF (Budget underspend).  
i) Planning & Transport Committee 31 March 2021 
j) Policy & Finance Committee 19 April 2021 (to follow) 
Recommendations at Minute Reference 225/PF (minor amendments to 
Financial Regulations and Standing Orders** to fairly reflect Brexit 
transitional advertising of contract arrangements), 226/PF (Health and 
Safety Policy), 227/PF (Lone working policy), 229/PF (Complaints 
Policy), 230/PF (Freedom of Information Policy) 



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL Monday, 26 April 2021 
 

 

 

 
** per SO 26b, proposed changes incorporate statutory requirements 
and need not stand adjourned without discussion until the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council. 

 

15.   GOVERNMENT WELCOME BACK FUND  

 

 (a) To receive a verbal update in respect of the Government’s Welcome 
Back Fund, to be distributed via Central Bedfordshire Council (formal 
correspondence is awaited from CBC). 
 
(b) To consider the recommendation made by the Partnership Committee at 
its meeting held 15 April 2021: that the Town Council expedite discussions 
regarding the Welcome Back Fund. 
 
(c)    To consider the following Motions proposed by Councillor Victoria 
Harvey. 
 
PUBLIC REALM: HIGH STREET 
 
To consider the following Motion proposed by Councillor Victoria Harvey:  
The temporary pedestrianisation of the High Street has created a safe space 
outdoors for people to shop and mix socially with social distancing.  However 
despite the increased space there are presently few places to sit down 
especially in light of social distancing.  An increase in seating will make the 
High Street accessible to those who are disabled or frail or for those who want 
to sit and talk and increase the attractiveness of the High Street as a place to 
visit which in turn supports the local economy,  
In light of the temporary pedestrianisation of the High Street this Council 
resolves to support the attractiveness and safety of the High Street by the 
purchase and installation of between 2-4 benches in the same style as the 
existing benches in the High Street.  
 
This council resolves to  fund these benches either from earmarked reserves or 
from the Opening High Street Safely funding from government via Central 
Bedfordshire Council. Installation would be with the permission of Central 
Bedfordshire Council. The exact locations would be planned with consultation 
between officers so that the market and any planned events are not negatively 
affected. The benches would be installed so that they can be 
relocated to  LLTC owned locations if the temporary pedestrianisation does not 
continue after the ending of the TTRO. 
 
GREENING IN THE HIGH STREET 
 
To consider the following Motion proposed by Councillor Victoria Harvey:  
Evidence from surveys and feedback from the public especially after losing the 
two birch trees in the High Street shows that many residents would support an 
increase in planters, trees and shrubs in the High Street as more greenery in 
the High Street would increase attractiveness of the public realm, supporting 
biodiversity, as a   reflection of environmental ambitions of LLTC and due to the 



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL Monday, 26 April 2021 
 

 

 

cooling effect on urban heat. 
 
This council resolves to set up a Task and Finish group to look at Greening the 
High Street and explore potential funding from Reopening High Streets Safely 
Fund, Central Bedfordshire Council’s Community Tree Grant.  
 

16.   QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  

 

  
To receive questions from Councillors as provided for in Standing Order 
No.27, provided three clear days’ notice of the question has been given to 
the person to whom it is addressed. 

 
 

17.   REAR BOUNDARY OF LINSLADE MEMORIAL PLAYING FIELD  

 

 To receive a report regarding the dilapidated rear boundary fence at Linslade 
Memorial Playing Field (to follow) and to consider the recommendation/s 
contained therein.   
 
 
The meeting is due to end by 2200 hours at the latest unless Standing Order 
3(x) is suspended before this time. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting is due to end by 2200 hours at the latest unless Standing Order 
3(x) is suspended before this time. 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 80 

LEIGHTON–LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF COUNCIL MEETING 
 

25 JANUARY 2021 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:   Councillors   A Dodwell  
  C Palmer 
  G Perham 
  D Bowater  
  K Cursons  
  J M Freeman 
  F Kharawala (Chair) 
  S Jones 
  R Berry 
  V Harvey 
  S Hemmings 
  S Owen 
  P Snelling 
  A Gray 
  R Goodchild 
  J Silverstone 
  B Spurr 
  T Morris 
  D Scott 
         

Also in attendance: M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
 S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central 

Services/Deputy Town Clerk)  
 Ian Haynes, (Head of Grounds and 

Environmental Services)  
 M Jahn (Committee Officer) 
 C Cummins (Finance Officer) 
   
Members of the Public:  4  

        
 

 162    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 No apologies for absence had been received.  
 

   163     DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

  Members were asked to declare any interests, and the nature of those interests, 
that they might have in any of the items under consideration at the meeting. 

 
 Councillor C Palmer declared a personal interest as a volunteer with the Friends 

of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom.  Councillor Harvey also declared an interest as a 
member of South Bedfordshire Friends of the Earth. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Council Meeting                                                         25 JANUARY 2021 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  81 

 
 It was noted that several councillors were personal acquaintances of Community 

Volunteer Award nominees. 
  
  No disclosable pecuniary interests were declared and no dispensations were 

requested. 
 

164 TOWN MAYOR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 Councillor F Kharawala informed members that during these difficult times 
fundraising events had been held on-line to raise money for the Mayor’s chosen  
charities.  She had attended events meeting other Mayors, sharing ideas and 
representing the Parish.  So far £1,700 had been raised by successfully holding 
an online Paint a Mug event and an online pamper night. It was hoped to hold 
some future online events which would focus on emotional and mental well-being.  
The Mayor thanked everyone who had attended her online events and looked 
forward to more events in the coming months. 

 
 The Civic Service would still go ahead on Sunday 28 February at 3.00 pm followed 

by the Parish Meeting on 15 March, both events to be held remotely.  
 

165  LEADER’S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 Councillor S Jones, Leader of the Conservative Group, spoke to give thanks to 
members and officers for their work over the past year in difficult times enabling 
the Council to remain in a strong financial position and continue their work in the 
community. 

 
 Councillor R Goodchild, Leader of the Liberal Democrats, agreed with Councillor 

Jones and gave thanks to officers for their work over the past months.  A request 
was made for a response to questions asked at two previous meetings. Councillor 
Goodchild was asked to put his questions in writing to the Town Clerk and the 
Town Mayor.  

 
166 QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 

A member of the public welcomed the Equality and Diversity Statement and 
enquired what the next steps would be for the Council.  It was suggested that links 
could be provided for Black History Month and climate change to the public via 
Town Council social media platforms.  

 
 Thanks were given to the speaker for work undertaken on Equality and Diversity 

and that Leighton-Linslade Town Council was supportive of this work.   
 

167    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS  
 

(a) Council received the draft minutes of the Council meetings held on 28 
September 2020 and 23 November 2020. 

Page 2



Council Meeting                                                         25 JANUARY 2021 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  82 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Council meetings held on 28 September 
and 23 November 2020 be approved as a correct record and would be signed 
at a later date when safe to do so. 
 
(a) Minute ref 139 (End of Year Accounts 2019-2020) minutes dated 28 
September – the Auditors Report had now been received and distributed to 
members.  Two minor points raised would be taken into account for next year’s 
return. 

A request was made by Councillor Owen for written clarification from the Town 
Clerk on two points in the Annual Internal Audit Report 2019/20: 

 
(i) The table titled Internal Control Objective, item L  
(ii) Letter from Mazars, section Action you are required to take, the 

second and third underlined bullet points. 
 

(b) Minute ref 159 (Canal Bridge Pedestrian Crossing) Council Meeting on 23 
November 2020 – a question was raised whether the request to install a barrier on 
Billington Road outside Pages Park had been followed up.  This was requested at 
the last Council meeting but not minuted.  The Town Clerk confirmed the matter 
had been raised with Central Bedfordshire Highways Department and would be 
followed up. 

 
168    EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY STATEMENT  

 
 Council considered a recommendation from Policy and Finance Committee of 21 

September (minute ref 193/PF) to consider approval of an Equality and Diversity 
Statement.  On being proposed and seconded, the Statement was approved 
unanimously.  

 
 Councillor Harvey requested that this statement be taken forward to Cultural & 

Economic Services Committee for further discussion at a future meeting. 
 
 RESOLVED to approve the Equality and Diversity Statement as set out. 

169 VOLUNTEER POLICY  
 
 Council considered a recommendation by the Policy and Finance Committee of 

16 November 2020 (minute ref 165/PF) to consider approval of an updated 
Volunteer Policy.  On being proposed and seconded the policy was approved 
unanimously. 

 
 RESOLVED to approve the amendments to the Volunteer Policy.  
 
170 2021-2022 RISK REGISTER AND ACTION PLAN 
 

Further to the recommendation made by the Policy and Finance Committee on 18 
January 2021, Council received and was asked to consider endorsing the Risk 
Register Action Plan for 2021-2022.  A Pandemic Risk had been added to the risk 

Page 3



Council Meeting                                                         25 JANUARY 2021 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  83 

register in a number of service areas which would be reviewed and brought back 
to Policy & Finance Committee in September 2021. 
 
Council agreed the formatting of the document was not ideal and this was 
attributed to the software used to produce the report which would be reviewed in 
the coming year as part of the anticipated software review.   

 
 RESOLVED to endorse the Risk Register Action Plan for 2021-2022, to be 

signed by the Town Mayor and the Responsible Finance Officer. 
 

171 STANDING ORDER CHANGES 
 
 Council considered proposed minor amendments to Standing Orders in 

accordance with guidance from the National Association of Local Councils, as 
recommended by the Policy and Finance Committee on 20 July 2020 and 
proposed by Councillor S Jones and seconded by Councillor A Dodwell at Council 
on 28 September 2020. 

 
 RESOLVED to endorse the minor amendments to Standing Orders in 

accordance with guidance from the National Association of Local Councils. 
 
172 2021 COMMUNITY VOLUNTEEER NOMINATIONS 
 

Council received and considered three nominations for the 2021 Community 
Volunteer Award, as recommended by the Policy and Finance Committee on 18 
January 2021.  On being put to the vote, the recommendations were carried 
unanimously. Council agreed the nominations were excellent and there were no 
hesitations in recommending them for their awards. 
 
RESOLVED to present Community Volunteer Awards for 2021 to Katrina 
Boyce, Rose Gunter and Stuart Clarke. 

173 BUDGET AND PRECEPT FOR 2021-2022 
 

Council received a report and a proposed budget and precept for the financial year 
2021-2022.  It was noted that the proposed revenue budget had been reviewed 
and recommended for approval by all Town Council standing committees.  
 
Councillor Goodchild asked if the funding required for the elderly and young people 
had been agreed and budgeted for to provide services over the next year.  It was 
confirmed that money had been identified not in the annual revenue budget but 
within the Future Projects funding as set out in the five year financial plan. The 
revised plan would be given consideration by Policy and Finance Committee on 
22 February. On this basis the Liberal Democrat group would support the proposed 
budget and precept for the financial year 2021-22. 
 
Councillor Harvey spoke of her concerns for future financial hardships caused by 
the pandemic and if the Council would have the reserves to provide help to 
organisations in cases of extreme difficulties.  

 

Page 4



Council Meeting                                                         25 JANUARY 2021 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  84 

The recommendations made by Policy and Finance on 18 January 2021 were then 
proposed, seconded, and voted on with 18 for and 1 abstention. 

 
RESOLVED to approve the budget for 2021-22 and that - 
 
(a) in accordance with the recommendation made by the Policy and 

Finance Committee at its meeting held 16 November 2020, that the 

anticipated budgetary shortfall of £74,431 for the financial period 2021-22 be 

met from the Covid-19 Earmarked Reserve which presently stands at 

£128,010.  

(b) that the Council Tax remain unchanged at £155.50 (Band D equivalent) 

for the financial year 2021-22. 

(c) the approval of the precepting amount of £2,271,388 which Central 

Bedfordshire Council would collect on behalf of the Town Council for the 

Financial Year 2021-22. 

(d) To recognise and endorse that in accordance with paragraph 2.11 of 

the budget report, that certain budget lines be omitted from the 2021-22 

revenue budget but be returned the following financial year 2022-23. 

 
174 TOWN COUNCIL VACANCY 
 

(a) Council received and formally noted the vacancy on the Town Council in 
Grovebury Ward, following the resignation of Carol Chambers on 28 October 
2020. 

Council gave their thanks for the hard work Councillor Chambers had done in 
Grovebury Ward and requested a letter of thanks be written to her from the Town 
Council. 

 
(b) Council agreed unanimously to hold an extraordinary Council meeting on 
Monday 1 February for the consideration of 9 nominees for the co-option to the 
vacancy in Grovebury Ward. 

RESOLVED to hold an extraordinary Council meeting on Monday 1 February 
2021 for the co-option to the vacancy in Grovebury Ward. 

 
175 POLICING 
 
 Council received a report from Councillor S Owen to consider a motion in respect 

of Policing proposed by Councillor S Jones and seconded by Councillor R 
Goodchild. 

 
 Members agreed that there were and had been for some time concerns regarding 

local policing in the area with inadequate local accommodation for officers and 
response times being highlighted.  It was agreed the Community Policing Team 
had improved policing in the daytime but concerns were still felt for the night time 
economy and not relying on responsive policing with the police having a new 
suitable premises where the public could have access to report crime. 

 

Page 5



Council Meeting                                                         25 JANUARY 2021 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  85 

 Councillor K Cursons declared a personal interest in this item and Councillor A 
Dodwell declared an interest as a member of the Beds Police and Crime Panel.  
The motion was proposed, seconded and on voting was unanimously carried. 

 
 RESOLVED that this Council seeks the assistance of our MP for a deputation 

of up to three councillors, led by the MP, to seek a meeting with the Minister 
of State for Policing and Fire Service to represent our concerns over the 
current Policing in Leighton-Linslade and to press for: 

 
(a) A policing plan for the town with local consultation. 
(b) New increased space for a policing base close to the town centre to 

provide a facility for contact with the public and an adequate base for 
officers. 

(c) An adequate allocation of Leighton Buzzard based officers to produce 
improved police response times, commencing with an increase in 
dedicated Policing of four hours in respect of the night time economy on 
Friday and Saturday nights. 

AND 
The Town Clerk be instructed to formally convey, as a matter of courtesy, 
the outcome of this business item to Councillor Ian Dalgarno, Portfolio 
Holder responsible for Community Safety, Councillor David McVicar, 
Chairman of Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
and Councillor Richard Wenham, Leader of the Council at Central 
Bedfordshire Council. 

 
176 LAND REGISTRY APPLICATION 
 
 Council considered a request to apply for land registry of a parcel of land between 

Pages Park and Billington Road.  The Town Clerk had spoken to Steve Lakin of 
Central Bedfordshire Council who had agreed to clear the land in the first instance 
and once registered the Town Council could continue with the maintenance and 
planting. 

 
 RESOLVED in accordance with Standing Orders to make an application to 

land registry for a parcel of land between Pages Park and Billington Road. 
 

177 CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE TREE PLANTING GRANT 
 
 Council received a proposal to approve the submission of an application for 

funding from Central Bedfordshire Tree Planting Grant Scheme. 
 
 RESOLVED to submit an application for funding from Central Bedfordshire 

Tree Planting Grant Scheme. 
 
178 ASSET DISPOSAL 
 
 In accordance with Standing Orders, Council considered accepting £1,000 for the 

disposal of a Town Council asset which was now uneconomical to retain. 
 

Page 6



Council Meeting                                                         25 JANUARY 2021 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  86 

 RESOLVED to accept £1,000 for the disposal of a Town Council asset (a 
mower). 

 
179 GOVERNANCE REVIEW 
 
 Council considered a motion proposed by Councillor S Jones and seconded by 

Councillor R Goodchild regarding the Governance Review on the area currently in 
Eggington Parish to be included in the proposed CBC ward of Leighton-Linslade 
North.  Members strongly agreed this should be pushed forward as soon as 
possible. 

 
A request was made that the Town Clerk formally write to both LGBCE and CBC 
requesting this be undertaken forthwith and seeks support from Eggington Parish 
in carrying out the review. 
 
RESOLVED  
 
(a) that the Town Clerk formally writes to both LGBCE and CBC requesting 
that an early Governance Review on the area currently in Eggington Paish 
scheduled to be included in the proposed CBC ward of Leighton-Linslade 
North be undertaken forthwith. 
(b) that the Town Clerk seeks the support of Eggington Parish council 
carrying out this review. 

 
180 COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 

(i) Council received the minutes of all committee meetings held since 
September 2020.  

 
RESOLVED to receive the minutes of Committee meetings held between 3 
September 2020 – 18 January 2021. 

 
(a) Partnership Committee 3 September 2020 
(b) Cultural & Economic Services 7 September 2020 
(c) Planning & Transport Committee 9 September 2020 
(d) Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 14 September 2020 
(e) Policy & Finance Committee 21 September  
(f) Planning & Transport Committee 30 September 2020 
(g) Planning & Transport Committee 21 October 2020 
(h) Policy & Finance Committee 29 October 2020 
(i) Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 29 October 2020 
(j) Planning & Transport Committee 11 November 2020 
(k) Policy & Finance Committee 16 November 2020 
(l) Cultural & Economic Services Committee 7 December 2020 
(m)  Planning & Transport Committee 9 December 2020  

(n) Partnership Committee10 December 2020 

(o) Grounds & Environmental Services Committee    14 December 2020 
(p) Planning & Transport Committee 06 January 2021 
(q) Policy & Finance Committee 18 January 2021 

 

Page 7



Council Meeting                                                         25 JANUARY 2021 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  87 

(ii) Council gave consideration to the recommendations contained within 
committee minutes, which had not already been dealt with as specific agenda 
items.  

 
Policy & Finance Committee, 21 September 2020: Minute reference 150/PF.   
 
A comment was made that the Partnership Project List, last updated in January 
2020, was not representative of current objectives and should be reviewed.  
On being put to the vote the recommendations (as made at the Policy and Finance 
Committee) were carried (16 for, 3 abstentions). 
 

RESOLVED: 

(a) that through the Partnership Committee the Town Council continues 

working collaboratively with Central Bedfordshire Council (as the plan 

making authority) in the review of the Development Brief for the site known 

as Land South of the High Street, Leighton Buzzard, considering and taking 

into account the potential uses of other town centre sites such as Bridge 

Meadow and existing community facilities available in the town, to ensure 

that the benefits obtained for Leighton-Linslade from the Land South of the 

High Street site are maximised. 

(b) that the merits or otherwise in the creation of a neighbourhood plan for 

the Town Centre and its hinterland be considered in 6 months’ time. 

(c) that material consideration be afforded to the Partnership Project List 

by the Partnership Committee when considering any development 

proposals that come forward within the parish or its hinterland. 

(d) that the Town Clerk writes to Central Bedfordshire Council 

(Development Management) to express the Town Council’s on-going need 

to continue to be involved in the identification of appropriate projects which 

qualify for S106 spend by providing development management and 

economic regeneration colleagues with the Partnership Project List once 

endorsed by Council. 

 
Cultural & Economic Services Committee, 7 December 2020:  
Minute reference 70/CE: 
 
RESOLVED that £5,000 underspend from 2020-21 Christmas budgets 
(£2,500, 101/4511 & £2500 101/4408) be carried forward into Community 
Projects earmarked reserve (970/9057) for the trial of recorded music in the 
High Street during an appropriate period in 2021. 

 
Minute reference 71/CE: 

 
RESOLVED:  
 
(a) To carry forward unused funds from budget line 104/4100 
(maintenance) into the TACTIC earmarked reserve (970/9020) to facilitate 
future building repairs and maintenance. 

Page 8



Council Meeting                                                         25 JANUARY 2021 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  88 

(b) To carry forward unused funds from budget line 104/4014 (projects) 
into the TACTIC earmarked reserve (970/9020) to assist with project work 
delivery in 2021/22. 

 
Minute reference 73/CE: 

RESOLVED: 
 
(a) To carry forward unspent funds form the 2021-21 Community Access 
Defibrillator budget (101/4554) into the Defibrillators earmarked reserve 
(970/9022) for on-going maintenance and kit replenishments for community 
defibrillators. 
(b) To carry forward unspent funds from the 2020-21 Public Conveniences 
Repairs & Maintenance budget (413/4100) into the Public Conveniences 
earmarked reserve (970/9055) for on-going maintenance of the Public 
Conveniences. 

Partnership Committee, 10 December 2020: Minute Reference 82/LLP. 
 
RESOLVED:  

 
(a) The retaining of an annual budget for the Community Forum activities 
at £500 per annum for the financial year 2021/22. 
(b) To carry forward unused funds from budget year 2020/21 into the 
earmarked reserves code (960/9034) to assist in the delivery of future 
Community Forum activities. 

 
Planning & Transport Committee, 6 January 2021: Minute reference 161/P. 

 
RESOLVED that £30,000 of allocated expenditure from the Highways 
Schemes earmarked reserve, dating back to commitments made in 2013 and 
thus subject to the statute of limitations now be released to become available 
for future expenditure from that earmarked reserve (9056/920) 

Policy & Finance Committee, 18 January 2021: Minute reference 177/PF. 
 

RESOLVED to approve that any underspend from the 2020-21 Community 
Safety Revenue Budget be carried into the Community Safety Earmarked 
reserve at year end. 

  
(iii) The inclusion of an agenda item enabling councillors to comment or ask 
questions on committee minutes was welcomed. A minor typographical error was 
highlighted which needed correcting.  
 

182 QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  
 

 No official questions had been received from Councillors. 
 

 
 

Page 9



Council Meeting                                                         25 JANUARY 2021 
 

                                                                                                                   Page  89 

 
 
The meeting closed 2111 hours.  
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON  25 JANUARY 2021. 
 
 
 
 
Chair                                     26 APRIL 2021
  

Page 10



Page 90 

LEIGHTON–LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
 

MONDAY, 1 FEBRUARY 2021 AT 7.30 PM 
 

Present:   Councillors D Bowater 
F Kharawala (Chair) 
C Palmer 
R Berry 
K Cursons 
A Dodwell 
M Freeman 
S Jones 
T Morris (Vice-Chair) 
G Perham 
B Spurr 
V Harvey 
S Hemmings 
D Scott 
J Silverstone 
P Snelling 
R Goodchild 
A Gray 
S Owen 

 
Also in attendance: M Saccoccio, Town Clerk 

S Sandiford, Head of Democratic and Central 
Services 
M Jahn, Committee Officer 

  
 
Members of the Public: 10 

 
183 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 No apologies for absence had been received.  

 
184 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 Members were asked to declare any interests, and the nature of those 

interests, that they might have in any of the items under consideration at the 
meeting. 
 
 No disclosable pecuniary interests were declared and no dispensations were 
requested. 
 

185 QUESTIONS 
 

Page 11



Leighton-Linslade Town Council Monday, 1 February 2021 
 

 

Page 91 

 (a) No questions from the public 

(b) No questions were received from the Councillors. 

 
186 CO-OPTION TO VACANCY IN GROVEBURY WARD 

 
 Council considered applications from 9 candidates for the position of Town 

Councillor in Grovebury ward and received copies of their supporting 
statements. It was noted that all candidates had submitted a co-option 
application form confirming their eligibility to stand as a town councillor. 

The Town Mayor invited all nine candidates to address Council for 3-5 
minutes each, in support of their application. Eight candidates spoke and one 
withdrew his application.  

Following this, Council was reminded of the Co-Option Policy and that an 
absolute majority would need to be obtained in any vote for a successful co-
option to be confirmed.  

A query was raised regarding the political allegiance of applicants. There was 
no requirement in law or in the Council’s adopted Co-Option Policy to declare 
this.  

Four applicants were proposed as follows:   

(a) Robert Yates – proposed by Councillor D Bowater and seconded by 
Councillor R Berry. 

(b) Kevin Pughe – proposed by Councillor R Goodchild and seconded by 
Councillor S Owen. 

(c) Sam Russell – proposed by Councillor D Scott and seconded by 
Councillor J M Freeman. 

(d) Adam Fahn – proposed by Councillor V Harvey (no seconder required 
in accordance with Standing Order 1(u)). 

A vote took place with the following results: 
 
R Yates – 11 in favour 
K Pughe – 4 in favour 
S Russell – 3 in favour 
A Fahn – 1 in favour 
 
RESOLVED to co-opt Robert Yates to the vacancy in Grovebury Road, 
subject to his signing the Declaration of Acceptance of Office. 
 
Councillor Kharawala thanked all the applicants for their interest in becoming 
a Town Councillor and for taking the time to prepare for and attend the 
meeting. It was hoped they would positively engage with the Council in the 
future. 
 

Page 12



Leighton-Linslade Town Council Monday, 1 February 2021 
 

 

Page 92 

187 APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES 
 

 Councillor S Jones advised Council that Councillor Kharawala would be 
replacing Councillor Bowater on the Policy & Finance Committee and that 
Councillor Robert Yates would be replacing former Councillor C Chambers 
on the Cultural and Economic Services Committee. 
 

188 APPPOINTMENTS TO/REPORTS REGARDING OUTSIDE BODIES 
 

 Council was informed that newly appointed Councillor R Yates would be 
taking up the position of Council representative with outside bodies 
previously represented by former Councillor C Chambers. 
 

 
 

The meeting closed at 8.43 pm.  
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, 1 FEBRUARY 2021.  
 
 
 
 
Chair                                26 APRIL 2021. 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 
 
 
 
 
Policy and Finance Committee      

 
Date:  19 April 2021   
 
Title:  Standing Orders 
 
Purpose of the Report: To consider possible draft amendments to 

Town Council Standing Orders.  
 
Contact Officer: Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic and 

Central Services/Deputy Town Clerk 
 

 

Corporate Objective/s To consolidate processes and procedures, 
ensuring operational efficiency.  

Implications:   

Financial None  

Human Resources None  

Operational/Service 
delivery 

Yes To ensure the Town Council’s 
governing procedures are clear 
and fit for purpose to guide 
decision making processes. 

Legal None Existing Town Council 
Standing Orders are compliant 
with legislative requirements. 

 
1. RECOMMENDATION 

 
1.1 To consider the recommendation made by the Standing Orders Task and 

Finish Group at its meeting held 26 February 2021:  to approve and 
recommend to Council adoption of revisions to Town Council Standing 
Orders, particularly in respect of: public questions, councillor questions, 
ordinary Council meetings, delegated authority to the Town Clerk and 
political groups. 
  
   

2. BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 Parish councils are empowered by the Local Government Act 1972 (Sch 12) to 
make Standing Orders to regulate their business and proceedings, and to vary 
or revoke them.  

 
2.2 The National Association of Local Councils (NALC), which is the national body 

representing the 10,000 parish councils in England, issues Model Standing 
Orders for parish councils to use as a basis for their own Standing Orders.   

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



 
  

Page 2 of 3   

 

 
2.3 The NALC Model includes reference to all legislation which parish councils are 

required to adhere to, such as for example the Local Government Act 1972, 
The Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 1960, the Localism Act 2011, 
the Data Protection Act 2018. 

 
2.4 The NALC Model clearly indicates which Standing Orders are essential for 

compliance with legislation and which are open to consideration by individual 
councils.  Town Council Standing Orders have for many years been based upon 
the NALC Model but also include a number of additions which are specific to 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council (LLTC). 
 

2.5 Standing Orders are reviewed each year, primarily to include any new 
recommendations arising from NALC. At its meeting held on 21 September 
2020, the Policy and Finance Committee agreed that a Task and Finish Group 
be formed to review current Standing Orders.  
 

2.6 At its first meeting on 26 November 2020, the group raised a couple of queries 
relating to NALC Model Standing Orders which have been passed on to NALC 
for a response. 
 

2.7 At its second meeting on 11 January 2021, the group received the findings of a 
review of Standing Orders of eight other larger town councils and looked in 
detail at those of Weymouth Town Council. The group agreed in principle to the 
inclusion of additional information in relation to: public questions, councillor 
questions, ordinary Council meetings, staffing, delegation of authority to the 
Town Clerk (Proper Officer) and political groups.  
 

2.8 At its final meeting held 26 February 2021, the group reviewed proposed 
changes to the Town Council’s Standing Orders and made a recommendation 
to this committee to approve these.  
 

3. SUMMARY OF AMENDMENTS 
 

3.1 The proposed amendments are shown in blue text and highlighted in the 
attached version of Town Council Standing Orders. The main amendments can 
be summarised as below. 

 
3.2 Removal of traffic lighting: this previously indicated the statutory position of 

various Standing Orders. This is replaced with the presumption that all Standing 
Orders apply to all meetings of Council, Committees, Sub Committees and 
Task and Finish groups, unless otherwise stated. Statutory provisions are still 
shown in bold type and these may not be suspended.  
 

3.3 Public Questions: SO 3(e) has been expanded to provide further detail on 
public questions. 
 

3.4 Council Meetings: SO 5 has been expanded to set out not only the content of 
the Annual Council Meeting but also that of ordinary Council meetings. 

Page 16



 
  

Page 3 of 3   

 

 
3.5 Delegated authority: SO 15 has been expanded to clarify the position in terms 

of delegated authority to the Proper Officer and to set out procedures for 
emergency decision making (SO 15 (c)(vii)).  
 

3.6 Questions from Councillors: SO 27 gives greater clarification on questions 
and statements by councillors.  
 

3.7 Political Groups: this section gives additional clarity in respect of political 
groups.  
 

3.8 The Task and Finish Group considered meeting attendance. Sector practice 
is that Councillors who are neither committee members nor named substitutes 
are effectively present as members of the public and should not remain in the 
meeting for any confidential matters. This is not current LLTC practice. It was 
agreed that all councillors were entitled to attend any meetings including those 
of the Personnel Sub-Committee, but excluding the Disciplinary, Grievance & 
Appeals Sub Committee (SO 4(h) amended). 
 

3.9 The Task and Finish Group considered substitutes. SO 4(f) allows a 
committee to appoint named substitutes. This is not current LLTC practice, 
whereby any councillor may be asked to substitute for another, occasionally 
beyond political groups. It was agreed not to make any changes to standing 
orders in respect of substitutes.  
 

4. CONCLUSIONS 
 

4.1  The proposed revisions will seek to address some recent queries and provide 
a clearer framework for all meetings of the Council and its committees.  

 
4.2 Should the Committee be minded to recommend approval of the changes to 

Council on 26 April, then once proposed and seconded, those changes shall 
stand adjourned without discussion until the next ordinary meeting of the 
Council (currently scheduled for Monday, 17 May but this may be subject to 
change), in accordance with Standing Order 26 (b). 

 
End. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



1 

 

 

 

 

STANDING ORDERS 2021 

 

 

 

 

 
Adopted by Council 29 April 2019 

(amendments to 17d)ii) and 18e) agreed 25 January 2021) 

  

Page 19



2 

INTRODUCTION ...................................................................................................... 3 

1. RULES OF DEBATE AT MEETINGS ............................................................... 4 

2. DISORDERLY CONDUCT AT MEETINGS ....................................................... 5 

3. MEETINGS GENERALLY ................................................................................. 6 

4. COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES......................................................... 9 

5. ORDINARY AND ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETINGS ........................................ 10 

6. EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL, COMMITTEES AND SUB-
COMMITTEES ................................................................................................ 13 

7. PREVIOUS RESOLUTIONS ........................................................................... 13 

8. VOTING ON APPOINTMENTS ....................................................................... 14 

9. MOTIONS FOR A MEETING THAT REQUIRE WRITTEN NOTICE TO BE GIVEN TO 
THE PROPER OFFICER ................................................................................ 14 

10. MOTIONS AT A MEETING THAT DO NOT REQUIRE WRITTEN NOTICE .... 15 

11. MANAGEMENT OF INFORMATION .............................................................. 16 

12. DRAFT MINUTES ........................................................................................... 17 

13. CODE OF CONDUCT AND DISPENSATIONS ............................................... 17 

14. CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS ............................................................. 18 

15. PROPER OFFICER ........................................................................................ 19 

16. RESPONSIBLE FINANCIAL OFFICER .......................................................... 21 

17. ACCOUNTS AND ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS ......................................... 21 

18. FINANCIAL CONTROLS AND PROCUREMENT ........................................... 22 

19. HANDLING STAFF MATTERS ....................................................................... 23 

20. RESPONSIBILITIES TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ...................................... 23 

21. RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER DATA PROTECTION LEGISLATION .............. 24 

22. RELATIONS WITH THE PRESS/MEDIA ........................................................ 24 

23. EXECUTION AND SEALING OF LEGAL DEEDS .......................................... 24 

24. COMMUNICATING WITH COUNTY COUNCILLORS .................................... 24 

25. RESTRICTIONS ON COUNCILLOR ACTIVITIES .......................................... 25 

26. STANDING ORDERS GENERALLY ............................................................... 25 

27.  QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS……………………………………………..25 

28.  POLITICAL GROUPS………………………………………………………………..26 

29 PROPORTIONAL REPRESENTATION………………………………………….. 26 

30.  ESTIMATES/PRECEPTS……………………………………………………………26 

31.  CANVASSING OF AND RECOMMENDATIONS BY COUNCILLORS   …….. 27 

32.  INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS………………………………………………….. 27 

33.  CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS………………………………………………………. 27 

34.  GENERAL POWER OF COMPETENCE………………………………   ………. 28 

35.  CO-OPTION…………………………………………………………………………..28 

 

 
 

Page 20



3 

INTRODUCTION 

These standing orders are based on the 2018 update to the National Association of Local Council 

(NALC) model standing orders contained in “Local Councils Explained” by Meera Tharmarajah (© 2013 

NALC). This publication contains new model standing orders which reference new legislation 

introduced after 2013 when the last model standing orders were published.  

Existing Leighton-Linslade Town Council Standing Orders have been incorporated and added to the 

NALC model in the appropriate sections. 

Sections 27 onwards have been added to the NALC model from the 2015 Town Council Standing 

Orders. 

A review of Standing Orders in 2020/21 resulted in additions/amendments to sections 3e,4,5, 15,19,27 

and 28.   

 

HOW TO USE STANDING ORDERS  

Standing orders are the written rules of a local council. Standing orders are essential to regulate the 

proceedings of a meeting. A council may also use standing orders to confirm or refer to various internal 

organisational and administrative arrangements. The standing orders of a council are not the same as 

the policies of a council but standing orders may refer to them.  

Local councils operate within a wide statutory framework. NALC model standing orders incorporate 

and reference many statutory requirements to which councils are subject. It is not possible for the 

model standing orders to contain or reference all the statutory or legal requirements which apply to 

local councils. For example, it is not practical for model standing orders to document all obligations 

under data protection legislation. The statutory requirements to which a council is subject apply whether 

or not they are incorporated in a council’s standing orders. 

The model standing orders do not include model financial regulations. Financial regulations are 

standing orders to regulate and control the financial affairs and accounting procedures of a local 

council. The financial regulations, as opposed to the standing orders of a council, include most of the 

requirements relevant to the council’s Responsible Financial Officer.  

Standing orders that are in bold type contain legal and statutory requirements.  

  

Page 21



4 

1. RULES OF DEBATE AT MEETINGS 

a Motions on the agenda shall be considered in the order that they appear unless the order is 

changed at the discretion of the Chair of the meeting. 

b A motion (including an amendment) shall not be progressed unless it has been moved and 

seconded.  

c A motion on the agenda that is not moved by its proposer may be treated by the Chair of the 

meeting as withdrawn.  

d If a motion (including an amendment) has been seconded, it may be withdrawn by the proposer 

only with the consent of the seconder and the meeting. 

e An amendment is a proposal to remove or add words to a motion. It shall not negate the motion.  

f If an amendment to the original motion is carried, the original motion (as amended) becomes the 

substantive motion upon which further amendment(s) may be moved. 

g An amendment shall not be considered unless early verbal notice of it is given at the meeting 

and, if requested by the Chair of the meeting, is expressed in writing to the Chair.  

h A councillor may move an amendment to his/her own motion if agreed by the meeting. If a motion 

has already been seconded, the amendment shall be with the consent of the seconder and the 

meeting. 

i If there is more than one amendment to an original or substantive motion, the amendments shall 

be moved in the order directed by the Chair of the meeting. 

j Subject to standing order 1(k), only one amendment shall be moved and debated at a time, the 

order of which shall be directed by the Chair of the meeting.  

k One or more amendments may be discussed together if the Chair of the meeting considers this 

expedient but each amendment shall be voted upon separately. 

l A councillor may not move more than one amendment to an original or substantive motion.  

m The mover of a motion or the mover of an amendment shall have a right of reply not exceeding 

5 minutes.  

n Where a series of amendments to an original motion are carried, the mover of the original motion 

shall have a right of reply either at the end of debate on the first amendment or at the very end 

of debate on the final substantive motion immediately before it is put to the vote. 

o Unless permitted by the Chair of the meeting, a councillor may speak once in the debate on a 

motion except: 

i.   to speak on an amendment moved by another councillor;  

ii. to move or speak on another amendment if the motion has been amended since s/he last 

spoke;  

iii. to make a point of order;  

Page 22



5 

iv. to give a personal explanation; or  

v. to exercise a right of reply. 

p During the debate on a motion, a councillor may interrupt only on a point of order or a personal 

explanation and the councillor who was interrupted shall stop speaking. A councillor raising a 

point of order shall identify the standing order which s/he considers has been breached or specify 

the other irregularity in the proceedings of the meeting s/he is concerned by.  

q A point of order shall be decided by the Chair of the meeting and his/her decision shall be final.  

r When a motion is under debate, no other motion shall be moved except:  

i. to amend the motion; 

ii. to proceed to the next business; 

iii. to adjourn the debate; 

iv. to put the motion to a vote; 

v. to ask a person to be no longer heard or to leave the meeting; 

vi. to refer a motion to a committee or sub-committee for consideration;  

vii. to exclude the public and press; 

viii. to adjourn the meeting; or 

ix. to suspend particular standing order(s) excepting those which reflect mandatory statutory or 

legal requirements. 

s Before an original or substantive motion is put to the vote, the Chair of the meeting shall be 

satisfied that the motion has been sufficiently debated and that the mover of the motion under 

debate has exercised or waived his/her right of reply. The adjournment of a debate or a meeting 

shall not prejudice the mover’s right of reply at the resumption.  

t Excluding motions moved under standing order 1(r), the contributions or speeches by a councillor 

shall relate only to the motion under discussion and shall not exceed 5 minutes without the 

consent of the Chair of the meeting. 

u If a member of a political party or an independent Councillor moves a motion or a resolution 

where that Member is the sole representative of that party, the motion or resolution shall be 

deemed to have been automatically seconded.  

v No speech by a mover of a resolution shall exceed ten minutes. 

 

2. DISORDERLY CONDUCT AT MEETINGS 

 
a No person shall obstruct the transaction of business at a meeting or behave offensively or 

improperly. If this standing order is ignored, the Chair of the meeting shall request such person(s) 

to moderate or improve their conduct. 

Page 23



6 

b If person(s) disregard the request of the Chair of the meeting to moderate or improve their 

conduct, any councillor or the Chair of the meeting may move that the person be no longer heard 

or be excluded from the meeting. The motion, if seconded, shall be put to the vote without 

discussion. 

c If a resolution made under standing order 2(b) is disobeyed, the Chair may take such further 

steps as reasonably be necessary to enforce it and/or s/he may adjourn the meeting. 

 

3. MEETINGS GENERALLY 

 a Meetings shall not take place in premises which at the time of the meeting are used for 

the supply of alcohol, unless no other premises are available free of charge or at a 

reasonable cost. All meetings of the Council shall be held at The White House at 1930 hours 

unless the Council decides otherwise at a previous meeting. (Council only) 

 b The minimum three clear days for notice of a meeting does not include the day on which 

notice was issued, the day of the meeting, a Sunday, a day of the Christmas break, a day 

of the Easter break or of a bank holiday or a day appointed for public thanksgiving or 

mourning. 

 c The minimum three clear days’ public notice for a meeting does not include the day on 

which the notice was issued or the day of the meeting unless the meeting is convened at 

shorter notice (Committees only).  

 

 

d Meetings shall be open to the public unless their presence is prejudicial to the public 

interest by reason of the confidential nature of the business to be transacted or for other 

special reasons. The public’s exclusion from part or all of a meeting shall be by a 

resolution which shall give reasons for the public’s exclusion. 

 e Members of the public may make representations, answer questions and give evidence at a 

meeting which they are entitled to attend in respect of the business on the agenda.  

(i) Members of the public who wish to ask a question at a Council meeting are requested to 

give notice to the Town Clerk no later than 4pm on the working day before the meeting. 

The question stated in the notice given to the Town Clerk shall be the question asked at 

the meeting. 

(ii) Questions to be asked at the meeting of a Committee, Sub-Committee or Task and Finish 

Group should be relevant to items on the agenda for that specific meeting but need not be 

submitted in advance (see SO 4i). 

(iii) Questions asked of Council should be relevant to the responsibilities of the Town Council. 

(iv) The Chair will call upon those wishing to speak in turn. 

(v) Answers to questions may take the form of an immediate, direct oral response, a written 

response after the meeting or when the desired information is contained in a publication, 

reference to that publication. 

(vi) Every question shall be put and answered without discussion. 

Page 24



7 

(vii) The Chair of the meeting shall not allow any question that is in their opinion:  

i. Defamatory, frivolous, vexatious or offensive 

ii. Requires the disclosure of exempt or confidential information 

iii. Relates to complaints about individual Councillors or Officers 

 

 f The period of time designated for public participation at a meeting in 

accordance with standing order 3(e) shall not exceed 15 minutes unless 

directed by the Chair of the meeting. 

 g Subject to standing order 3(f), a member of the public shall not speak for more than 3 minutes. 

 h In accordance with standing order 3(e), a question shall not require a response at the meeting 

nor start a debate on the question. The Chair of the meeting may direct that a written or oral 

response be given. 

 i A person shall raise his/her hand when requesting to speak. 

 j A person who speaks at a meeting shall direct his/her comments to the Chair of the meeting. 

 k Only one person is permitted to speak at a time. If more than one person wants to speak, the 

Chair of the meeting shall direct the order of speaking. 

 l Subject to standing order 3(m), a person who attends a meeting is permitted to report 

on the meeting whilst the meeting is open to the public. To “report” means to film, 

photograph, make an audio recording of meeting proceedings, use any other means for 

enabling persons not present to see or hear the meeting as it takes place or later or to 

report or to provide oral or written commentary about the meeting so that the report or 

commentary is available as the meeting takes place or later to persons not present. 

 

 

m A person present at a meeting may not provide an oral report or oral commentary about 

a meeting as it takes place without permission.    

 

 

n The press shall be provided with reasonable facilities for the taking of their report of all 

or part of a meeting at which they are entitled to be present.  

 o Subject to standing orders which indicate otherwise, anything authorised or required to 

be done by, to or before the Chair of the Council may in his/her absence be done by, to 

or before the Vice-Chair of the Council (if there is one). 

 p The Chair of the Council, if present, shall preside at a meeting. If the Chair is absent 

from a meeting, the Vice-Chair of the Council (if there is one) if present, shall preside. 

If both the Chair and the Vice-Chair are absent from a meeting, a councillor as chosen 

by the councillors present at the meeting shall preside at the meeting. 

 

 

 

q Subject to a meeting being quorate, all questions at a meeting shall be decided by a 

majority of the councillors and non-councillors with voting rights present and voting.

  

Page 25



8 

 

 

 

r The Chair of a meeting may give an original vote on any matter put to the vote, and in 

the case of an equality of votes may exercise his/her casting vote whether or not s/he 

gave an original vote. 

See standing orders 5(h) and (i) for the different rules that apply in the election of the Chair of the 

Council at the annual meeting of the Council. 

 s Unless standing orders provide otherwise, voting on a question shall be by a show of 

hands. At the request of a councillor, the voting on any question shall be recorded so 

as to show whether each councillor present and voting gave his/her vote for or against 

that question. Such a request shall be made before moving on to the next item of business 

on the agenda. 

 t The minutes of a meeting shall include an accurate record of the following: 

i. the time and place of the meeting;  

ii. the names of councillors who are present and the names of councillors who are absent 

(in the case of a committee or subcommittee);  

iii. interests that have been declared by councillors and non-councillors with voting rights; 

iv. the grant of dispensations (if any) to councillors and non-councillors with voting rights; 

v. whether a councillor or non-councillor with voting rights left the meeting when matters 

that they held interests in were being considered; 

vi. if there was a public participation session; and  

vii. the resolutions made. 

 

 

 

 

 

u A councillor or a non-councillor with voting rights who has a disclosable pecuniary interest 

or another interest as set out in the Council’s code of conduct in a matter being considered 

at a meeting is subject to statutory limitations or restrictions under the code on his/her 

right to participate and vote on that matter. 

 

 

 

v No business may be transacted at a Council meeting unless at least one-third of the whole 

number of members of the Council are present and in no case shall the quorum of any 

meeting be less than three. 

See standing order 4d  for the quorum of a committee or sub-committee meeting.  

 

 

 

w If a meeting is or becomes inquorate no business shall be transacted and the meeting shall 

be closed. The business on the agenda for the meeting shall be adjourned to another meeting.  

 x A meeting shall not exceed a period of 2.5 hours. 

y A motion to vary the order of business on the grounds of urgency: 

(a) May be proposed by the Town Mayor, or by any Member, and, if proposed by the Town 

Mayor, may be put to the vote without being seconded, and 

Page 26



9 

(b) Shall be put to the vote without discussion 

 

4. COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 

Standing Orders 1,2,3,6,7,9,10,11,12,13,26,29 and 33, unless otherwise specified, apply to all 
meetings of Committees, Sub-Committees and Task and Finish Groups. 

 
a Unless the Council determines otherwise, a committee may appoint a sub-committee 

whose terms of reference and members shall be determined by the committee. 

b The members of a committee may include non-councillors unless it is a committee which 

regulates and controls the finances of the Council. 

c Unless the Council determines otherwise, all the members of an advisory committee and 

a sub-committee of the advisory committee may be non-councillors. 

d The quorum of a meeting of a committee, sub-committee or Task and Finish group shall be no 

less than three. 

e The Council may appoint standing committees or other committees as may be necessary, and: 

i. shall determine their terms of reference; 

ii. may permit a committee to vary the dates of its meetings; 

iii. shall, subject to standing orders 4(b) and (c), appoint and determine the terms of office of 

councillor or non-councillor members of such a committee (unless the appointment of non-

councillors is prohibited by law) so as to hold office no later than the next annual meeting; 

iv. shall, after it has appointed the members of a standing committee, appoint the Chair of the 

standing committee to serve until the next Council Annual Meeting. Any member of a standing 

committee may be elected Chair, unless they are currently Chair (Town Mayor) of the Council; 

v. shall permit a committee other than a standing committee, to appoint its own Chair at the 

first meeting of the committee. The Chair of any committee should not also be appointed Chair 

of any Sub-Committees or Task Groups of that committee.  

vi. may dissolve a committee or a sub-committee at any time. 

f Substitutes: 

i.  A committee may appoint substitute councillors whose role is to replace ordinary 

councillors at a meeting of a committee, if ordinary councillors have confirmed to the Proper 

Officer prior to the meeting that they are unable to attend; 

ii.  an ordinary member of a committee who has been replaced at a meeting by a substitute 

(in accordance with SO 4 (f) (i) above) shall not be permitted to vote on business at that meeting. 

Any councillor attending the meeting may speak at the invitation of the Chair. 

g In the case of meetings of the committee responsible for Planning, questions or statements may 

be put by members of the public on individual planning applications immediately prior to the 

discussion on such applications (subject to the rules detailed in 3(f) and 3(g) and at the 

Page 27



10 

discretion of the Chair. 

h The following shall apply with regard to the presence of non-members of Committees (and sub 

committees) at Committee (and sub committee) meetings: 

 i. a member who has proposed a resolution, which has been referred to any Committee or sub 

committee of which s/he is not a member, should attend the meeting and explain his/her 

resolution, but not vote. 

 ii. a member who has requested an item be included on a Committee or sub committee agenda 

should attend the meeting and explain his/her request to the meeting. 

 iii. any councillor may attend and with the permission of the Chair, speak on particular matters 

at a meeting of a Committee (or sub committee) of which s/he is not a member, but may not 

vote. 

i Members of the public may ask questions on any item on the agenda of a meeting during the 

time allotted for public questions, in accordance with Standing Orders 3(f) and 3(g). Questions 

need not be submitted in writing in advance.  

j Unless there is a Council resolution to the contrary, every committee may appoint a sub 

committee whose terms of reference and members shall be determined by resolution of that 

committee. 

k Every committee may appoint a Task and Finish Group or working party, if required to undertake 

research or complete a task (subject to Terms of Reference). Non councillor members may be 

appointed to join such groups, as appropriate. The committee may appoint a Chair for the Task 

and Finish Group, which will be for the duration of the project. Task and Finish Groups or 

working parties need not be subject to proportional representation (SO 29) if the appointing 

body agrees otherwise. 

l At least four councillors shall be appointed to Task and Finish groups. 

m The need for a Task and Finish group, working party or advisory committee should be 

reviewed after six months by the parent Committee.  

n The Council may appoint advisory committees comprised of a number of councillors and non 

councillors.  

o Advisory committee may consist wholly of persons who are non councillors. 

p Sub-Committees, Task and Finish Groups, working parties and advisory committees may not 

take decisions or authorise expenditure unless specifically stated otherwise in their Terms of 

Reference, but will make recommendations to the parent committee for consideration.   

 

5. ANNUAL AND ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETINGS  

ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETING 
 
a In an election year, the annual meeting of the Council shall be held on or within 14 days 

following the day on which the councillors elected take office. 

Page 28



11 

b In a year which is not an election year, the annual meeting of the Council shall be held on 

the third Monday in May, or any such day in May as the Council decides. 

c If no other time is fixed, the annual meeting of the Council shall take place at 7.30pm. 

d In addition to the annual meeting of the Council, at least three other ordinary meetings 

shall be held in each year on such dates and times as the Council decides. 

e The first business conducted at the annual meeting of the Council shall be the election of 

the Chair and Vice-Chair (if there is one) of the Council. 

f The Chair of the Council, unless he has resigned or becomes disqualified, shall continue 

in office and preside at the annual meeting until his/her successor is elected at the next 

annual meeting of the Council.  

g The Vice-Chair of the Council, if there is one, unless s/he resigns or becomes disqualified, 

shall hold office until immediately after the election of the Chair of the Council at the next 

annual meeting of the Council. 

h In an election year, if the current Chair of the Council has not been re-elected as a member 

of the Council, s/he shall preside at the annual meeting until a successor Chair of the 

Council has been elected. The current Chair of the Council shall not have an original vote 

in respect of the election of the new Chair of the Council but shall give a casting vote in 

the case of an equality of votes. 

i In an election year, if the current Chair of the Council has been re-elected as a member of 

the Council, s/he shall preside at the annual meeting until a new Chair of the Council has 

been elected. S/he may exercise an original vote in respect of the election of the new Chair 

of the Council and shall give a casting vote in the case of an equality of votes. 

j Following the election of the Chair of the Council and Vice-Chair (if there is one) of the Council 

at the annual meeting, the business shall include: 

i. In an election year, delivery by the Chair of the Council and councillors of their 

acceptance of office forms unless the Council resolves for this to be done at a later date. 

In a year which is not an election year, delivery by the Chair of the Council of his/her 

acceptance of office form unless the Council resolves for this to be done at a later date; 

ii. Confirmation of the accuracy of the minutes of the last meeting of the Council; 

iii. Receipt of the minutes of the last meeting of a committee; 

iv. Consideration of the recommendations made by a committee; 

v. Review of delegation arrangements to committees, sub-committees, staff and other local 

authorities; 

vi. Review of the terms of reference for committees; 

vii. Appointment of members to existing committees; 

viii. Review of representation on or work with external bodies and arrangements for reporting 

back; 

Page 29



12 

ix. In an election year, to make arrangements with a view to the Council becoming eligible to 

exercise the general power of competence in the future; 

x. Determining the time and place of ordinary meetings of the Council up to and including the 

next annual meeting of the Council.  

xi. In the ordinary year of election to the Council, to fill any vacancies left unfilled at the election 

by reason of insufficient nominations. 

xii. To elect a Councillor to be Leader of the Council.  

xiii. To announce the Leaders and Deputy Leaders of the political groups represented on the 

Council. 

xiv. To receive announcements from the Group Leaders of the Council.  

xv. To review and confirm the number of members and representation by each of the political 

groups for each Committee. 

k. Council will delegate to the appropriate committee, usually the Policy and Finance Committee, 

the periodic review of the following:  

i. Appointment of any new committees in accordance with standing order 4; 

ii. Review and adoption of appropriate standing orders and financial regulations; 

iii. Review of arrangements (including legal agreements) with other local authorities, not-for-

profit bodies and businesses. 

iv. Review of inventory of land and other assets including buildings and office equipment; 

v. Confirmation of arrangements for insurance cover in respect of all insurable risks; 

vi. Review of the Council’s and/or staff subscriptions to other bodies; 

vii. Review of the Council’s complaints procedure; 

viii. Review of the Council’s policies, procedures and practices in respect of its obligations 

under freedom of information and data protection legislation (see also standing orders 11, 20 

and 21); 

ix. Review of the Council’s policy for dealing with the press/media; 

x. Review of the Council’s employment policies and procedures; 

xi. Review of the Council’s expenditure incurred under s.137 of the Local Government Act 

1972 or the general power of competence. 

ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETINGS 

l At every other ordinary Council meeting, the agenda shall include: 

i. to receive apologies for absence. 

Page 30



13 

ii. to receive declarations of interest. 

iii. To consider any requests for dispensations (SO 13). 

iv. To approve the minutes of the last meeting as an accurate record. 

v. To receive questions or statements from the public (SO 3e-h). 

vi. Chair’s (Town Mayor’s) announcements. 

vii. Political group leaders’ announcements. 

viii. To consider Motions which have been notified to the Town Clerk (SO 9). 

ix. To receive minutes of standing Committee meetings (SO 12) and to consider any 

recommendations contained therein. 

x. To allow up to 15 minutes in total for question and comment by Councillors on minutes of 

standing Committee meetings (additional time may be permitted at the Chair’s discretion). 

Such questions or comments should be restricted to 2 minutes each. 

xi. To consider any questions from Councillors (SO 27).  

xii. To consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting. 

xiii. To consider appointments to committees. 

xiv. To consider appointments to and reports from outside bodies.  

 

6. EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL, COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 

a The Chair of the Council may convene an extraordinary meeting of the Council at any time.  

b If the Chair of the Council does not call an extraordinary meeting of the Council within 

seven days of having been requested in writing to do so by two councillors, any two 

councillors may convene an extraordinary meeting of the Council. The public notice giving 

the time, place and agenda for such a meeting shall be signed by the two councillors. 

c The Chair of a committee [or a sub-committee] may convene an extraordinary meeting of the 

committee [or the sub-committee] at any time.  

d If the Chair of a committee [or a sub-committee] does not call an extraordinary meeting within 7 

days of having been requested to do so by 2 members of the committee [or the sub-committee], 

those 2 members of the committee [or the sub-committee] may convene an extraordinary meeting 

of the committee [or a sub-committee]. The statutory public notice giving the time, venue and 

agenda for such a meeting must be signed by 2 councillors.  

 

7. PREVIOUS RESOLUTIONS 

a A resolution shall not be reversed within six months except either by a special motion, which 

requires written notice by at least 6 councillors to be given to the Proper Officer in accordance 

Page 31



14 

with Standing Order 9, or by a motion moved in pursuance of the recommendation of a committee 

or a sub-committee. 

b The body which made the decision may subsequently alter the decision in extenuating 

circumstances (e.g. should additional relevant information come to light) 

c When a motion moved pursuant to standing order 7(a) has been disposed of, no similar motion 

may be moved for a further six months. 

 

8. VOTING ON APPOINTMENTS 

a Where more than two persons have been nominated for a position to be filled by the Council and 

none of those persons has received an absolute majority of votes in their favour, the name of the 

person having the least number of votes shall be struck off the list and a fresh vote taken. This 

process shall continue until a majority of votes is given in favour of one person. A tie in votes may 

be settled by the casting vote exercisable by the Chair of the meeting. 

 

9. MOTIONS FOR A MEETING THAT REQUIRE WRITTEN NOTICE TO BE GIVEN TO THE 

PROPER OFFICER  

a A motion shall relate to the responsibilities of the meeting for which it is tabled and in any event 

shall relate to the performance of the Council’s statutory functions, powers and obligations or an 

issue which specifically affects the Council’s area or its residents.  

b No motion may be moved at a meeting unless it is on the agenda and the mover has given written 

notice of its wording to the Proper Officer at least 10 clear days before the meeting. Clear days 

do not include the day of the notice or the day of the meeting. 

c The Proper Officer may, before including a motion on the agenda received in accordance with 

standing order 9(b), correct obvious grammatical or typographical errors in the wording of the 

motion.  

d If the Proper Officer considers the wording of a motion received in accordance with standing 

order 9(b) is not clear in meaning, the motion shall be rejected until the mover of the motion 

resubmits it, so that it can be understood, in writing, to the Proper Officer at least 7 clear days 

before the meeting.  

e If the wording or subject of a proposed motion is considered improper, the Proper Officer shall 

consult with the Chair of the forthcoming meeting or, as the case may be, the councillors who 

have convened the meeting, to consider whether the motion shall be included in the agenda or 

rejected.  

f The decision of the Proper Officer as to whether or not to include the motion on the agenda shall 

be final.  

g Motions received shall be recorded and numbered in the order that they are received. 

h Motions rejected shall be recorded with an explanation by the Proper Officer of the reason for 

rejection.  

Page 32



15 

 

10. MOTIONS AT A MEETING THAT DO NOT REQUIRE WRITTEN NOTICE  

a The following motions may be moved at a meeting without written notice to the Proper Officer: 

i. to correct an inaccuracy in the draft minutes of a meeting; 

ii. to move to a vote;  

iii. to defer consideration of a motion;  

iv. to refer a motion to a particular committee or sub-committee; 

v. to appoint a person to preside at a meeting; 

vi. to change the order of business on the agenda;  

vii. to proceed to the next business on the agenda;  

viii. to require a written report; 

ix. to appoint a committee or sub-committee and their members; 

x. to extend the time limits for speaking; 

xi. to exclude the press and public from a meeting in respect of confidential or other 

information which is prejudicial to the public interest; 

xii. to not hear further from a councillor or a member of the public; 

xiii. to exclude a councillor or member of the public for disorderly conduct;  

xiv. to temporarily suspend the meeting;  

xv. to suspend a particular standing order (unless it reflects mandatory statutory or legal 

requirements); 

xvi. to adjourn the meeting; 

xvii. to close the meeting; 

xviii. to approve the absences of councillors;  

xix. to approve the accuracy of the minutes of the previous meeting;  

xx. to dispose of business, if any, remaining from the last meeting; 

xxi. to close or adjourn debate; 

xxii. to receive nominations to a committee or sub committee; 

xxiii. to note the minutes of a meeting of a committee or sub committee; 

xxiv. to consider a report and/or recommendation/s made by a committee or a sub 

committee; 

Page 33



16 

xxv. to consider a report and/or recommendation/s made by an employee, professional 

advisor, expert or consultant; 

xxvi. to authorise legal deeds to be signed by two councillors and witnessed; 

xxvii. to amend a motion relevant to the original or substantive motion under consideration 

which shall not have the effect of nullifying it;  

xxviii. To give the consent of Council if such consent is required by standing orders; 

xxix. To appoint representatives to outside bodies and to make arrangements for those 

representatives to report back the activities of outside bodies; 

xxx. A Member may ask the Chair or the Proper Officer any question concerning the 

business of the Council and a member may ask the Chair of a Committee any question 

upon the proceedings of the Committee then before Council;  

xxxi. No questions shall be asked not connected with business under discussion except 

during the part of the meeting set aside for questions; 

xxxii. Every question shall be put and answered without discussion; 

xxxiii. A person to whom a question has been put may decline to answer 

b If a motion falls within the terms of reference of a committee or sub committee or within the 

delegated powers conferred upon an employee, a referral of the same may be made to such 

committee or sub committee or employee, provided that the Chair may direct for it to be dealt 

with at the present meeting for reasons of urgency or expedience.  

 

11. MANAGEMENT OF INFORMATION  

See also standing order 20. 

a The Council shall have in place and keep under review, technical and organisational 

measures to keep secure information (including personal data) which it holds in paper 

and electronic form. Such arrangements shall include deciding who has access to 

personal data and encryption of personal data.  

b The Council shall have in place, and keep under review, policies for the retention and 

safe destruction of all information (including personal data) which it holds in paper and 

electronic form. The Council’s retention policy shall confirm the period for which 

information (including personal data) shall be retained or if this is not possible the 

criteria used to determine that period (e.g. the Limitation Act 1980).  

c The agenda, papers that support the agenda and the minutes of a meeting shall not 

disclose or otherwise undermine confidential information or personal data without legal 

justification.  

d Councillors, staff, the Council’s contractors and agents shall not disclose confidential 

information or personal data without legal justification. 

Page 34



17 

 

12. DRAFT MINUTES  

 a If the draft minutes of a preceding meeting have been served on councillors with the agenda to 

attend the meeting at which they are due to be approved for accuracy, they shall be taken as 

read. 

 b There shall be no discussion about the draft minutes of a preceding meeting except in relation to 

their accuracy. A motion to correct an inaccuracy in the draft minutes shall be moved in accordance 

with standing order 10(a)(i). 

 c The accuracy of draft minutes, including any amendment(s) made to them, shall be confirmed by 

resolution and shall be signed by the Chair of the meeting and stand as an accurate record of the 

meeting to which the minutes relate.  

 d If the Chair of the meeting does not consider the minutes to be an accurate record of the meeting 

to which they relate, s/he shall sign the minutes and include a paragraph in the following terms or 

to the same effect: 

“The Chair of this meeting does not believe that the minutes of the meeting of the (   ) held on [date] 

in respect of (   ) were a correct record but his view was not upheld by the meeting and the minutes 

are confirmed as an accurate record of the proceedings.” 

 

 

 

 

e If the Council’s gross annual income or expenditure (whichever is higher) does not exceed 

£25,000, it shall publish draft minutes on a website which is publicly accessible and free 

of charge not later than one month after the meeting has taken place. 

 f Subject to the publication of draft minutes in accordance with standing order 12(e) and standing 

order 20(a) and following a resolution which confirms the accuracy of the minutes of a meeting, 

the draft minutes or recordings of the meeting for which approved minutes exist shall be destroyed. 

 

13. CODE OF CONDUCT AND DISPENSATIONS 

See also standing order 3(u).  

a All councillors and non-councillors with voting rights shall observe the code of conduct adopted 

by the Council. 

b Unless s/he has been granted a dispensation, a councillor or non-councillor with voting rights 

shall withdraw from a meeting when it is considering a matter in which s/he has a disclosable 

pecuniary interest. S/he may return to the meeting after it has considered the matter in which 

s/he had the interest. 

c Unless he has been granted a dispensation, a councillor or non-councillor with voting rights shall 

withdraw from a meeting when it is considering a matter in which s/he has another interest if so 

required by the Council’s code of conduct. S/he may return to the meeting after it has considered 

the matter in which s/he had the interest. 

d Dispensation requests shall be in writing and submitted to the Proper Officer as soon as 

possible before the meeting, or failing that, at the start of the meeting for which the dispensation 

Page 35



18 

is required. 

e A decision as to whether to grant a dispensation shall be made by a meeting of the Council, or 

committee or sub-committee for which the dispensation is required, and that decision is final. 

f A dispensation request shall confirm: 

i. the description and the nature of the disclosable pecuniary interest or other interest to which 

the request for the dispensation relates;  

ii. whether the dispensation is required to participate at a meeting in a discussion only or a 

discussion and a vote; 

iii. the date of the meeting or the period (not exceeding four years) for which the dispensation is 

sought; and  

iv. an explanation as to why the dispensation is sought. 

g Subject to standing orders 13(d) and (f), a dispensation request shall be considered at the 

beginning of the meeting of the Council, or committee or sub-committee for which the dispensation 

is required. 

h A dispensation may be granted in accordance with standing order 13(e) if having regard to 

all relevant circumstances any of the following apply: 

i. without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited from participating in the 

particular business would be so great a proportion of the meeting transacting the business 

as to impede the transaction of the business;  

ii. granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the Council’s area; 

or 

iii. it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 

 

14. CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS  

a Upon notification by the District or Unitary Council that it is dealing with a complaint that a 

councillor or non-councillor with voting rights has breached the Council’s code of conduct, the 

Proper Officer shall, subject to standing order 11, report this to the Council. 

b Where the notification in standing order 14(a) relates to a complaint made by the Proper Officer, 

the Proper Officer shall notify the Chair of Council of this fact, and the Chair shall nominate 

another staff member to assume the duties of the Proper Officer in relation to the complaint until 

it has been determined and the Council has agreed what action, if any, to take in accordance 

with standing order 14(d). 

c The Council may: 

i. provide information or evidence where such disclosure is necessary to investigate the complaint 

or is a legal requirement; 

ii. seek information relevant to the complaint from the person or body with statutory responsibility 

Page 36



19 

for investigation of the matter; 

d Upon notification by the District or Unitary Council that a councillor or non-councillor with 

voting rights has breached the Council’s code of conduct, the Council shall consider what, 

if any, action to take against him/her. Such action excludes disqualification or suspension 

from office. 

 

15. PROPER OFFICER  

a The Proper Officer shall be either (i) the clerk or (ii) other staff member(s) nominated by the 

Council to undertake the work of the Proper Officer when the Proper Officer is absent.  

b The Proper Officer shall: 

i. at least three clear days before a meeting of the council, a committee or a sub-

committee, 

 serve on councillors by delivery or post at their residences or by email authenticated in 

such manner as the Proper Officer thinks fit, a signed summons confirming the time, place 

and the agenda (provided the councillor has consented to service by email), and 

 Provide, in a conspicuous place, public notice of the time, place and agenda (provided 

that the public notice with agenda of an extraordinary meeting of the Council convened 

by councillors is signed by them). 

See standing order 3(b) for the meaning of clear days for a meeting of a full council and standing 

order 3(c) for the meaning of clear days for a meeting of a committee; 

ii. subject to standing order 9, include on the agenda all motions in the order received unless 

a councillor has given written notice at least 5 days before the meeting confirming his/her 

withdrawal of it; 

iii. convene a meeting of the Council for the election of a new Chair of the Council, 

occasioned by a casual vacancy in his office; 

iv. facilitate inspection of the minute book by local government electors; 

v. receive and retain copies of byelaws made by other local authorities; 

vi.  hold acceptance of office forms from councillors; 

vii. hold a copy of every councillor’s register of interests; 

viii. assist with responding to requests made under freedom of information legislation and rights 

exercisable under data protection legislation, in accordance with the Council’s relevant policies 

and procedures; 

ix. receive and send general correspondence and notices on behalf of the Council except 

where there is a resolution to the contrary; 

x. assist in the organisation of, storage of, access to, security of and destruction of information 

held by the Council in paper and electronic form subject to the requirements of data protection 

Page 37



20 

and freedom of information legislation and other legitimate requirements (e.g. the Limitation Act 

1980); 

xi. arrange for legal deeds to be executed;  

(see also standing order 23); 

xii. arrange or manage the prompt authorisation, approval, and instruction regarding any 

payments to be made by the Council in accordance with its financial regulations; 

xiii. record every planning application notified to the Council and the Council’s response to the 

local planning authority in a book for such purpose; 

xiv. refer a planning application received by the Council to the Chair or in his/her absence the 

Vice-Chair of the Committee responsible for Planning and to the Chair or in his/her absence the 

Vice Chair of any other relevant Committee] within two working days of receipt to facilitate an 

extraordinary joint meeting if the nature of a planning application requires consideration by both 

Committees; 

xv. manage access to information about the Council via the publication scheme; and 

xvi. retain custody of the seal of the Council (if there is one) which shall not be used without a 

resolution to that effect. 

 

xvii. Action or undertake activity or responsibilities instructed by resolution or contained in 

standing orders. 

 

xviii. Certify copies of byelaws made by the Council.  

  

c The Town Clerk has the delegated authority to undertake the following matters on behalf of the 

Council: 

i. the day to day administration, development, management and promotion of Council 

services and associated activities, together with routine inspection and control. 

ii. The day to day supervision, control and management of all staff employed by the Council 

including appointment, disciplinary and dismissal, unless stated otherwise in adopted 

Council policies.  

iii. Authorisation of routine expenditure as set out in Financial Regulations. 

iv. Emergency expenditure as set out in Financial Regulations.  

v. The short term licensing of events and activities taking place on Council land and in 

Council owned premises. 

vi. Delegated actions of the Town Clerk shall be in accordance with Standing Orders and 

Financial Regulations. 

vii. In the event of a decision being required outside of the approved calendar of meetings, to 

seek advice from the Town Mayor and Group Leaders as to whether the matter is of 

sufficient urgency and importance to convene an extraordinary meeting of the Council or 

appropriate committee. Where an extraordinary meeting cannot be lawfully convened or 

Page 38



21 

is inquorate, to seek approval by email from a number of Councillors at least equal to and 

ideally greater than the quorum of the relevant body, prior to undertaking a course of 

action. A record should be kept of any such actions.  

  

16. RESPONSIBLE FINANCIAL OFFICER  

a The Council shall appoint appropriate staff member(s) to undertake the work of the Responsible 

Financial Officer when the Responsible Financial Officer is absent. 

 

17. ACCOUNTS AND ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS 

a “Proper practices” in standing orders refer to the most recent version of “Governance and 

Accountability for Local Councils – a Practitioners’ Guide”. 

b All payments by the Council shall be authorised, approved and paid in accordance with the law, 

proper practices and the Council’s financial regulations.  

c The Responsible Financial Officer shall supply to each councillor as soon as practicable after 30 

June, 30 September and 31 December in each year a statement to summarise: 

i. the Council’s receipts and payments (or income and expenditure) for each quarter;  

ii. the Council’s aggregate receipts and payments (or income and expenditure) for the year to 

date; 

iii. the balances held at the end of the quarter being reported and 

which includes a comparison with the budget for the financial year and highlights any actual or 

potential overspends. 

d As soon as possible after the financial year end at 31 March, the Responsible Financial Officer 

shall provide: 

i. each councillor with a statement summarising the Council’s receipts and payments (or income 

and expenditure) for the last quarter and the year to date for information; and  

ii. to the Council the accounting statements for the year in the form of Section 2 of the annual 

governance and accountability return, as required by proper practices, for consideration and 

approval. 

e The year-end accounting statements shall be prepared in accordance with proper practices and 

apply the form of accounts determined by the Council (receipts and payments, or income and 

expenditure) for the year to 31 March. A completed draft annual governance and accountability 

return shall be presented to all councillors at least 14 days prior to anticipated approval by the 

Council. The annual governance and accountability return of the Council, which is subject to 

external audit, including the annual governance statement, shall be presented to the Council for 

consideration and formal approval before 30 June. 

 

Page 39



22 

18. FINANCIAL CONTROLS AND PROCUREMENT 

a. The Council shall consider and approve financial regulations drawn up by the Responsible 

Financial Officer, which shall include detailed arrangements in respect of the following: 

i. the keeping of accounting records and systems of internal controls; 

ii. the assessment and management of financial risks faced by the Council; 

iii. the work of the independent internal auditor in accordance with proper practices and the 

receipt of regular reports from the internal auditor, which shall be required at least annually; 

iv. the inspection and copying by councillors and local electors of the Council’s accounts 

and/or orders of payments; and  

v. procurement policies, including the setting of values for different procedures where the 

contract has an estimated value as specified in the Financial Regulations.  

b. Financial regulations shall be reviewed regularly and at least annually for fitness of purpose. 

c. Any expenditure incurred by the Council shall be in accordance with the Financial Regulations.  

d. The Council’s Financial Regulations may make provision for the authorisation of the payment of 

money in exercise of any of the Council’s functions to be delegated to a committee, sub-

committee or to an employee.  

e. A public contract regulated by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 with an estimated 

value in excess of £25,000 but less than the relevant thresholds in standing order 18(h) is 

subject to Regulations 109-114 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 which include a 

requirement on the Council to advertise the contract opportunity on the Contracts Finder 

website regardless of what other means it uses to advertise the opportunity, unless it 

proposes to use an existing list of preferred suppliers (“framework agreement”). 

f. Subject to additional requirements in the financial regulations of the Council, the tender process 

for contracts for the supply of goods, materials, services or the execution of works shall include, 

as a minimum, the following steps: 

i. a specification for the goods, materials, services or the execution of works shall be drawn 

up; 

ii. an invitation to tender shall be drawn up to confirm (i) the Council’s specification (ii) the 

time, date and address for the submission of tenders (iii) the date of the Council’s written 

response to the tender and (iv) the prohibition on prospective contractors contacting councillors 

or staff to encourage or support their tender outside the prescribed process; 

iii. the invitation to tender shall be advertised in a local newspaper and/or in any other manner 

that is appropriate;  

iv. tenders are to be submitted in writing in a sealed marked envelope addressed to the Proper 

Officer;  

v. tenders shall be opened by the Proper Officer in the presence of at least one councillor 

after the deadline for submission of tenders has passed;  

Page 40



23 

vi. tenders are to be reported to and considered by the appropriate meeting of the Council or 

a committee or sub-committee with delegated responsibility. 

g. Neither the Council, nor a committee or a sub-committee with delegated responsibility for 

considering tenders, is bound to accept the lowest value tender. 

h. A public contract  regulated by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 with an estimated 

value in excess of £181,302 for a public service or supply contract or in excess of 

£4,551,413 for a public works contract (or other thresholds determined by the European 

Commission every two years and published in the Official Journal of the European Union 

(OJEU)) shall comply with the relevant procurement procedures and other requirements 

in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 which include advertising the contract 

opportunity on the Contracts Finder website and in OJEU. 

i. A public contract in connection with the supply of gas, heat, electricity, drinking water, 

transport services, or postal services to the public; or the provision of a port or airport; or 

the exploration for or extraction of gas, oil or solid fuel with an estimated value in excess 

of £363,424 for a supply, services or design contract; or in excess of £4,551,413 for a works 

contract; or £820,370 for a social and other specific services contract (or other thresholds 

determined by the European Commission every two years and published in OJEU) shall 

comply with the relevant procurement procedures and other requirements in the Utilities 

Contracts Regulations 2016. 

19. HANDLING STAFF MATTERS 

a A matter personal to a member of staff that is being considered by a meeting of Council a 

Committee or a sub-committee is subject to standing order 11. 

b Staff sickness absence, performance appraisals and grievance matters shall be dealt with in 

accordance with adopted Town Council policies and procedures and where 

appropriate/necessary, will be reported back to the relevant Committee or Sub-Committee.   

c Any persons responsible for all or part of the management of staff shall treat as confidential the 

written records of all meetings relating to their performance, capabilities, grievance or disciplinary 

matters. 

d In accordance with standing order 11(a), persons with line management responsibilities shall 
have access to staff records referred to in standing order 19(c). 

 
e Three Councillors shall be appointed by the Personnel Sub-Committee to undertake the annual 

appraisal of the Town Clerk, in accordance with the Council’s adopted Appraisal Procedure.  
 
 
 
  
20. RESPONSIBILITIES TO PROVIDE INFORMATION  

See also standing order 21. 

a In accordance with freedom of information legislation, the Council shall publish 

information in accordance with its publication scheme and respond to requests for 

information held by the Council (in accordance with its adopted policies and procedures).   

Page 41



24 

b The Council, shall publish information in accordance with the requirements of the Local 

Government (Transparency Requirements) (England) Regulations 2015. 

 

21. RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER DATA PROTECTION LEGISLATION  

(Below is not an exclusive list).  
See also standing order 11. 

a The Council shall have policies and procedures in place to respond to an individual 

exercising statutory rights concerning his/her personal data.  

b The Council shall have a written policy in place for responding to and managing a personal 

data breach. 

c The Council shall keep a record of all personal data breaches comprising the facts relating 

to the personal data breach, its effects and the remedial action taken. 

d The Council shall ensure that information communicated in its privacy notice(s) is in an 

easily accessible and available form and kept up to date. 

e The Council shall maintain a written record of its processing activities. 

 

22. RELATIONS WITH THE PRESS/MEDIA 

a Requests from the press or other media for an oral or written comment or statement from the 

Council, its councillors or staff shall be handled in accordance with the Council’s policy in respect 

of dealing with the press and/or other media. 

 

23. EXECUTION AND SEALING OF LEGAL DEEDS  

See also standing orders 15(b)(xi) and (xvi). 

a A legal deed shall not be executed on behalf of the Council unless authorised by a resolution. 

b Subject to standing order 23(a), any two councillors may sign, on behalf of the Council, 

any deed required by law and the Proper Officer shall witness their signatures.  

The above is applicable to a Council without a common seal. 

 

24. COMMUNICATING WITH DISTRICT AND COUNTY OR UNITARY COUNCILLORS 

a An invitation to attend a meeting of the Council shall be sent, together with the agenda, to the 

ward councillor(s) of the Unitary Council representing the area of the Council.  

b Unless the Council determines otherwise, a copy of each letter sent to the Unitary Council shall 

be sent to the ward councillor(s) representing the area of the Council. 

 

Page 42



25 

25. RESTRICTIONS ON COUNCILLOR ACTIVITIES 

a. Unless duly authorised no councillor shall: 

i.   inspect any land and/or premises which the Council has a right or duty to inspect; or 

ii. issue orders, instructions or directions. 

 

26. STANDING ORDERS GENERALLY 

a. All or part of a standing order, except one that incorporates mandatory statutory or legal 
requirements, may be suspended by resolution in relation to the consideration of an item on the 
agenda for a meeting. 

b. A motion to add to or vary or revoke one or more of the Council’s standing orders, except one 
that incorporates mandatory statutory or legal requirements, shall, when proposed and seconded, 
stand adjourned without discussion until the next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

c. The Proper Officer shall provide a copy of the Council’s standing orders to a councillor as soon 
as possible. 

d. The decision of the Chair of a meeting as to the application of standing orders at the meeting 
shall be final. 

 
e. A Councillors’s failure to observe standing orders more than three times in any one meeting may 

result in him/her being excluded from the meeting.  
 

27. QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 

a. A councillor may seek an answer to a question concerning any business of the Council provided 
3 clear working days’ notice of the question has been given to the Proper Officer.   

A Councillor may ask the Chairman of the Council any question or make a request to make a 
statement on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects 
the parish, provided that notice in writing has been submitted to the Proper Officer at least 3 clear 
working days prior to the date/time of the meeting.  

b. Questions or statements not related to items of business on the agenda for a meeting shall only 
be asked during the part of the Council meeting set aside for such questions. 

c. Every question shall be put and answered without discussion. An answer may take the form of: 

 
i) A direct oral answer. 
ii) Where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published work, a 

reference to that publication, or 
iii) Where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer circulated later to 

the questioner within 10 working days.  

Page 43



26 

d. The question or statement asked by the Councillor will be the question or statement submitted to 
the Proper Officer. 

e. Any question or statement made by a Councillor with the consent of the Chair should not exceed 
3 minutes.  

 

 

 

28. POLITICAL GROUPS 

 
a. Councillors shall as soon as possible after being elected or co-opted, notify the Town Clerk to 

which Political Group, if any, they wish to belong. 
 
b. A “political group” comprises two or more members who give written notice of their wish to be 

treated as a group. It must have a Leader and may have another person authorised to act in 
place of the Leader. No person can be a member of more than one group.   

 
c. The Political Groups will notify the Town Clerk of those Councillors appointed as Leader, Deputy 

Leader or representative of each Group.  
 

d. If a member of a political party or an independent Councillor moves a motion or a resolution 
where that Member is the sole representative of that party, the motion or resolution shall be 
deemed to have been automatically seconded (SO 1u). 

 
e. The Proper Officer shall ensure that adequate communication channels exist with all political 

groups.   

29. PROPORTIONAL REPRESENTATION 
 
a. Allocation of seats on Committees or Sub-Committees (referred to as bodies) of Leighton-

Linslade Town Council to be made on a proportional basis, unless agreed, without dissent, 
otherwise at the Annual Council Meeting. The rules determining allocation shall be those used, 
by statute, for principal Councils.  

 
b. A determination of the allocation of seats may take place annually at the Annual Meeting of the 

Town Council, or when it becomes apparent that it is necessary to do so. Determination, as far 
as is reasonably practical, must give effect to the following principles: 

 
i) That not all seats of the body to which appointments are made are allocated to the same 

political group. 
ii) That the majority of seats on the body are allocated to a particular political group if the 

number of persons belonging to that group are a majority of the authority’s membership. 
iii) Subject to i) and ii), that the total number of seats on all the ordinary Committees of the 

Council allocated to a particular political group, reflects that group’s proportion of the 
membership of the Town Council. 

iv) Subject to i) and ii), that the number of seats on each body allocated to a particular political 
group reflects that group’s proportion of the membership of the Town Council.  

 
c. Any single members who are not part of a political group should not be excluded from 

membership of bodies within the Town Council. Allocation of seats to such members should be 
by agreement between the political parties and must have regard to the principles stated above.  

 

Page 44



27 

30. ESTIMATES/PRECEPTS 
 
a. The Council shall approve written estimates for the coming financial year.  
 
b. Any committee desiring to incur expenditure shall give the Proper Officer a written estimate of 

the expenditure recommended for the coming year.  
 

31. CANVASSING OF AND RECOMMENDATIONS BY COUNCILLORS 
 
a. Canvassing councillors or the members of a committee or sub-committee, directly or indirectly, 

for a staffing appointment to or by the Council, shall disqualify the candidate from such an 
appointment. The Proper Officer shall disclose the requirements of this standing order to every 
candidate applying for a staffing appointment. 

 
b. A councillor or a member of a committee or sub-committee shall not solicit a person for a staffing 

appointment to or by the Council, or recommend a person for such appointment or for promotion; 
but, nevertheless, any such person may give a written testimonial of a candidate’s ability, 
experience or character for submission to the Council with an application for appointment. 

 
c. If a candidate for any appointment under the Council is, to their knowledge, related to any 

Member or the holder of any office under the Council, they and the person to whom they are 
related shall disclose the relationship in writing to the Town Clerk. A candidate who fails to do so 
shall be disqualified for such appointment or, if appointed, may be dismissed without notice. The 
Town Clerk shall report to the Council or to the appropriate Committee any such disclosure. 
Where relationship to a Member is disclosed, Standing Order Nos 13 and 15 (b) (vii) shall apply 
as appropriate.  

 
d. This standing order shall apply to tenders as if the person making the tender were a candidate 

for an appointment.  
 

 

32. INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS 
 
a. Subject to standing orders to the contrary or in respect of matters which are confidential, a 

councillor may, for the purpose of his/her official duties (but not otherwise), inspect any document 
in possession of the Council or a committee or a sub-committee, and request a copy for the same 
purpose. 

 
b. The minutes of meetings of the Council, its committees and sub-committees shall be available 

for inspection by councillors and the public.  
 

 

33. CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS  
 
a. Councillors and employees shall not disclose information given in confidence or which they 

believe, or ought to be aware, is of a confidential nature.  
 
b. A councillor in breach of the provisions of standing order 32 (a) above may be removed from a 

committee or a sub-committee by resolution of the Council.  
 

34. GENERAL POWER OF COMPETENCE 
 

Page 45



28 

a. Before exercising the General Power of Competence, the Council must resolve at a meeting 
of the Council and each subsequent relevant annual meeting that it meets the conditions in 
paragraph b below. 
 
b. At the time a resolution under paragraph a is passed: 

 
(i) The number of ordinary members of the council that have been declared to be elected, 

whether at ordinary elections or at a by-election, is equal or greater than two-thirds of the 
total number of members of the council; 

 
(ii) The clerk to the parish council holds one of: the Certificate in Local Council 

Administration, the Certificate of Higher Education in Local Policy, the Certificate of Higher 
Education in Local Council Administration or the first level of the foundation degree in 
Community Engagement and Governance awarded by the University of Gloucestershire or 
its successor qualifications; and 

 
(iii) The clerk to the parish council has completed the relevant training, unless such training 

was required for the purpose of obtaining a qualification of a description mentioned in 
paragraph b. “Relevant training” means training provided in the exercise of general power; 
or provided in accordance with the national training strategy for parish councils adopted by 
the National Association of Local Councils, as revised from time to time.  

 

35. CO-OPTION 
 
a. In the event of a co-option arising to fill a casual vacancy caused by the death, resignation or 

disqualification of a Councillor, the Council’s current policy shall apply.  

Page 46



 
 
 
 
Council                                

 
Date:   26th April 2021  
 
Title: 5 Year Financial Plan  
 
Purpose of the Report: To provide Members with the most 

recent position in respects of the 5 Year 
Financial Plan and the proposed 
projects which underpins it.   

 
Contact Officer: Mark Saccoccio – Town Clerk  

 

Corporate Objective/s Meeting those set out within the Town Council’s 5 
Year Plan 
 

Implications:    

Human Resources None  

Operational/Service 
Delivery  

Yes  The 5-year Financial Plan demonstrates that 
projects identified within the 5 Year Plan can 
be delivered with a high degree of certainty 

Procedural/Legal  Yes  

Financial  Yes Demonstrate that projects can be delivered 
that meet community expectations are within 
budget and are able to be delivered in a 
timely manner.  

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
Should members be minded:- 

 
1.1 To note the most recent iteration of the 5 Year Financial Plan and to 

recommend its endorsement by Council.    
 

1.2 In accordance with the recommendation made by the Policy and Finance 
Committee at its meeting held 22nd February 2021 that Council endorse 
the request made by the Cultural and Economic Services Committee at 
its meeting held 7th December 2020 that £50,000 be included within the 5 
Year Financial Plan for the financial period 2021-22 for the purposes of 
older persons projects to include: 

 

 Digital Inclusion 

 Directory/information hub 

 Older Persons Visual Identity – branding of work  

 Direct support of local activity groups 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



  

Page 2 of 7   

 

1.3 In accordance with the recommendation made by the Policy and Finance 
Committee at its meeting held 22nd February 2021 that Council endorse 
that a total of £50,000 as identified within the 5 Year Financial Plan for 
the financial periods 2021-22 and 2022-23 be endorsed for the purposes 
of providing dedicated provision for young person’s activities within the 
parish.  
 

1.4 In accordance with the recommendation made by the Policy and Finance 
Committee at its meeting held 22nd February 2021 that the anticipated 
budget of £50,000 as agreed by Council at its meeting held 24th June 
2019 for the purposes of installing drinking water fountains within town 
council parks be reduced to £25,000 based on more detailed scoping 
work undertaken by officers since the resolution made by Council.  

 
 
2. Background 

 
2.1  As an accountable body, future decisions on capital spend are predicated on 

sound financial planning. To underpin town council objectives as set out within 
its 5 year plan (current iteration 2019-24), the town council has a 5 year 
financial plan in place. As a forecasting tool, the 5 year financial plan offers 
greater financial certainty by articulating the likely way a capital project is to 
be funded (reserves or borrowing) together with an anticipated delivery 
timeline expressed in financial years. Over the 5 year plan period, the capital 
spend programme as illustrated in Appendix 2 will deliver circa £1.1 million 
worth of capital projects to the benefit of the parish (this does not include the 
adventure playground at Parson’s Close which is anticipated to be funded by 
way of a public works loan, subject to Council approval).  

 
2.2 The 5 year financial plan is sufficiently robust that allows it to be manipulated 

with anticipated costs reprofiled as well as project delivery dates. In 
accordance with Council resolution(s), it is subject to on-going iteration as 
projects are completed and new ones added.  To support the on-going 
delivery of capital projects, town council reserves are annually topped up by 
£200,000 which comes from the Town Council precept.  

 
2.3 As set out at para. 2.1, the 5 year financial plan is a forecasting tool.  

Anticipated project costs are estimates based on experience or informal 
discussion with suppliers and are therefore subject to change. In accordance 
with Town Council Financial Regulations, all the projects set out herein will be 
subject to competitive tendering and formal endorsement by Council before 
being progressed. 

 
 
2.4 Appendix 1 provides the 5 year financial plan position prior to the Council 

meeting held 30th September 2019. The following table offers an update on 
those projects already embedded within the 5 year financial plan: 

 
 
  

Page 48



  

Page 3 of 7   

 

 Project  Status  Included within 5 Year 
Financial Plan  

1. IT Provision  Through reserves, on-going improvements 
are being made to IT provision to support 
town council operations.  

Completed (Modern.gov 
first two years, purchase of 
tablets, server upgrade, 
hardware upgrade). 
Appendix 2 includes a 
£25,000 contribution to IT 
Provision in 2024/25 once 
warranty on current 
hardware expires (albeit 
this has yet to be 
endorsed by committee).  

2. CCTV It is anticipated that the transformation to 
digital technology will take place within the 
financial year 2021/22. The project originally 
had a £60,000 budget albeit it is now 
anticipated that the likely spend will be circa 
£40,000. The project is being led by the 
Principal Authority and any new equipment 
will be procured through the contract 
between the Principal Authority and the cctv 
supplier.  
 
At an extraordinary meeting held 29th March 
2021, the Policy and Finance Committee 
resolved to support investment in digital cctv 
technology with a commitment made that 
£40,000 would be met from reserves with 
the residual £4,871.82 coming from 
Operation Dodford underspend. 

Yes – profiled over 2 
financial years with an 
anticipated budget of 
£60,000 as shown in 
Appendix 1. 
 
Based on most information 
received from CBC, the 
project has been reprofiled 
with an anticipated cost of 
£40,000 and is reflected in 
Appendix 2.   
 
 

3. Play Areas With the town council responsible for a total 
of 24 play areas, reserves are built up 
annually to meet the considerable costs of 
replacing equipment in order to ensure it 
remains fit for purpose as well as 
maintaining play value.  

Yes – annual contributions 
of circa £82,000 are made 
to maintain a reserve for 
this purpose. 
 

4. Cemetery  
Chapel and  
Lych Gate  

As town council assets, there is a duty of 
care to ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

A commitment of £125,000 
toward their repair and 
general upkeep and the 
project to come forward in 
financial year 2023/24 as 
set out in Appendix 2.  

5. Market 
Town 
Initiative -
MTRF 

Architectural Lighting project delivery 
ongoing, due for completion spring 2021.  

Remaining funds are 
committed to funding 
ongoing running costs and 
asset maintenance beyond 
2021/22 - for remainder of 
allocated budget. Funding 
has been moved into a 

Page 49



  

Page 4 of 7   

 

dedicated Earmarked 
Reserve for this purpose.  

6. Living  
History Trail  

Development of the Living History Trail/ 
Buzzard Trail App, remains ongoing with 
the most recent commitment to incorporate 
the Sands of Time Trail endorsed by 
Culture and Economic Services 
Committee, on 7th December 2020, 
Ref:74/CE. 

Yes – until such time that 
development work is 
completed, profiled for 
2021/22. 

7. Non-MTRF 
Funded 
projects 
Pigeons 

Pigeon Management Grant Scheme 
launched in January 2021 – allocation of 
£34k.  Location for a pigeon loft to 
complete the scheme approach is ongoing 
for which remaining funds are dedicated. 
 
Pigeon grants and management in 
progress.  

Yes - until remaining funds 
used for pigeon loft, 
profiled for 2021/22.  

8. Community  
Projects - 

In accordance with the recommendation 1.2 
of this report.  

Yes - identified within 
financial year 2020/21.  

 
2.5 At its meeting held 30th September 2019, Council resolved to endorse a series 

of projects and objectives for inclusion within the Town Council’s work plan for 
the period 2019-24. The following table outlines the current status of the 5 
year financial plan as well as to include those projects endorsed by Council at 
its meeting held 30th September 2019. The latest iteration of the 5 year 
financial plan can be found at Appendix 2. 

 
 

2019- 
20 

Project  Status  Included within 5 Year 
Financial Plan  

1. Town Ranger 
Service 

In place albeit seeking to work with 
Central Bedfordshire Council in 
expanding the offer through grant 
funding secured from the Principal 
Authority. No impact on town council 
reserves and therefore not included 
within the 5 year financial plan.  

Not necessary. Services 
now starting to be 
delivered with nil impact 
upon the capital project 
budget.  

2. Drinking Water 
Fountains  

In light of the pandemic and its 
current appropriateness, the project 
has not been progressed to date.  

Anticipated that the 
project is to come forward 
in the financial year 
2021/22 with £25,000 
identified for this purpose. 
The figure of £25,000 is 
considered more realistic 
given the preparatory 
work officers have carried 
out in respects of the 
project.  

3. Changing Pod Met through S106 Community Not required  

Page 50



  

Page 5 of 7   

 

Facilities in 
Parson’s Close 
Recreation 
Ground 

Funding, the project has been 
completed and therefore is not 
included within the 5 year financial 
plan.  

4. Initial 
memorialisation 
options 

Project completed – Installation of 
new memorialisation in Vandyke 
Road Cemetery. 

Not required 

5. Initial scoping 
work on 
services for 
older people  

Older Persons Sub-Committee has 
been created and as set out at 
recommendation 1.2 of this report, to 
recommend to Council the inclusion 
of £50,000 within the 5 year financial 
plan to meet its project objectives.   

See recommendation 1.2 
of this report  

   
 
 
 

2020- 
21 

Project  Status  Included within 5 Year 
Financial Plan 

6. Adventure 
Playground 
Parson’s Close 

Project to be met in part by a Public 
Works Loan (subject to Council 
approval). Subject to tender with 
work likely to start on-site later this 
year.  

Anticipated to be funded 
by way of a Public Works 
Loan. Resolution made 
by Grounds and 
Environmental Services 
Committee at its meeting 
held 14th September 
2020 to go out to 
restrictive tender.  

7. Consideration 
of overflow car 
parking at 
Linslade 
Memorial 
Playing Fields   

No progress been made on the 
project to date and is currently not 
included within the 5 year financial 
plan.  

Not included  

8. Projects for 
young people 

To date and in response to the 
limited consultation carried out thus 
far, the bases for 5 number outdoor 
table tennis tables have been 
created in accordance with the 
recommendation made by Grounds 
and Environmental Services 
Committee at its meeting held 14th 
September 2020.   
In accordance with recommendation 
1.3 of this report, to recommend to 
Council that a commitment of 
£50,000 be made toward future 
young persons projects with spend 
spread over financial years 2021/22 

See recommendation 1.3 
of this report 

Page 51



  

Page 6 of 7   

 

and 2022/23.  

 
 
 

2021- 
22 

Project  Status  Included within 5 Year Financial 
Plan 

9. Second 
Mausoleum 
(subject to 
interest) 

No progress  Parishioner led project that would 
be entirely self-funded and 
therefore its inclusion within any 
future iterations of the 5 year 
financial plan is not necessary.  

10. Facilities for 
young people 
(current skate 
park nearing 
end of life)  

No progress  Anticipated to come forward in 
2023/24 and profiled accordingly 
within the 5 year financial plan with 
£250,000 identified for its delivery. 
More detailed work to identify 
materials and potential location yet 
to be undertaken.  

11. Cultural and 
Community 
Facility  

Project being led by the 
Land South of the High 
Street Task and Finish 
Group  

Given the anticipated costs, project 
likely to come forward through the 
Principal Authority as the 
landholder. 

12. Soft Play 
Facility  

No progress to date albeit 
third parties are keen to 
bring this forward as a 
commercial opportunity  

Not included within the 5 year 
financial plan. 

13. Vandyke Road 
Youth Club  

Not a town council owned 
or managed facility  

Any improvements likely to come 
forward through the Principal 
Authority as landowner 

14. Leighton-
Linslade Green 
Wheel  

As a landowner, the town 
council will support the 
delivery of routes through 
its parks and open spaces  

Funding to be met through S106 
as well as any grant funding 
opportunities that the Principal 
Authority with highways 
responsibility is able to secure. 
 
The Town Council has secured 
£20k Funding allocated in EMR - 
resolution minute ref 2019 41/GE 

15. Additional 
Cemetery Land  

Remains on-going. 
Anticipated that land to 
come forward through the 
Eastern Urban Extension  

To date, little is known as to how 
on-site facilities are to be met. Will 
the obligation sit with the S106 
Agreement or fall outside of this is 
unknown. 
Commitment obtained from CBC to 
assist with this aspiration as part of 
agreement for LLTC to support 
cemetery services during Covid-
19.   

Page 52



  

Page 7 of 7   

 

16. Additional 
Allotment Land 

Remains on-going. 
Anticipated that land to 
come forward through the 
Eastern Urban Extension 
albeit existing waiting list is 
being met 

To date, little is known as to how 
on-site facilities are to be met. Will 
the obligation sit with the S106 
Agreement or fall outside of this is 
unknown. 

17. Improved 
accommodation 
for TACTIC 

Remains an on-going 
aspiration. Whether Land 
South may yield 
opportunity through a 
community building is a 
matter to be taken up at 
the appropriate time  

Not included  

18. Restoration of 
the Henry Finch 
Memorial 
Fountain.  

Included as an aspiration 
but beyond that, the 
project has little in the way 
of formal endorsement 

Not included 

19. Recycling of 
cups and 
glasses at 
events 

The pandemic has meant 
little need or demand for 
the early delivery of this 
project  

Likely that any initiative could be 
met from revenue budget 

 
 
  
3. Proposal 
 
3.1 Should Members be minded to endorse the recommendations, the reprofiled 5 

year financial plan (earmarked reserves and projects list) would become the 
latest iteration. It would therefore include a financial commitment to support 
both the older persons agenda as well as any future projects to come forward 
for young persons also. The 5 year plan also includes a commitment to the 
delivery of a capital project for youth (unknown) and further investment in IT 
Provision to support council operations (albeit yet to be formally agreed).  

  
4. Conclusion 
 
4.1 The project list is ambitious and in total will see circa £1.4 million worth of 

improvements delivered within the parish (including the adventure playground 
destined for Parson’s Close Recreation Ground).  

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



Leighton-Linslade Town Council

5 Year Financial Plan 

2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

Democratic and Central Services 770,025 778,087 792,411 807,976 829,967

Grounds and Environmental Services 695,851 758,143 717,770 736,978 756,742

Planning and Transport 0 0 10,000 10,000 10,000

Cultural and Economic Services 409,279 418,924 410,257 420,592 431,221

Partnership 500 500 500 500 500

Tactic 183,100 190,165 191,284 196,940 208,763

Precept Contribution - Projects 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000

External Loan Repayments-New Projects

2,258,755 2,345,819 2,322,221 2,372,985 2,437,194

Amount required to fund existing projects 117,241 548,608 162,000 464,500 107,000 Detailed on Appendix A

Total Budget Requirement 2,375,996 2,894,427 2,484,221 2,837,485 2,544,194

Budget Funding

Precept 2,258,755 2,271,388 2,294,102 2,317,043 2,340,213

From External Grants/S106 etc

From External Loans 300,000

Impact on General Fund 117,241 323,039 190,119 520,442 203,981 Budget requirement less precept

Transfers from Future Projects Reserve 263,849 548,608 162,000 464,500 107,000 Earmarked reserve cost centre 925

General Fund Movement 146,608 225,569 -28,119 -55,942 -96,981

General Fund Balance at 01.04.2020 808,018

General Fund Projection 954,626 1,180,195 1,152,075 1,055,095 1,055,095

Balance of Projects Reserve 370,221 321,613 359,613 95,113 188,113

`

Other Earmarked Reserves 545,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 Assumed 

Total Reserves 1,869,847 2,001,808 2,011,688 1,650,208 1,743,208

Tax Base 14,572 14,607 14,753 14,901 15,050

Council Tax Charge 155.50 155.50 155.50 155.50 155.50

Precept Available With no Increase 2,265,946 2,271,388 2,294,102 2,317,043 2,340,213

Best practice is to hold at least 4 

months running costs but no more 

then 6 months, approximate 

monthly  running cost is £190,000

Detailed on Appendix B

Budget Requirement to run Existing Services

Summary of Annual Budget Notes

Budget requirement plus projects

2021/2022    Tax base x Band D 

figure of £155.50

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



Leighton-Linslade Town Council

5 Year Financial Plan

2020/2021 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025 Totals

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

Democratic and Central Services

IT Provision 2,916 7,500 25,000 35,416

Grounds and Environmental Services

Play Areas 97,903 114,325 82,000 82,000 82,000 82,000 442,325

Parsons Close Adventure Playground 300,000 300,000

CCTV 40,000 40,000

Cemetery Chapel & Lych Gate 125,000 125,000

Drinking Water Fountains 25,000 25,000

Potential Youth Capital Project * 250,000 250,000

Cultural and Economic Services

Living History Trail 11,608 11,608

Pigeon Project 40,000 40,000

Older Persons Project 50,000 30,000 80,000

Younger Persons Project 25,000 25,000 50,000

Expenditure 117,241 548,608 162,000 464,500 107,000 1,399,349  

External Funding (PWLB) -300,000 -300,000

Budget Requirement 117,241 248,608 162,000 464,500 107,000 1,099,349

*  In accordance with Objective 45 of the 5 Year Plan which will be subject to future parish engagement

Actual 

YTD

Future Projects

Appendix A

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



Leighton-Linslade Town Council

5 Year Financial Plan

2020/2021 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

Balance Brought Forward 263,849 263,849 370,221 321,613 359,613 95,113

Proposed Contribution from Precept 207,191 207,191 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000

Available for Projects 471,040 471,040 570,221 521,613 559,613 295,113

Proposed Projects

IT Provision 2,916 7,500 25,000

Play Areas 97,903 97,903 82,000 82,000 82,000 82,000

Parsons Close Adventure Playground 300,000

CCTV 40,000

Cemetery Chapel & Lych Gate 125,000

Potential Youth Capital Project * 250,000

Drinking Water Fountains 25,000

Pigeon Project 40,000

Younger Persons Project 25,000 25,000

Living  History Trail 11,608

Older Persons Project 50,000 30,000

Expenditure 97,903 100,819 548,608 162,000 464,500 107,000

Less External Funding 300,000

Contribution to Precept 97,903 100,819 248,608 162,000 464,500 107,000

Balance at Year End 373,137 370,221 321,613 359,613 95,113 188,113

* In accordance with Objective 45 of the 5 Year Plan which will be subject to future parish engagement

Actual 

YTD

Future Project Earmarked Reserve

Appendix B

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



 
 
 
 
 
Council      

 
Date:   26th April 2021  
 
Title: Parson’s Close Recreation Ground – 

Adventure Playground  
 
Purpose of the Report: To approve the submission of an 

application to the United Kingdom Debt 
Management Office for a Public Work 
Loan for £300,000 for the delivery of an 
inclusive adventure playground for 
Parson’s Close Recreation Ground and 
to also approve the submission a 
planning application to Central 
Bedfordshire Council. 

 
Contact Officer: Ian Haynes – Head of Grounds and 

Environmental Services 
 

 

Corporate Objective/s  Objective 43 - To consider 
the development of the 
playground in Parson’s 
Close Recreation Ground to 
incorporate an adventure 
play area. 

Implications:   

Financial √ That the capital cost of 
£300,000 to be met through 
the United Kingdom Debt 
Management Office via a 
Public Work Loan – with 
repayments embedded within 
the current budgets.   

Human Resources  None 

Operational/Service 
delivery 

 None 

Procedural/Legal  Given the location of the park 
within the Leighton Buzzard 
Conservation Area, a planning 
application will need to be 
made for the taller items, which 
would fall outside the 

Page 61

Agenda Item 10



 
  

parameters of permitted 
development.  

Risk/Health and Safety  None 

 
 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1.1 To note the report. 
 
1.2 To endorse the recommendation made by the Policy and Finance 

Committee at its meeting held 19th April 2021 to approve the submission 
of a £300,000 application to the United Kingdom Debt Management 
Office for a Public Work Loan application. 

 
1.3 To approve the submission of a planning application to Central 

Bedfordshire Council for elements of the scheme which fall outside the 
permitted development definition.  

 
2. BACKGROUND 

 
2.1 The Town Council’s Five-Year Plan for the period of 2019-2024, includes the 

delivery of an adventure playground. 
 
2.2 This Council has already delivered objective 42 -   To install a Changing Pod 

facility in Parson’s Close Recreation Ground to meet requirements of 
additional needs. These two projects go hand in hand and will complement 
each other perfectly. 

 
3. CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 Parson’s Close Recreation Ground is considered to be the best location for 

this project as the refurbishment of the playground within Parson’s Close is 
currently not included within the Town Council’s rolling play area improvement 
programme, due to the size and limited funds available to make an inventive 
improvement. 
 

3.2 It is believed that an inclusive adventure playground for Parson’s Close 
Recreation Ground, will meet the needs of local families and will further 
enhance Parson’s Close as a free to use destination park.  
 

3.3 It is considered by Officers that an inclusive play space will help deliver playful 
opportunities for all abilities by giving families the opportunity to spend quality 
leisure time together in their own community. It would be Officer’s intention to 
work with local community groups and the chosen specialist supplier to deliver 
an inclusive play structure that will allow all children to play together at height! 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



 
  

 
4. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 
4.1 It is the Town Council’s intention that this play space will create something 

truly special for our local families and will complement the recent additions to 
Parson’s Close. 

 
4.2 To ensure that time wasn’t wasted on engaging with suppliers who haven’t the 

skills or experience in the delivery of a truly inclusive play space, it was 
previously agreed by the Grounds and Environmental Services Committee 
that tenders be limited to inclusive play companies with the experience of 
having delivered at least 5 similar styled projects.  

 
5. THE 10 PRINCIPLES FOR DESIGNING SUCCESSFUL PLAY SPACES  
 
5.1 The 10 principles for designing successful play spaces remain key to ensuring 

that not only will this project exceed the expectations of the public but will also 
achieve best value. 

 
5.2 The 10 principles for creating a successful play space: 
 

1.  are ‘bespoke’ 
2.  are well located 
3.  make use of natural elements 
4.  provide a wide range of play experiences 
5.  are accessible to both disabled and non-disabled 

children 
6.  meet community needs 
7.  allow children of different ages to play together 
8.  build in opportunities to experience risk and 

challenge 
9.  are sustainable and appropriately maintained 
10.  allow for change and evolution 

 
5.3  To ensure that this ambitious project meets the needs of its future users, 

Officers have shared the preferred design with key partners who are 
knowledgeable about children with additional needs and have received very 
positive feedback.  

 
6.  PROGRAMME OF WORKS FOR POTENTIAL DELIVERY  
 
6.1 The programme of works (POW) is attached.  Please note that this is a non-

contractual reference point in respects of how the potential contract could be 
delivered. The attached POW has a comprehensive sequence of events 
highlighting the critical path, which the overall duration of the programme is 
dependant. 

 

Page 63



 
  
6.2 The proposed construction phase is not due to start until October 2021 

avoiding our most busy times of the year. Please note Parson’s Close 
Recreation Ground will be without a playground during the 2021 October half-
term. This is considered acceptable due to the length of the construction 
phase. 

 
6.3 We will ensure that we promote our other high quality play spaces during the 

construction phase.  
 
7. FUNDING  
 
7.1 Only Full Council has the authority to approve this level of expenditure and 

can approve that the Council enters a Public Work Loan application.  
 
7.2 Recommendation 1.2 requests that Council endorses the recommendation 

made by the Policy and Finance Committee  that an application be made for a 
Public Work Loan for the sum of £300,000.  

 
7.3  The funding via a Public Work Loan would cost the Town Council circa 

£21,879.60 in interest payments (£300,000 over 9 ½ not over 10 years) 
representing £2,187.96 of interest per year for 10 years (calculation 
undertaken 4th March 2021).  

 
8. PLANNING PERMISSION  
 
8.1 By virtue of their height, several items will require planning permission as they 

are above the permitted development threshold as well as recognising the 
location of the park within the Leighton Buzzard Conservation Area. The 
anticipated cost in submitting the planning application will be met from existing 
revenue budgets.   

 
 
End. 

Page 64



Fun reflections
Topiary

CUSTOMER

Leighton-Linslade Town
Council
PROJECT

Parson's Close
Recreation Ground
TITLE

Play Area Proposal

08/04/20 - Original Revision 0
------------------------------------------------------------------------------
14/01/21 - Amendment by A.S. Check by N.B. Revision 1
Amended layout, surfacing and equipment.
------------------------------------------------------------------------------
14/04/21 - Amendment by A.S. Check by N.B. Revision 2
Plastic slide on multi-unit replaced with steel slide; Petrol
Pump panel removed; Retainer timber posts for sand pit
replaced with recycled plastic interlocking posts.

REVISIONS

N

OFSHEET

CHECKED BY :

SCALE :DATE :

DRAWN BY :

1:100 @ A1

REVISIONDRAWING
NUMBER

C   HAGS 2019

HAGS - South
Clockhouse Nurseries
Clockhouse Lane East
Egham, Surrey
TW20 8PG
United Kingdom

T: 0845 260 1655
E: sales@hags.co.uk
W: www.hags.co.uk

08/04/2020

LHR ST

Q-25515-Q0J9-C 2

11

GENERAL NOTES

If not indicated on this plan, north point must be
confirmed prior to installation to ensure that slides do
not face due south.

Exact positions & orientation of new items may be
subject to a final site survey and setting out plan.

Any inconsistencies on site should be verified with
HAGS before commencement of work.

HAGS recommend that existing trees are
risk-assessed by the client to ensure the integrity of
accessible branches, that overhanging limbs do not
conflict with new play equipment or vehicle access
and that the canopy will not produce excessive leaf
drop which could cause a hazard within the play area.

This design layout conforms to the relevant EN Safety
Standard.

GRASS & GRASS MAT SURFACING

Where equipment is installed directly into grass and
the free height of fall is between 0.6m and 1.5m it is
the responsibility of the playground operator to
ensure that the grass sward is maintained in good
order.

Where equipment is installed with grass mat
surfacing it is the responsibility of the playground
operator to ensure that the grass sward is maintained
in good order.

When laid directly onto existing grass this surface
will follow the natural contours of the ground unless
HAGS have specifically detailed additional
preparation/levelling/or turf works.

RUBBER MULCH SURFACING

HAGS recommend the use of a stone base when
installing rubber mulch. If installed without the
finished surface will be a reflection of the ground
beneath it, following any undulations, & will not be a
completely flat surface. Rubber mulch will not cure
any existing drainage problems & will require
foundations and/or some kind of drainage system
prior to installation.

Falling Space Zone (EN1176)

KEY

Free Space Zone (EN1176)

Clearance Zone (EN1176)

1

2

3

4

5

6
7

8

9

10

11

1213
14

15

16

17

Key Description Surfacing

1 SP6767 Bespoke UniPlay Unit Eco Mulch

2 Nexus Viper 10no Grassmats

3 Spinmee Inclusive Roundabout Wet Pour Surfacing

4 2.4m high Olympic Basket Swing with 2no Flat Seats
Eco Mulch

5 UniMini Morian

6 SP6800 Bespoke UniMini Unit

Sand Pit

7  Sand Surprise Treasure

8 Accessible E-Z Digger x2

9 Fossil Jam

10 Sandpit Danny

11 Cozy Cocoon x2

Eco Mulch
12 Tactile Topiary Panel

13  Fun Reflection Mirror Panel

14 Colourfly Panel

15 Up and Over Wide Bridge Wet Pour Pathway

16 Grolly Springer 1 seater
Eco Mulch

17 Anky Springer 2 seater

Key Description Surfacing

18 Springtime Seesaw

Eco Mulch

19  Swirl-Whirl Spinner

20 2.4m high Olympic Swing with 2no Cradle, 1no Tango and 1no Mirage Seat

21 Vertical Xylophone (Arch Frame)

22 Pipe Drums (Timber Frame)

23 Pullford Road Play Sign

24 Grove Road Play Sign

25 Mound with Tunnel
Onto grass

26 Welcome Archway Sign

27 Mantis Zipwire 32no Grassmats

28 Dynamic Titan 20no Grassmats

29 2no Ekeby Seats Wet Pour and Eco Mulch

30 4no Ekeby Picnic Tables with Ekeby Benches Onto grass

31 Refurbished Existing Roundabout Eco Mulch

32 Sensory Pathway n/a

8

11

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

29

30

30

30

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



ClimbingSliding Gliding Rocking Spinning Swinging Hanging Sensory Social Inclusive

INCLUSIVE
Parson’s Close Adventure Multi-UnitParson’s Close Adventure Multi-Unit

INCLUSIVE
Viper SwingViper Swing

INCLUSIVE
Dynamic TitanDynamic Titan
(with inclusive (with inclusive 
Mirage Seat)Mirage Seat)

Mantis ZipwireMantis Zipwire

INCLUSIVE
Accessible DiggersAccessible Diggers

INCLUSIVE
Anky Anky 
SpringerSpringer

Sand Pit DannySand Pit Danny

Grolly Grolly 
SpringerSpringer

Swirl Swirl 
WhirlWhirl

Sand Treasure DiggablesSand Treasure Diggables

INCLUSIVE
Road SignRoad Sign

INCLUSIVE
Road SignRoad Sign

INCLUSIVE
Social Seating Picnic AreaSocial Seating Picnic Area

INCLUSIVE
Exploratory Sand Exploratory Sand 
Play AreaPlay Area

Welcome ArchwayWelcome Archway

INCLUSIVE
Cozy CocoonsCozy Cocoons

INCLUSIVE
Mirage SeatMirage Seat INCLUSIVE

Basket SeatBasket Seat

INCLUSIVE
Up and Over BridgeUp and Over Bridge

INCLUSIVE
Visual Stimulation Visual Stimulation 
Butterfly PanelButterfly Panel

INCLUSIVE
Fun ReflectionFun Reflection
Mirror PanelMirror Panel

INCLUSIVE
Quiet AreaQuiet Area

INCLUSIVE
Acoustic Arts Acoustic Arts 
Musical PanelsMusical Panels

INCLUSIVE
SpringtimeSpringtime
SeesawSeesaw

INCLUSIVE
Accessible Accessible 
Spinmee Spinmee 
RoundaboutRoundabout

Refurbished ExistingRefurbished Existing
Wagon Wheel RoundaboutWagon Wheel Roundabout

Mound Mound 
TunnelTunnel

Natural MoundNatural Mound

Multi-GenerationalMulti-Generational
Tango Swing SeatTango Swing Seat

Flat SeatsFlat Seats

Cradle SeatsCradle Seats

Refurbished ExistingRefurbished Existing
Wagon Wheel RoundaboutWagon Wheel Roundabout

Sand Toddler Multi-UnitSand Toddler Multi-Unit

ToddlerToddler
Multi-UnitMulti-Unit

INCLUSIVE
Sensory Sensory 
Wheelchair Wheelchair 
PathPath

INCLUSIVE
AccessibleAccessible
PathwaysPathways

INCLUSIVE
Sensory Sensory 
PlantingPlanting

Acoustic Arts X
ylo

p
h

o
n

e

Acoustic Arts X
ylo

p
h

o
n

e

A
cc

es
si

bl
e 

Spin
mee Roundabout

A
cc

es
si

bl
e 

Spin
mee Roundabout

Viper Swing
Viper Swing

*Please note that this is an artist impression only. Final equipment specifications and positions to be confirmed with order.       |       Drawing no: Q-25515-Q0J9-V-2       |       Designer: A.S.       |       Date: 14.04.21*Please note that this is an artist impression only. Final equipment specifications and positions to be confirmed with order.       |       Drawing no: Q-25515-Q0J9-V-2       |       Designer: A.S.       |       Date: 14.04.21

Parson’s Close Recreation GroundParson’s Close Recreation Ground    ||  Leighton-Linslade Town Council  Leighton-Linslade Town Council

P
age 67



ClimbingSliding Gliding Rocking Spinning Swinging Hanging Sensory Social Inclusive

INCLUSIVE
Funnel NetFunnel Net

INCLUSIVE
Transfer Point Transfer Point 
Easy Access Easy Access 
StairsStairs

INCLUSIVE
360º Platform360º Platform

INCLUSIVE
Wide SlideWide Slide

INCLUSIVE
Wheelchair RampWheelchair Ramp

INCLUSIVE
Multiple Play Panels Multiple Play Panels 
throughout the Unitthroughout the Unit

INCLUSIVE
Double Double 
Layered Layered 
NetNet

INCLUSIVE
Game PanelGame Panel
(behind the (behind the 
climbing wall)climbing wall)

INCLUSIVE
LabyrinthLabyrinth
GameGame

Cargo NetCargo Net

Rope LadderRope Ladder

Climbing Climbing 
RopeRope

Climbing Climbing 
NetNet

Fireman’s PoleFireman’s Pole

Trick LadderTrick Ladder

Ball PostBall Post

Rondo Rondo 
Monkey Monkey 
BarBar Climbing Climbing 

LadderLadder

Climbing Climbing 
LadderLadder

Chain WalkChain Walk

Climbing Climbing 
WallWall

Climbing Climbing 
StairsStairs

MassiveMassive
Tube Slide!Tube Slide!

Climbing Climbing 
WallWall

Suspension Suspension 
BridgeBridge

Net BridgeNet Bridge

Net LinkNet Link

Rope WalkRope Walk

*Please note that this is an artist impression only. Final equipment specifications and positions to be confirmed with order.       |       Drawing no: Q-25515-Q0J9-V-2       |       Designer: A.S.       |       Date: 14.04.21*Please note that this is an artist impression only. Final equipment specifications and positions to be confirmed with order.       |       Drawing no: Q-25515-Q0J9-V-2       |       Designer: A.S.       |       Date: 14.04.21

Parson’s Close Recreation GroundParson’s Close Recreation Ground    ||  Leighton-Linslade Town Council  Leighton-Linslade Town Council

P
age 68



ID Task
Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish

1 Pre Construction 170 days Fri 15/01/21 Thu 09/09/21

2  Tender Return 0 days Fri 15/01/21 Fri 15/01/21

3  Contract Award 0 days Fri 02/07/21 Fri 02/07/21

4 Equipment Ordered 0 days Fri 02/07/21 Fri 02/07/21

5 Equipment Lead Time 50 days Fri 02/07/21 Thu 09/09/21

6 Construction Phase 34 days Mon 11/10/21 Thu 25/11/21

7 Mobilise to site 0 days Mon 11/10/21 Mon 11/10/21

8 Site Set Up 0.5 days Mon 11/10/21 Mon 11/10/21

9 Mark out play equipment locations 0.5 days Mon 11/10/21 Mon 11/10/21

10 Removal of existing equipment 4 days Tue 12/10/21 Fri 15/10/21

11 Excavate Footings, PCC Edgings and bases for 
play equipment

6 days Mon 18/10/21 Mon 25/10/21

12 Equipment delivered to site 0 days Mon 25/10/21 Mon 25/10/21

13 Anchors, PCC edgings and main posts 
concreted in position

3 days Tue 26/10/21 Thu 28/10/21

14 First fix play equipment 10 days Fri 29/10/21 Thu 11/11/21

15 Install safety surface & sensory pathway 7 days Fri 12/11/21 Mon 22/11/21

16 Refurbishment of existing equipment 1 day Tue 23/11/21 Tue 23/11/21

17 Second Fix Play Equipment 1 day Wed 24/11/21 Wed 24/11/21

18 General Reinstatement of works area 0.5 days Thu 25/11/21 Thu 25/11/21

19 Handover with client 2 days Thu 25/11/21 Fri 26/11/21

20 ROSPA Inspection 0.5 days Thu 25/11/21 Thu 25/11/21

21 Snagging of findings 0.5 days Fri 26/11/21 Fri 26/11/21

22 Handover with client 0 days Fri 26/11/21 Fri 26/11/21

15/01

02/07

02/07

11/10

25/10

26/11

S W S T M F T S W S T M F T S W S T M F T S W S T M F T S W S T M F
14 Dec '20 11 Jan '21 08 Feb '21 08 Mar '21 05 Apr '21 03 May '21 31 May '21 28 Jun '21 26 Jul '21 23 Aug '21 20 Sep '21 18 Oct '21 15 Nov '21 13 Dec '21

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

External Tasks

External Milestone

Deadline

Progress

Manual Progress

Project: POW - Leighton - Linslade TC - Parson's
Fri 15/01/21 
Fri 26/11/21 

P
age 69

John.Cox
Typewritten Text
Appendix 7Programme of works

John.Cox_1
Typewritten Text

John.Cox_2
Typewritten Text



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 70



Page 71



Page 72



 
 
Contents: 
 

........................................................................................................... 4 
 .................................................................................................... 44 

 ....................................................................................... 46 
 ...................................................................... 48 

 ........................................................................................................... 49 
 ..................................................................................................................... 50 

 ...................................................................................................................................... 51 
 ................................................................................................................ 52 

 
Appendices: 
 

1. Visualisation 
2. Design Plan 

Page 73



 
14th April 2021  

Quotation Ref: Q-25515-Q0J9 rev 2
Quotation type: Fixed Price Quotation 
Valid for: 60 days

Ian Haynes, Head of Grounds and Environmental Services
The White House
Hockliffe Street
Leighton
Linslade
Bedfordshire
LU7 1HD

Dear Ian

Re: Parson’s Close Recreation Ground

Thank you for inviting HAGS to provide a proposal for the above project. Please find enclosed our 
detailed quotation.
 
Inspiring all ages and ability levels is our mission. Innovation within our design and manufacturing 
ensure that you will have safe play and recreation equipment that creates fun for all to use. 
 
The key benefits of choosing to work with HAGS are: 

• Quality & Durability – we use top quality materials and manufacturing processes reducing 
maintenance and life cycle costs. All HAGS products are TUV certified and play spaces 
designed to the current European safety standards. 

• Innovation – we have an enormous and diverse product portfolio to suit every need allowing 
you to add to your scheme easily.  

• Service – we’ll take care of you every step of the way from supply to decommissioning freeing 
up your time. 

 
We trust that we have met your requirements and expectations fully. Should you wish to proceed with 
our proposal please complete the Order Form at the end of this document and return it to us along with 
your Purchase Order reference. However if you have any questions about the products, services 
offered, any other element of this proposal or wish to make any modifications please do not hesitate to 
contact me or my sales coordinator. 
 
Thank you for your interest in HAGS. We look forward to discussing this proposal further with you and 
will contact you within the next 5 days. 
 
Yours sincerely

Jilly Saunders Belinda Murphy

Area Sales Manager Sales Co-ordinator

07841 806424 (mobile number) 01757 703620 (head office)

JSaunders@hags.co.uk BMurphy@hags.co.uk 

Page 74

mailto:sales@hags.co.uk
mailto:JSaunders@hags.co.uk
mailto:BMurphy@hags.co.uk


B&R Other

Breakout and remove equipment from site: -

5 benches 
• 2 picnic benches 
• 4 seat swing (2.4) 
• Roundabout  
• 3 springy 
• 3 spinner 
• 1 toddler unit 
• 1 junior unit 
• 1 toddler trail 
• 1 runway 
• 2 free ride 
• 1 wicksteed pyramid  
• 1 canter leaver swing 

£2,455.17

Item Total £2,455.17

B&R 60mm Wet Pour

Breakout and remove from site 64m2 of 60mm 
wet pour

£1,792.00

Item Total £1,792.00

B&R 45mm Wet Pour

Breakout and remove from site 5m2 of  45mm wet 
pour

£125.00

Item Total £125.00

 

Page 75



B&R up to 40mm Wet Pour

Breakout and remove from site wet pour: 83m2 of 
40mm; 40m2 of 30mm; 27m2 of 25mm; 55m2 of 
20mm.

£4,715.00

Item Total £4,715.00

B&R Block Edging

Breakout and remove from site from site 541m of 
PCC edging

£7,574.00

Item Total £7,574.00

B&R 150mm MOT Type 1

Breakout and remove from site 107m2 of 150mm 
MOT Type 1

£1,712.00

Item Total £1,712.00

B&R up to 20mm MOT Type 1

Breakout and remove from site 96m2 of up to 
20mm MOT Type 1

£768.00

Item Total £768.00

 

Page 76



SP6767 Bespoke Inclusive UniPlay Unit

PRODUCT FEATURES 
This Bespoke Uni Play designed specifically for Parsons Close Recreations 
Ground is a giant entertaining Multi Unit guaranteed to inspire children of all 
ages and abilities to explore the many activities included. Children will be able to 
climb, slide, Jump, run and wheel around the different levels. Once at the top, 
they can choose to slide down the steep tunnelled tubular slide, offering a real 

sense of excitement
 

USERS 
Age range: 5+ 
No. of users: 75+

INSTALLATION
Cast in Place 

PLAY VALUE

 

PRICING 
Supply 1 no. Bespoke Inclusive Uni- Play SP6767

Installation Hard Dig 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

£157,332.00
 

£22,000.00

Item Total £179,332.00

Page 77



Spinmee Inc. Roundabout Colour Collection 6 - (CAR-SP2(006))

PRODUCT FEATURES
The Spinmee Inclusive Roundabout is accessible to those with mobility 
impairments as well as wheelchair users. Its rotating base is flush with the 
surrounding safety surface allowing for easy transition between the surfaces. The 
design of the roundabout allows for both seated and standing users while also 
featuring 2 locations that can securely accommodate wheelchairs.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 2.05 x 2.05 x 0.80

USERS
Age range: 4+
No. of users: 4

INSTALLATION
Minimum concrete volume cu. m: 0.35
Cast in Place

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 1.00
Falling Space area – sq.m: 28.28
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 27.00

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Spinmee Inclusive Roundabout

Soft Dig Installation

£5,850.00

£780.00

Item Total £6,630.00

 

Page 78



2.4m Basket Swing + 2Seat Colour Collection 8 - (SWO24B2(008))

PRODUCT FEATURES
HAGS 2.4m high Basket Seat and additional 2 swing seat bays allows children to 
experience different swing experiences and encourages greater inclusivity with 
children of differing ability levels playing together safely. All HAGS  swings can be 
fitted with the unique Mirage Swing Seat - suitable for all abilities with the optional 
seat harness. Swings are beneficial for physical, social and cognitive 
development. This combination accomodates expanding skill levels as the 
children push their own boundaries forward.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 7.20 x 2.23 x 2.40

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 7

INSTALLATION
Cast in Place

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 1.47
Falling Space area – sq.m: 42.50
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 42.50

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. 2.4m Olympic Swing Basket + 2 Seat 

Supply 2 No. Flat Seat

Hard Dig Installation

£3,320.00 

£300.00

£851.00

Item Total £4,471.00

 

Page 79



UniMini Morian (Wood) Park - Green Panels - (HAG8047679)

PRODUCT FEATURES
The UniMini Morian tower is designed for young children aged 2+ and above. 
With many essential play features, children can enjoy an imaginative and safe 
playing experience. The sloping climbing wall with colourful fruit shaped grips is 
provides a little challenge to help users build up their strength and coordination. 
Social interaction is further encouraged with the use of the Shop frame under the 
main unit. Children can also climb and slide within the unit.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 4.0 x 2.0 x 2.4

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 3

INSTALLATION
Sunken Foundation

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 1.00
Falling Space area – sq.m: 28.00
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 29.00

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. UniMini Morian (Wood)

Hard Dig Installation

£4,430.00

£895.00

Item Total £5,325.00

 

Page 80



SP6800 - Special UniMini Unit

PRODUCT FEATURES

The bespoke play unit is equipped with adventure! The net bridge sways and 
creates a sense of challenge, and the scramble net tests co-ordination skills. 
Imaginative and interactive play is promoted with the Letter game, Telescope, 
Ships wheel and even the cooker and shop panels. This play unit is filled with 
activities! 
 

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 15+ 
 

PLAY VALUE

 

 
 

PRICING 
Supply 1 no. Bespoke SP6800 Unimini Unit 

Installation Hard Dig

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

£14,820.00

£2,521.00

Item Total £17,341.00

Page 81



Sand Surprise Treasure set of 4 items - (X-SST)

PRODUCT FEATURES
Avast me hearties, down from the rigging and get digging. There’s pirate treasure 
and more buried in the sands of this tropical island. Firmly bolted to the base of 
this sand play area are four durable ‘prizes’ for young buccaneers to seek out – 
the scary skull and crossbones, the lookout’s telescope, a compass to guide by 
and the ultimate quest, the gold doubloons.

Recommended to be purchased with the Sand Treasure Map Panel X-SSM(001).

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 4

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Sand Treasures

Soft Dig Installation

£110.00

£166.00

Item Total £276.00

 

Page 82



Accessible E-Z Digger - (PWS-ZZXX0421)

PRODUCT FEATURES

Little ones can dig in the sand as they pretend to be a construction worker. 
Features 360º rotation and dual hand controls. Also available in non-accessible 
version. Made of durable steel and aluminium. 

USERS
No. of users: 1 
Age Range: 5+

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 2 No. Accessible E-Z Diggers 

 
Installation into Soft Dig

£1,460.00 

£838.62

Item Total £2,298.62

 

Page 83



Fossil Jam - (PWS-ZZXX0061)

PRODUCT FEATURES

Diggables bring a new element of discovery to sandboxes. Creates an excavation 
adventure where kids can unearth replicas of dinosaur bones and fossils. Adults 
will appreciate the fact that Diggables are built to withstand eons of play 
sessions. Made of super-durable PolyFiberCrete®, so they will withstand tough 
play and harsh weather. Fossil Jam is a half sphere with fossils of bones, shells, 
plants and more. Diggables can be surface-mounted and are available in two 
other formations: Raptor Rock Head and Raptor Rock Tail. 

USERS
No. of users: 2 
Age Range: 3+

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Fossil Jam 

 
Installation into Soft Dig

£465.00 

£200.00

Item Total £665.00

 

Page 84



Sandpit Danny - (HAG8013590)

PRODUCT FEATURES
The Sandpit Danny is great for both interactive and individual play. The sand 
table contains a large sieve used during sand playing activities, adding an 
element of fun to the playground.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 1.44 x 1.4

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: Not Available

INSTALLATION
Sunken Foundation

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Danny

Soft Dig Installation

£1,475.00

£130.00

Item Total £1,605.00

 

Page 85



Cozy Cocoon Revolve Free standing Spinning - (PWS-ZZXX0483)

PRODUCT FEATURES
Fun for all children, but especially designed for those with autism spectrum 
disorders. Enclosed space for a child to escape the playground when over 
stimulated. Interior textures & molded-in features for tactile exploration. Windows 
on both sides for adult visibility. Helpful grips provide easier entrance/exits for 
child.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 0.89 x 0.84 x 1.22

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 3

INSTALLATION
Cast in Place

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 1.22
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 14.00

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 2 No. Cozy Cocoon Revolve Free standing Spinning

Soft Dig Installation

£4,170.00

£828.00

Item Total £4,998.00

 

Page 86



Tactile Topiary IP308 - (INCL-IP308)

PRODUCT FEATURES
Tactile Topiary play panel has been designed to create a sensory feature with a 
variety of different tactile experiences. The spinning and moving counters are 
great for developing coordination and practicing fine motor skills which many 
children who undertake play therapies often practice.

USERS
No. of users: 2 
Age Range: 3+ 
 
 

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Tactile Topiary IP308 

Installation into Soft Dig

£1,249.29 
 

£206.90 

Item Total £1,456.19
 

Page 87



Fun Reflection IP305 - (INCL-IP305)

PRODUCT FEATURES
Fun Reflection wobbly mirrors add a fun, visual element into any play space. Fun 
Reflections distorts the world around; nothing seems normal which helps to 
challenge perceptions. Mirrors are a fantastic way for children to watch 
movement and become more aware of themselves and the people around them.

USERS 
No. of users: 2 
Age Range: 3+

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Fun Reflection IP305 

 
Installation into Soft Dig

£1,249.29 

£200.00

Item Total £1,449.29
 

Page 88



Colourfly IP304 - (INCL-IP304)

PRODUCT FEATURES
Colourfly provides fantastic visual stimulation allowing children to look through 
the coloured wings to see their environment a little differently. Users can control 
how they change their view and interact with their surroundings. Just because 
the play is less hectic doesn’t mean it isn’t valuable. 
This play panel is perfectly suited for all play spaces but is great for creating 
quiet zones within a space to allow children a little time out, away from a noisy, 
busy play space which some children can find overwhelming and intimidating.

USERS
No. of users: 2 
Age Range:3+ 
 
 

PLAY VALUE

 

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Colourfly IP304 

Installation into Soft Dig

£1,249.29 

£200.00

Item Total £1,449.29

Page 89



Up and over wide bridge

PRODUCT FEATURES

The Up & Over bridge provides a sense of adventure and exciting movement 
on foot or on wheels! 

 

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 1 

PLAY VALUE

 
PRICING 

Supply 1 no. Up and over wide bridge

Installation Hard Dig

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

£2,900.00 
 

£165.52

Item Total £3,065.52

 

Page 90



Grolly Springer (green) 1 seater - (HAG8044733)

PRODUCT FEATURES
The Grolly springer is fun, colourful and full of excitement.  Springers form an 
integral part of themed play and their simple, vivid design encourages 
imaginative games and story-telling, as well as stimulating exercise.  Springers 
have delighted many generations of children and the Grolly springer is a fantastic 
product to add to any playground!  

Double HPL sides ensure that smaller children are safe and well supported 
during their ride.  Installation is quick and easy, with an anchoring system that 
allows simple maintenance and easy replacement of the product.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 0.66 0.38 x 0.8

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 1

INSTALLATION
Cast in Place

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 0.60
Falling Space area – sq.m: 7.20
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 7.50

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Grolly Springer

Hard Dig Installation

£690.00

£226.00

Item Total £916.00

 

Page 91



Anky Springer (with backrest) 2 seater - (HAG8049898)

PRODUCT FEATURES
The two-seater springer is an exciting take on a classic playground staple and its 
sleek, contemporary look will add value to any play area. It is also a simple and 
inexpensive way to add imaginative features to a playground and it can be used 
to complement a themed multi-play unit. 

The fun shape and bright colours stimulate children’s imagination and encourage 
them to engage in role play. Two children can play side by side, which promotes 
social interaction and co-operation. Its side and back panels provide toddlers with 
additional support and ensure that children of different abilities can enjoy the 
gentle rocking motion and develop gross motor skills. 

Quick and easy to install, it comes with an anchoring system that allows easy 
replacement and facilitates maintenance. All parts can be recycled.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 0.7 x 0.75 x 0.8

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 2

INSTALLATION
Sunken Foundation

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 0.60
Falling Space area – sq.m: 6.50
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 7.00

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Anky Springer

Soft Dig Installation

£1,020.00

£207.00

Item Total £1,227.00

Page 92



Springtime Multi-User See Saw, Colour Collection 1 - (SPMNS(001))

PRODUCT FEATURES
Our new, inclusive, Springtime multi user seesaw gives children of differing ability 
the chance to enjoy this wonderful see saw experience together. Its nature theme 
excites young imaginations and encourages children to jump on for a ride.

 
Designed to accommodate up to 8 children, the Springtime Multi User Seesaw 
offers 2 seating positions which are easily accessible.  It also features a central 
seating platform for the more adventurous child.  Its organic curved styling is 
visually pleasing and comfortable to use with no hard edges and the platform is 
designed with built in hand holds allowing children to hold on tight and feel secure 
during the ride.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 2.88 x 0.88 x 0.70

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 8

INSTALLATION
Minimum concrete volume cu. m: 0.45
Cast in Place

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 0.80
Falling Space area – sq.m: 13.50
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 14.50

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Springtime Multi-user Seesaw

Soft Dig Installation

Supply 1 No. Optional Backrest - Springtime Multi-user Seesaw

£3,165.00

£378.00

£145.00

Item Total £3,688.00

 

Page 93



Swirl-Whirl Spinner 200201870 + Fixings - (RA403S)

PRODUCT FEATURES
This playground experience will set you in a spin. Swirl Whirl is one of the seven 
roundabouts in the Popular play range that is purpose designed for inclusivity of 
play. It is a low mounted, revolving seat which is accessible to able and disabled 
children alike to enjoy fun, solo play.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 0.420 x 0.370 x 0.550

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 1

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 0.55
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 7.00

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Swirl Whirl

Soft Dig Installation

£455.00

£156.00

Item Total £611.00

 

Page 94



2.4m Olympic Swing 4 Seat Colour Collection 8 - (SWO244(008))

PRODUCT FEATURES
Whilst playing equipment has progressed and evolved immeasurably over the 
years, there are some classic pieces of equipment that will always remain 
popular and important in any play-scheme. HAGS  range of stylish Olympic  
swings will be a great addition to every play area. This 2.4m high 4 seat swing 
frame featuring ‘anti-wrap’ bearings on the cross beam to prevent the swing seats 
and chains becoming wrapped around themselves, making the swings unusable. 
A variety of seat options are available for this frame making it suitable for very 
young children as well as providing a great environment for children to interact 
and develop socially. All HAGS swings can be fitted with the unique Mirage 
Swing Seat - suitable for all abilities with the optional seat harness. Beneficial to 
the muscles in the arms, torso and legs, and an excellent example of locomotor 
play, the swing remains important to a child’s physical development. It also 
requires adult intervention for the very young, encouraging interaction during 
play, making for a very positive bonding experience.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 7.50 x 2.23 x 2.40

USERS
Age range: 2+
No. of users: 4

INSTALLATION
Cast in Place

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 1.47
Falling Space area – sq.m: 45.76
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 46.00

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. 2.4m Olympic Swing  4 Seat Frame

Supply 2 No. Cradle Seat

Supply 1 No. Mirage Seat 

Supply 1 No. Tango Seat with 8mm Galvanised Chains, 2.4m high

Hard Dig Installation

£2,355.00

£410.00

£450.00 

£465.00

£725.00

Item Total £4,405.00
 

Page 95



Vertical Xylophone (Arch Frame)

Supply 1 no. An 8 note xylophone made from 
extremely durable FSC certified hardwood. The 
keys are strung on PVC coated stainless steel 
cables within the elegant arched timber frame. 
Produces warm, marimba-like tones. Playable 
from both sides. Suitable for use with loose or 
tethered beaters.

Installation Hard Dig

£1,850.00

£171.00

Item Total £2,021.00

Pipe Drums (Timber Frame)

Supply 1 no. A set of 5 accurately tuned drums 
built from robust plastic pipe. Available in black or 
blue and mounted on a curved frame. Playable 
by hand, with all-round access. Produces a 
bright, resonant sound that will appeal to all ages. 
Supplied with galvanised steel anchors for 
concreting into the ground.

Installation Hard Dig

£1,565.00

£228.00

Item Total £1,793.00

 

Page 96



Pulford Road Play Sign

Supply 1 no. Road Sign £163.00

Item Total £163.00

Grove Road Play Sign

Supply 1 no. Road Sign £163.00

Item Total £163.00

Panel Post Install HD

Road Signs Panel Post Install HD £368.00

Item Total £368.00

Single UP Wooden Post incl. Panel Fixings - (HAG8061942)

Supply 4 No. A single wooden UniPlay post and 
fixings to allow your panel to be free standing (2 
post packs  required)

£480.00

Item Total £480.00

 

Page 97



Mound

Supply Mound for over Tunnel 46m³ of subsoil; 43m² 
of topsoil & turf 

£5,788.00

Item Total £5,788.00

Tunnel under Mound

Supply 1 no. Tunnel 

Installation Soft Dig

£736.00

£165.00

Item Total £901.00

Timber Mound Retainers

Supply & Install Vertical Timber Sleepers to retain 
mound

£3,192.00

Item Total £3,192.00

Timber Entrance Archway

Supply 1 no. Engraved Timber Archway, includes 
engraving to both sides. 

(Engraving to be specified by Leighton-
Linslade Town Council) 

Soft Dig Installation

£893.00

 
 
 

£120.00

Item Total £1,013.00

 

Page 98



MANTIS Zipwire- 20m with ramp for concrete - (HS8064713(08))

PRODUCT FEATURES
Cable rides and zip wires have always been very popular with children of all 
ages as it encourages energetic play, offers a thrilling ride with an element of 
competition if desired and is highly stimulating. This MANTIS model is 20 metres 
in length, complete with a launch platform, pommel seat and spring loaded 
buffer mechanism. Mantis is construced from structural grade steel and also 
features an easy tensioning mechanism that does not require any dismantling or 
specialist tools.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 24.94 x 3.25 x 3.97

USERS
Age range: 5+
No. of users: 2

INSTALLATION
Minimum concrete volume cu. m: 6.98
Cast in Place

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 1.50
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 81.00

PLAY VALUE

PRICING

Supply 1 No. Mantis Zipwire

Grassmat Installation

Soft Dig Installation

Supply 32 No. Grassmat tiles

£6,435.00

£480.00

£2,483.00

£1,168.00

Item Total £10,566.00

 

Page 99



Nexus Viper - Rope Swing Colour Collection 6 - (DSVIP(006))

PRODUCT FEATURES
Viper has it all, a giant in-line rope swing that has its roots in the self-made 
swings of yesteryear, combining balancing, swinging and rocking movements 
with play interaction.

Unlike traditional swings it requires teamwork and balance, Viper promotes 
cooperative play and is an excellent example of loco-motor play.  It is challenging 
and exciting to a wide group of ages and abilities. Viper’s simple construction and 
lack of moving parts mean it is very reliable and virtually maintenance free.

With its dramatic styling and arched supports Viper is very imposing and is an 
excellent anchor item for any playground or will breathe new life into an existing 
play area.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 8.04 x 2.84 x 3.61

USERS
Age range: 6+
No. of users: 6

INSTALLATION
Cast in Place

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 1.50
Falling Space area – sq.m: 44.07
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 31.00

PLAY VALUE

PRICING
Supply 1 No. Viper

Soft Dig Installation

£5,350.00

£1,690.00

Item Total £7,040.00

 

Page 100



GRASSMATT FR SURFACING FLAME RETARDANT1.5Mtx1Mt - 
(RP400S)

Supply 10 No. Grassmat tiles

Install grass mat

£365.00

£150.00

Item Total £515.00

 

Page 101



Titan Colour Collection 8 - (CAR-TAN(008))

PRODUCT FEATURES
Titan is a thrilling and fast moving adventure inspired by a fairground ride. Its 
unique five-arm tilted overhead design gives it an unusual and exhilarating flying 
sensation - that added edge that children are looking for today.
Titan stimulates and physically challenges its users whilst encouraging social 
interaction; team work is essential as children must cooperate and work together 
for maximum speed and enjoyment.
Five different swing and seating options appeal to users with different abilities 
and approaches to their play, including: T Bar Hanger, the most difficult way to 
ride as the user must jump up to reach and hang on only by their hands, Rope 
Ladder which can be used sitting or standing, two Pendulum  Button seats for an 
easy sit down ride and our fully supportive Mirage seat making Titan an inclusive 
piece of active play equipment that offers real excitement and delight to older 
children seeking dynamic group play. HAGS recommend using 3 Pendulum 
Seats, 1 Mirage Seat and 1 Rope Ladder for the majority of play areas. Images of 
the T Bar can be provided, please note this offers a hard challenge.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): Ø3.90 X 3.12

USERS
Age range: 6+
No. of users: 5

INSTALLATION
Cast in Place

SURFACE & SPACE REQUIRED
Max Free Fall height -m: 1.50
Falling Space area – sq.m: 111.00
Min wet pour area – sq.m: 82.00

PLAY VALUE

Page 102



PRICING
Supply 1 No. Titan Frame

Supply 1 No. T Bar Hanger

Supply 1 No. Mirage Seat

Supply 1 No. Rope Ladder

Supply 2 No. Pendulum Seat

Soft Dig Installation

Supply 20 No. Grassmat tiles

Grassmat Installation

£5,685.00

£125.00

£450.00

£200.00

£382.00

£1,379.00

£730.00

£300.00

Item Total £9,251.00

 

Page 103



Ekeby Seat - (V-8037002)

PRODUCT FEATURES
The provision of adequate furnishing for all play areas is an important 
consideration. Adults can relax while their children can play and socialise un-
interrupted. The Ekeby range is a simple yet stylish range of furniture that is both 
eye catching and durable. It is ideal for landscaped or rural areas, but can also 
look good in an urban environment.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 1.80 x 0.60 x 0.80

INSTALLATION
Cast in Place

PRICING
Supply 2 No. Ekeby Seats

Hard Dig Installation

£804.00

£216.00

Item Total £1,020.00

 

Page 104



Ekeby Picnic Table - (V-8037026)

PRODUCT FEATURES
The provision of adequate furnishing for all play areas is an important 
consideration. Adults can relax while their children can play and socialise un-
interrupted. The Ekeby range is a simple yet stylish range of furniture that is both 
eye catching and durable. It is ideal for landscaped or rural areas, but can also 
look good in an urban environment.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 1.30 x 0.62 x 0.71

INSTALLATION
Cast in Place

PRICING
Supply 4 No. Ekeby Picnic Tables

Hard Dig Installation

£1,248.00

£432.00

Item Total £1,680.00

 

Page 105



Ekeby Bench - (V-8037101)

PRODUCT FEATURES
The provision of adequate furnishing for all play areas is an important 
consideration. Adults can relax while their children can play and socialise un-
interrupted. The Ekeby range is a simple yet stylish range of furniture that is both 
eye catching and durable. It is ideal for landscaped or rural areas, but can also 
look good in an urban environment.

EQUIPMENT DIMENSIONS
m (L x W x H): 1.80 x 0.37 x 0.45

INSTALLATION
Cast in Place

PRICING
Supply 8 No. Ekeby Benches

Hard Dig Installation

£1,976.00

£864.00

Item Total £2,840.00

 

Page 106



Excavation to 120mm & cart away spoil (SD)

Soft dig excavation to 120mm & cart away spoil - 
443m2

£4,873.00

Item Total £4,873.00

Geotextile Membrane

Supply and install 443m2 of geotextile membrane £1,329.00

Item Total £1,329.00

70mm MOT type 1

Supply and install 443m2 of 70mm MOT type 1 £7,531.00

Item Total £7,531.00

Excavation to 140mm & cart away spoil (SD)

Soft dig excavation to 140mm & cart away spoil - 
125m2

£1,625.00

Item Total £1,625.00

 

Page 107



Geotextile Membrane

Supply and install 125m2 of geotextile membrane £375.00

Item Total £375.00

100mm MOT type 1

Supply and install 125m2 of 100mm MOT type 1 £2,875.00

Item Total £2,875.00

PCC Edging

Supply and install 159m of 915 x 150 x 50 PCC 
edging

£3,895.50

Item Total £3,895.50

Subsoil

Supply & lay 11m3 of subsoil to fill after removals £693.00

Item Total £693.00

 

Page 108



Topsoil & Turf

Supply & lay 107m2 of 50mm topsoil & turf to 
make good after removals

£1,712.00

Item Total £1,712.00

Play sand

Play sand coverage approx 10m2 area size 
96m2

£1,573.00

Item Total £1,573.00

Excavation of sandpit

Excavation of sandpit £1,070.34

Item Total £1,070.34

Recycled Plastic Interlocking retainer for sand pit

Supply 718 no. 300mm tall and 4no 600mm tall 
posts (approx. 19no per linear metre - 38Lm)

Installation Hard Dig

Please note the colour we have chosen is Red 
Brick as shown in the illustration, however 
alternative colours are available. 

£2,346.00

£2,604.14

Item Total £4,950.14

Page 109



Stone Fossil casts

Supply 5 no. Fossil sculptures to be installed into 
the sand

Hard Dig Installation

£285.70

£551.70

Item Total £837.40

Leaf stepping stones

Supply 10 no. Concrete leaf stepping stones £171.30

Item Total £171.30

 

Page 110



Fossil stepping stones

Supply 5 no. Fossil stepping stones £128.50

Item Total £128.50

Cobbles

Supply and install 150 no. Yellow Limestone 
Cobbles (200X100MM)

£245.71

Item Total £245.71

900 x 200 logs

Supply 4 no. 900 x 200 logs £82.72

Item Total £82.72

Installation into Soft Dig

Installation of Sensory Path into Soft Dig £620.69

Item Total £620.69

 

Page 111



Refurb Roundabout

Rubdown and repaint roundabout
Painting Specification - 
1. Prepare by means of manual abrasion to 
remove loose and flaking paint.
2. Abrade surfaces to provide key.
3. Apply to rusted areas, 1 no. spot coat of 
Sigmacover 2 rust tolerant epoxy primer.
4. Following which Spot coat any bare galvanise 
using the finishing system.
5. Apply 2 no. coats of Vinadac Solvent Bourne 
Acrylic to all surfaces.                              
(Painting of stainless steel, galvanised finish steel, 
plastic, HDPE or HPL not included)

£373.00

Item Total £373.00

Planting

Supply Plants for sensory planting area £1,242.00

Item Total £1,242.00

Topsoil & Seed

Supply 70m2 Topsoil and seed for preliminaries 
works area.

£770.00

Item Total £770.00

 

Page 112



Mirage Harnesses

Supply 1 no. 88020701 Mirage Harness for the 
Mirage Seat

FREE OF 
CHARGE

Item Total £.00

Pipa Accreditation

Pipa Accreditation - Following practical completion 
of the new playground in partnership with 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council, HAGS will 
arrange for a PiPA appraisal to be undertaken 
Inclusive Sign is also included.

FREE OF 
CHARGE

Item Total £.00

Site opening package

HAGS will contribute to a play area opening event 
by providing: -  
 

• Attendance/Support by HAGS employees 

• Banners/Bunting and Balloons to help 
decorate the newly finished project 

• Party Bags and refreshments for all 
children in attendance 

FREE OF 
CHARGE

Item Total £.00

 

Page 113



Carriage charge

Orders with equipment valued below £5,000 carriage is 
charged at 12%. Orders with equipment valued above 
£5,000, carriage is charged at 6%.

£6,000.00

Site Security / Storage / Welfare Facilities

Site Security – as recommended by the Health and Safety 
Executive has been organised by the customer for this 
site and has not been priced for within our proposal. 
Should additional security measures be required to 
comply fully with the Health & Safety Executive 
recommendations then HAGS, on authorisation from the 
customer, will arrange this and adjust our invoice 
accordingly.

Site Storage – Supply secure container for duration of the 
works inclusive of site compound management.

Welfare Facilities – has been organised by the customer 
for this site and has not been priced for within our 
proposal. Should additional welfare facility measures be 
necessary in line with the requirements of the 
Construction Design Management Regulations 2015 
(CDM) then HAGS, on authorisation from the customer, 
will arrange this and adjust our invoice accordingly. 

Skip Allowance 
 

£13,275.00 

Post Installation Inspection

RPII Post Installation Inspection £350.00

Preliminaries Total £19,625.00

 

Page 114



Quotation sub-total

Less special project discount

£365,742.38

-£107,482.38

Quotation Total
(exclusive of VAT)

£258,260.00

Reinstatement
As discussed on site access reinstatement is to be taken care of by others, please note 
depending on weather and ground conditions we would recommend the use of trackway. Please 
contact your HAGS representative for more information. 

Spinmee Roundabout 
This product is partially installed below ground and may require a drainage solution to be provided 
alongside it for site locations that are prone to waterlogging or have poor natural drainage. Unless 
specifically detailed within our cost drainage work is not included in our installation price and can be 
quoted as a separate item to meet the requirements of your site conditions. Please contact HAGS if 
you believe this is a requirement for your project. 

Grass mat Surfacing 
Grass mat surfacing relies on a combination of the product and the existing grass surface to 
achieve its critical fall height. The formation of the grass can vary greatly from location to location. 
These combined critical fall height properties are affected by changes in the weather, moisture and 
compaction of the ground formation, therefore the CFH cannot be guaranteed by certification. 
HAGS strongly recommend the installation of this surfacing product is monitored over time and 
maintained as required.
• Sites that are prone to waterlogging are NOT considered suitable from Grass mat 

surfacing.
• During prolonged periods of dry weather the grass may need watering to sustain its 

growth.
When laid directly onto existing grass the surface will follow the natural contours of the ground, 
unless we have specifically detailed a separate cost to undertake additional preparation/ levelling/ 
turf works. HAGS recommend that the existing sub - soil is assessed by the client, prior to product 
installation, to ensure it is of good quality, without it being impeded by hard solids such as stone, 
brick or tree roots within the top 150mm from the grass surface. 

Grass as a Safety Surface 
In accordance with EN1176 grass may be used for items with a Fall Height of up to 1.5 metres, 
however there must be a site specific risk assessment for this that includes:
• A depth test to 150mm to indicate there are few stones or hard objects in the surface
• Areas of wear or potential wear are strengthened to prevent bare patches
• The use of the grass is monitored and a good sward is maintained at all times

This obviously requires a competent level of work by the playground owner-operator, both now and 
in the future. If you are happy to undertake this and continue to maintain the grass sward, no 
additional safety surface is necessary. 
However, in our experience grass around popular items of equipment tends to become worn away, 
especially during spells of very dry or very wet weather. The ‘performance’ of grass is also 
dependant on the soil type beneath it. Therefore our advice would be to provide at least a wear pad 
of safety surfacing, especially for dynamic moving items of equipment where the risk of children 
falling is greater than with static equipment. 
Where equipment is installed directly into grass and the free height of fall is between 0.6m and 

Page 115



1.5m it is the responsibility of the playground operator to ensure that the grass sward is maintained 
in good order. 

Topsoil & Seed aftercare 
Unless specifically detailed within our cost seed will be watered only while our contract teams are 
on site. Upon practical completion care of seeded and reinstated areas is transferred to the 
customer. 

 

Page 116



 
 

 
 

Page 117



 

 

Page 118



 

HAGS Quotation sub-total (Including Discount) 
Quotation Ref:   

Q-25515-Q0J9 rev 2                                            

DCM Quotation sub-total 
Quotation Ref: 3238 

£258,260.00

 
 

£41,740.00

Quotation Total
(exclusive of VAT)

£300,000.00

 

Page 119



Non-disclosure of commercially sensitive documents under Freedom of Information 
Act  

HAGS-SMP Ltd. consider our proposal return documentation to be commercially sensitive information 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. We request it is not disclosed on the grounds that its 
disclosure under this Act would, or would be likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of any 
person holding it without upholding any public interest. 
 
Commercially sensitive extends to, but is not limited to: pricing, company structure and resources, 
method statements for the delivery of the works and services and descriptions of our products or 
bespoke environment designs. Release of this information would give commercial competitors an 
unfair advantage against HAGS-SMP Ltd. on any future proposal submissions. 
 
However, our 3D visual design drawings may be reviewed and released under a FOI Act request as 
this is generally available within the public domain or may have been displayed at a public event.

 

Page 120



1. THIS QUOTATION IS VALID FOR 60 DAYS 

2. VAT IS NOT INCLUDED 

3. Prices are strictly 30 days nett 
Prices are strictly 30 days nett from date of 
invoice provided a credit account is in operation 
and we specifically draw your attention to clauses 
3, 4, 6 and 7 of our terms and conditions of sale 
(a copy is available on request). 

4. CARRIAGE CHARGES 
Carriage charged within the UK Mainland are: 
Orders with gross equipment valued below 
£5,000, carriage is charged at 12%. 
Orders with gross equipment valued above 
£5,000, carriage is charged at 6%. 
We have a minimum carriage charge of £10. 
Carriage outside UK Mainland, price on 
application 
 
5. BUDGET INSTALLATIONS COST 
Budget costs assume that easy lorry access and 
precise siting of the equipment will be provided, 
no surface or underground obstructions will be 
encountered during excavation such as concrete, 
hard-core, rock, chalk, roots, drainage, gas or 
water pipes, telephone or electricity cables etc.  
In the event of any such obstructions we reserve 
the right to charge for any additional work 
involved.  We cannot accept liability for any 
consequent charges that may be incurred by 
disruption of any of the foregoing services.  For 
fixed installation prices a site survey is required 
by an Area Manager prior to the order being 
placed. 

6. MINIMUM INSTALLATION CHARGE 
On orders received with installation a minimum 
installation charge will be applicable per site. 

7. NON HAGS PRODUCT 
In cases where HAGS includes within a project 
non-HAGS items specified by the client or its 
agent HAGS does not warrant that product or 
service as fit for use and its inclusion by HAGS 
does not endorse the item as conforming to 
required standards.  It is assumed that before 
specifying, the client has assured themselves as 
regards conformity to EN1176, durability and 
fitness for use.  Any guarantee claims relating to 
the specified item will need to be directed to the 
manufacturer or distributor of the item directly.  
HAGS does not guarantee such goods or 
services in any way. 

 
 
 

 

8. PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT 
HAGS has a policy of continuous product 
development and improvement.  We reserve the 
right to alter specifications and design features of 
our products.  In this context illustrations and 
descriptions contained in our sales literature and 
drawings are not binding. 

9. DELIVERY/INSTALLATION TIMEFRAME 
Delivery of product will be confirmed with order and 
is typically 6/8 weeks from receipt of written order.  
Installation is undertaken subsequent to delivery of 
equipment and time required will vary according to 
the project.  Most are completed in 2/3 weeks after 
delivery of equipment. 

10. DAMAGE TO GRASSED ACCESS ROUTES 
During installation of a playground damage to 
grassed areas used as an access route is 
sometimes unavoidable.  This is particularly the 
case if the installation occurs in wet weather or the 
site itself does not drain well.  HAGS will if necessary 
level and seed any areas damaged in such a way.  
But please note that our quotation does not include 
for watering, maintenance or protection of such 
seeded areas from further damage or erosion. 

11. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
Would you please note that unless formally agreed 
in writing as part of an established form of contract 
(e.g.:  JCT Minor Works) HAGS-SMP Ltd t/as 
HAGS will not accept the imposition of 
liquidated damages under any circumstances.  
Should such an agreed contract be in force the 
damage applicable (such financial damage to be 
real) shall be no greater than 1% per week of the 
total value of the works placed with HAGS-SMP Ltd 
and limited to a maximum of £250 per week. 

12. SETTLEMENT DISCOUNT  
a. NOMINATED SUB-CONTRACTOR: 
Should a settlement discount of 2.5% be required 
under the terms of the main contract, then 2.563% 
should be added to all prices quoted herein. 
b. NOMINATED SUPPLIER: 
Should a settlement discount of 5% be required 
under the terms of the main contract, then 5.263% 
should be added to all prices quoted herein. 

Terms and Conditions of sale are available on request Please contact Customer Services 0845 260 1655 sales@hags.co.uk 
Issue Y 15.10.18

Page 121

mailto:sales@hags.co.uk


 

 

 

Page 122



 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

- 
- 

- 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126

mailto:sales@hags.co.uk


 
 
 
 
 
COUNCIL      

 
Date: 26 April 2021 
 
Title: Meetings and Decision Making 2021-2022  

 
Purpose of the Report: To seek Council direction on meetings for the 

municipal year 2021-22.  
 
Contact Officer:                Mark Saccoccio, Town Clerk 
    Sarah Sandiford, Deputy Town Clerk 
    Ian Haynes, Responsible Health & Safety Officer 
                                            

Corporate 
Objective/s 

 To consolidate processes and procedures, 
ensuring operational efficiency and a structure 
which will underpin future service delivery by 
the Town Council. 

Implications:   

Financial None  

Human Resources None  

Operational/Service 
delivery 

Yes To continue to ensure operational efficiency 
and effective scrutiny and decision-making 
processes through the legal mechanisms 
available, whilst mindful of responsibilities in 
respect of Covid-19 and health and safety.  

Procedural/Legal Yes The statutory number of Council meetings and 
the statutory Parish meeting are included in the 
proposed calendar.  
Current temporary legislation regarding 
meetings expires on 7 May 2021. 

Risk/Health & Safety None  

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  

Should Council be minded:- 
 
1.1 To note the report. 

 
1.2 To endorse that the Annual Council Meeting be moved from Monday, 17 

May to Tuesday, 4 May to allow it to be held remotely in accordance with 
The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2020. 
 

1.3 To endorse the proposed Calendar of Meetings for 2021-22 (Appendix A), 
with the following arrangements in place: 

Page 127

Agenda Item 11

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/392/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/392/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/392/contents/made


  

Page 2 of 6   

 

 
(i) Meetings scheduled from 7 May 2021 – 21 June 2021 will be held 

remotely, if the High Court action being taken on 21 April 2021 (with 
Government support) finds that remote meetings are lawful in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 1972.  
 

(ii) If the High Court decision is not in favour of the continuation of 
remote meetings or until such time as a decision has been 
published, meetings scheduled from 7 May 2021 – 21 June 2021 will 
be cancelled. Decision making will be delegated with councillor 
email approval in line with the procedure resolved by Council on 20 
March 2020. Such authority will be further underpinned by the 
approval of revised Standing Orders which set out delegated 
authority arrangements at SO 15 (c) (vii).  
 

(iii) It may be possible to hold meetings after 21 June 2021 in person, 
subject to: 

 
- the Council having approved an appropriate risk assessment 
which incorporates Government guidance in respect of Covid-19 
and takes into account its duty of care to councillors, officers and 
the public. 
- an appropriate venue is available. 
- any measures required by said risk assessment can be 
implemented by this time. 
- appropriate arrangements in respect of members of the public can 
be put in place.   
 

(iv) Should the steps at iii) not be achieved by 21 June 2021, meetings 
and decision making will continue as set out at i) or ii) (as 
applicable) until such time as those conditions can be met. 

 
1.4 To ask Council to note and endorse that in the event of any further 

changes to Government guidance which prevent face to face Council 
meetings taking place (e.g. in autumn/winter 2021), that arrangements as 
set out at 1.3 (i) or (ii) (as applicable) will be implemented until such time 
as formal meetings can be resumed.  
 
 

2 BACKGROUND  
 
2.1 The Council’s Calendar of Meetings has followed an established annual pattern 

since the adoption of a revised Committee structure on 27 June 2016. The 
amendments included a reduction in the number of Sub-Committees and a 
change in standing committees to reflect the service area responsibilities of the 
Town Council.     
 

2.2 The revised structure has enabled each Committee to focus on the projects and 
services within its specific remit and to authorise expenditure and review future 
budgets accordingly. 
 

Page 128



  

Page 3 of 6   

 

2.3 In 2020, as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and first national lockdown, 
emergency procedures were endorsed by Council at its extraordinary meeting 
held 20 March 2020 to allow decisions to continue to be made although 
meetings could not lawfully be held.   
 

2.4 Following changes in legislation in April 2020, the Council moved to holding 
virtual meetings online from July 2020, resuming its normal pattern of meetings 
for the remainder of 2020-21. 
 

2.5 The legislation which permits remote meetings has a sunset clause of 7 May 
2021 and the Government has now confirmed that this legislation will not be 
extended (see letter at Appendix C).  
 

2.6 There is a school of thought that meetings held remotely may in fact be lawful 
under the Local Government Act 1972. Legal action is being brought by 
Lawyers in Local Government, the Association of Democratic Services Officers 
and Hertfordshire County Council and a High Court decision is hoped for prior 
to the expiry of current temporary legislation.  

 
 

3. CONSIDERATIONS FOR 2021-2022  
 
ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETING 

 
3.1  The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of 

Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2020 removed the requirement for local councils to hold an Annual 
Meeting in 2020-21.  

 
3.2 Regulation 4 (2) provided that: “where an appointment would otherwise be 

made or is required to be made at an annual meeting of a local authority, the 
appointment continues until the next annual meeting of the authority or until 
such time as that authority may determine”. This regulation allowed the Council 
to elect a new Chair at its meeting held 28 September 2020. 
 

3.3 Without any extension of the Regulations, the Council is now legally required to 
hold its Annual Meeting in acordance with legislation, as reflected in Standing 
Order 5 (b): 
“In a year which is not an election year, the annual meeting of the Council 
shall be held on the third Monday in May, or any such day in May as the 
Council decides”. 
 

3.4 As the Covid-19 requirements for an in-person meeting cannot easily be met by 
17 May, it is highly recommended that the date of the annual meeting be 
brought forward to Tuesday, 4 May to allow the meeting to be held remotely.  
 

3.5 A decision by Council on 26 April will allow an agenda to be published for a 
meeting on 5 May meeting the legal requirements of 3 clear days’ notice as 
specified in the LGA 1972 s243. 
 

Page 129



  

Page 4 of 6   

 

3.6 The agenda for the annual meeting will follow its usual form including 
necessitating the election of Chair as the first item of business, as set out in 
law. 

 
FACE TO FACE MEETINGS 

 
3.7 NALC guidance issued February 2021 (see Appendix B) sets out that in order 

to resume face to face meetings, consideration will need to be given by Council 
to: 

 
- Capacity, suitability and availability of meeting space 
- Likelihood of inquoracy of meetings 
- Frequency and duration of meetings 
- Staffing requirements and duty of care implications  
- Mitigation measures (distancing, masks, screens, staggered 

arrival/departure times, one way system, ventilation) to protect all meeting 
attendees including the public 

- Cost implications (equipment, impact on other bookings, additional cleaning, 
additional set up/clear away time) 

 
3.8 At present there is no provision in law to restrict or limit attendance by the 

public at meetings and this may present significant issues as any venue will 
have a finite capacity, once Covid secure mitigation measures are in place. 
Consideration may need to be given to the remote attendance of members of 
the public at in-person meetings. 
 

3.9 Government has issued guidance for the safe use of council buildings, which 
includes some detail on meetings: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-
use-of-council-buildings/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings 
 

3.10 Government has also issued guidance on the safe use of multi-purpose 
community facilities. Due to the small size and limited capacity of meeting 
rooms at the White House, it is highly likely that any in-person meetings would 
have to take place in such a community facility. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-
use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-
of-multi-purpose-community-facilities 
 

3.11 It is possible that Government guidance may change as it follows the steps set 
out in its “road map out of lockdown”. Indicative dates for changes at Step 3 
(not before 17 May 2021) and Step 4 (not before 21 June 2021) will be 
dependent upon scientific data relating to the pandemic and may be subject to 
alteration. Therefore, at the present time there is no certainty as to when 
restrictions may be lifted and what recommended measures will be in place 
from Step 4. 
 

3.12 Any Government measures recommended from 21 June 2021 will not be 
known until much closer to the time and may impact on not only face to face 
meetings but also home/office working arrangements for staff (and therefore, 
arrangements for the re-opening of the White House to the public).  

Page 130

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities


  

Page 5 of 6   

 

DECISION MAKING 
 

3.13 The purpose of Council meetings is to take democratic decisions by the show 
of hands of those present and voting.  
 

3.14 In the event that a lawful meeting cannot be held for such decisions to be 
made, the Council must consider alternative lawful arrangements. 
 

3.15 The Local Government Act 1972 s101(1) sets out that a local authority may 
arrange for the discharge of any of their functions –  
(a) By a committee, a sub-committee or an officer of the authority; or 
(b) By any other local authority. 
 

3.16 The arrangements resolved by Council on 20 March 2020 at the start of the 
pandemic restrictions continue to provide a mechanism for decision making 
whilst meetings cannot take place: 

Minute reference 89:   

RESOLVED to endorse the following proposed emergency delegation to 
the Town Clerk (or a senior Officer in the absence of the Town Clerk):  

That with the exception of:  

a) matters which the law states cannot be delegated and are reserved for 
full Council, and b) any employment matters requiring the involvement of 
a Committee:  

Any decision requiring Committee or full Council approval, where it is not 
possible to convene a lawful meeting, is hereby delegated to the Town 
Clerk in consultation with a number of Councillors equal to the quorum 
for a meeting of the body concerned. This includes approval of any 
expenditure outside existing delegations.  

Where practicable, the Councillors to be consulted shall include the Chair 
and Vice Chair of the body concerned. The Councillors consulted must 
not all be members of the same Group.   

In the event that any Chairs or Vice Chairs are incapacitated during the 
operational period, then they should nominate a substitute for the period 
they are incapacitated and notify the Town Clerk accordingly.  

The above emergency delegation authority to come into effect 
immediately following the Council meeting held on 20 March 2020 and to 
remain in effect until rescinded at a subsequent meeting of the Council.  

3.17 To ensure elected Members have all the information they require in order to put 
forward their views and to reflect the views of the electorate, it is proposed that 
informal “meetings” could continue to take place remotely, to allow for informal 
discussion, where deemed necessary in order to provide feedback on 
requested decisions.  

Page 131



  

Page 6 of 6   

 

 
3.18 Decisions would then be made by the Clerk based on email responses by 

elected Members. As happened in 2020, all such decisions will be formally 
reported back to the appropriate committees/Council at such time as formal 
meetings can resume.  
 

3.19 There are exceptions to LGA s101(1) which do not allow Council to delegate 
decisions relating to some statutory functions. These include for example: the 
setting of a precept, the approval of year end accounts, the selling of land, the 
borrowing of money or the revision of its Code of Conduct. 
 

3.20 Unless changes in law allow otherwise, any such statutory functions will 
necessitate the holding of a Council meeting. At the present time, it is 
anticipated that a Council meeting will be necessary on 28 June 2021 for the 
approval of the Annual Governance and Accountability Return, although it is 
possible that Government may extend the deadline for 2021 as it did in 2020. 

 
ATTENDANCE/SIX MONTH RULE 
 

3.21 Councillors are asked to note that there is no provision relating to the pandemic 
which allows for any exception or extension to the six-month rule in terms of 
meeting attendance. 
 

3.22 Attendance at the Annual Meeting on 4 May will then set a period of six months 
for attendance at a further meeting to avoid disqualification.  
 

3.23 Any request for a leave of absence (e.g. for health related reasons) would need 
to be approved by Council before the end of the six month period. 
 

4. CONCLUSIONS  

4.1 The latest Government guidance requires that serious consideration be given to 
the health and safety requirements of holding in-person meetings, bearing in 
mind the many factors and balancing the need to make essential decisions in a 
democratic manner whilst minimising any unnecessary risks to councillors, 
employees and members of the public.  

 
4.2 The council is now required by law to hold its Annual Meeting during May 2021 

and it is strongly recommended to hold this remotely before 6 May 2021 to 
minimise risks associated with Covid-19. 

 
4.3 For the period from 7 May 2021 until such time as lawful meetings can take 

place in one format or another, the Council has assurance that operational 
impact can be minimised as the resolution made on 20 March 2020 remains 
valid and permits lawful decision making by the Council’s Proper Officer, in 
consultation with elected Members.  

 
End.  

 

Page 132



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2021/2022

DRAFT: VERSION 1

MONDAY AT 1930 HRS (unless 

otherwise indicated)

TUESDAY 

AT 1930 

HRS WEDNESDAY AT 1930 HRS

THURSDAY AT 

1930 HOURS 

(unless otherwise 

indicated)

2021

MAY 3 BANK HOLIDAY 6

OLDER PEOPLE 

(1000)

10 Grants Sub Committee 12 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

17 COUNCIL ANNUAL MEETING

24 27 MARKET (1030)

31 BANK HOLIDAY 2 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

JUNE 7 GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL

14  CULTURAL & ECONOMIC 17 PARTNERSHIP

21 POLICY & FINANCE 23 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

28 COUNCIL

JULY 5 Personnel Sub-Committee 

12 Community Safety Sub-Committee 14 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

19

26 POLICY & FINANCE

AUG 2 4 PLANNING & TRANSPORT 5 MARKET (1030)

9

16 19

OLDER PEOPLE 

(1000)

23 25 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

30 BANK HOLIDAY

SEPT 6 GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL 9 PARTNERSHIP 

13 CULTURAL & ECONOMIC 15 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

20 POLICY & FINANCE

27 COUNCIL

OCT 4 6 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

11 Personnel Sub-Committee 

18 Community Safety Sub-Committee

25 27 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

NOV 1 Grants Sub Committee

8 11 MARKET (1030)

15 POLICY & FINANCE 17 PLANNING & TRANSPORT 18

OLDER PEOPLE 

(1000)

22

29 COUNCIL (provisional) 2 PARTNERSHIP

DEC 6 GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL 8 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

13 CULTURAL & ECONOMIC

20

27 BANK HOLIDAY

31/03/21Page 133



LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2021/2022

DRAFT: VERSION 1

MONDAY AT 1930 HRS (unless 

otherise indicated)

TUESDAY 

AT 1930 

T

H

2022

JAN 3 BANK HOLIDAY 5 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

10 Personnel Sub-Committee 

17 Community Safety Sub

24 POLICY & FINANCE 26 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

31 COUNCIL

FEB 7 10 PARTNERSHIP

14 16 PLANNING & TRANSPORT 17

OLDER PEOPLE 

(1000)

21 24 MARKET (1030)

28 POLICY & FINANCE

MAR 7 GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL 9 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

14 CULTURAL & ECONOMIC

21 PARISH MEETING

28 Personnel Sub-Committee 30 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

APRIL 4 Community Safety Sub 

11 POLICY & FINANCE

18 BANK HOLIDAY 20 PLANNING & TRANSPORT 21 PARTNERSHIP

25 COUNCIL

MAY 2 BANK HOLIDAY

9 Grants  Sub-Committee 11 PLANNING & TRANSPORT

16 COUNCIL ANNUAL MEETING 19 MARKET (1030)

23 26

OLDER PEOPLE 

(1000)

30 BANK HOLIDAY

Council = 5 per municipal year

Policy & Finance = 7

Planning = 18

Grounds & Environmental = 4

Cultural & Economic =4

Partnership Committee = 5

Grants & Awards S/c = 2

Sub-Committee meetings (4 each 

for Personnel, Comm Safety, 

Market, Older Persons)

31/03/21Page 134



NALC guidance published 4 February 2021: 

The regulations that allow local authorities to hold meetings remotely apply to local 
authority meetings that are required to be held, or held, before 7 May 2021. This 
means that, without any further action from the government, all local authorities 
including local councils must return to face to face meetings from 7 May. NALC is 
working with a number of national bodies to press the government to extend these 
regulations beyond this date and will continue to stress the urgency and importance 
of this issue. However, at this time government has no plans to extend these 
regulations and so councils should start preparing for the real possibility of face to 
face meetings from May. 

NALC’s position remains that all local councils should continue to meet remotely 
while the regulations are in force. The guidance below has been written to help local 
councils prepare for the scenario that remote council meetings cannot lawfully take 
place from 7 May 2021. There is still much uncertainty around how legislation or 
COVID-19 risks may change over the coming weeks and months. NALC will update 
this guidance as the situation evolves. Each council will have to decide which course 
of action will best fit their needs and manage risks. 

To help local councils prepare for this possibility some advice and suggestions are 
below: 

 Consider what council business can be conducted before May so that the 
council can dedicate time to those issues in remote meetings. The more 
discussion and decisions you can conduct in remote meetings means the 
council can aim to hold fewer and shorter face to face meetings after May.  

 This may require more meeting time than is currently planned, so the council 
should look at the meeting schedule in the run-up to May and see if more time 
or more meetings are required. Where possible, consider holding the annual 
council meeting and the parish meeting while the current Regulations permit 
for them to be held remotely (see also NALC’s Legal Briefing L01-20). 

 Consider when the council does need to meet face to face, and whether 
meetings can be delayed to later in the year when the potential COVID-19 risk 
may be further reduced. 

 The council might consider holding a remote meeting as late as possible in 
April so that councillors who are unable to attend face-to-face meetings will 
have as much time as possible before disqualification by virtue of s.85 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 becomes an issue. 

 It may help the council’s business continuity to implement (or review) a 
scheme of delegation. This would allow the clerk to make certain decisions for 
the council, which would be especially important if the council were unable to 
hold meetings due to COVID-19 risks. In reviewing/adopting a scheme of 
delegation the council should ensure there is clarity around which decisions 
are delegated and which are not, for how long the scheme of delegation is in 
place, and when the scheme of the delegation will end or be reviewed. 

Some tips that may help manage well-attended remote meetings are: 

 keeping the meeting short with limited business/votes 
 using electronic voting tools (many platforms have built-in tools for voting) 

Page 135

https://www.nalc.gov.uk/library/news-stories/covid19/3234-l01-20-the-local-authorities-and-police-and-crime-panels-coronavirus-flexibility-of-local-authority-and-police-and-crime-panel-meetings-england-and-wales-regulations-2020/file


 if you plan to vote by a show of hands or calling a register then budget 
significant extra time for this 

 building in public engagement through online tools, that you could use to ask 
the public to feedback or express views that you would usually discuss in a 
meeting You could do also do this before or after the meeting as a way of 
ensuring ongoing public engagement (there are a number of free tools 
available online) 

 build in time to practice and prepare with the Clerk and Chairman in advance 
of the meeting 

 Further guidance on holding effective remote meetings available from 
NALC 

From May 2021, as face-to-face council meetings resume there will still be the risk to 
attendees of COVID-19 exposure. Councils should conduct a risk assessment in 
advance of a face to face meeting which should give consideration to what the 
council can do to reduce risk to councillors, staff and public including: 

 Providing hand sanitiser to those entering the meeting room and making sure 
hand sanitiser is readily available in the room itself 

 Staggering arrival and exit times for staff, councillors and members of the 
public 

 Placing seating at least 2-metres apart 
 Ensuring everyone wears face masks 
 Holding paperless meetings 
 If papers are provided, people should be discouraged from sharing with others 

and asked to take the papers with them at the end of the meeting to minimise 
how many people handle the papers 

 Arranging seating so people are not facing each other directly 
 Choosing a venue with good ventilation, including opening windows and doors 

where possible 
 Choosing a large enough venue to allow distancing – this may mean choosing 

a different venue to what the council used before. 
 The council (or venue owner/operator) will need to identify the venue’s 

maximum capacity in their risk assessment, taking into account the need for 
social distancing. Consider how the council will ensure this capacity is not 
exceeded and how it will manage the situation if more people wish to attend 
than capacity allows. For example, could meetings be live-streamed or could 
members of the public submit questions via email? 

 If the venue has an NHS QR code to support test and trace then all attendees 
should register using that app, for those without access to the app they should 
register attendance in line with the venue’s test and trace procedure. NB all 
venues in hospitality, the tourism and leisure industry, close contact services, 
community centres and village halls must have a test and trace procedure 

 Venues must conform with the government guidance for multi-purpose 
community facilities and for council buildings. If the venue is run by the 
council then the council must take responsibility for this, otherwise, the council 
can ask the venue to provide confirmation that they do conform to this 
guidance 

 The council must understand and ensure it is acting in compliance with the 
latest government safer workplaces guidance 

Page 136

https://www.nalc.gov.uk/library/news-stories/covid19/3232-nalc-holding-remote-meetings/file
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/maintaining-records-of-staff-customers-and-visitors-to-support-nhs-test-and-trace
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-multi-purpose-community-facilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/providers-of-grassroots-sport-and-gym-leisure-facilities


Managing staff: 

 It would be advisable to inform the clerk and any other staff whose role 
involves supporting or attending council meetings, as soon as possible that 
the council will need to prepare to return to face to face meetings from May 
onwards. This will allow them to make the necessary preparations as 
described above, and also to allow time to engage with staff to alleviate any 
concerns they may have related to attending physical meetings again. 

 Councils should consult with staff (ask for and consider their views to try and 
reach an agreement) about returning to work as part of their preparations for 
face to face meetings. 

 The council must make the workplace (including council meetings) as safe as 
possible for staff, this includes undertaking a risk assessment, taking 
reasonable steps to reduce risks identified in the risk assessment, and ensure 
it is acting in compliance with the latest Government safer workplaces 
guidance 

 ACAS have produced useful guidance for employers and 
employees related to COVID-19, including advice on how to support staff 
to return to the workplace and how to manage situations where staff may be 
worried or not wish to return. 

 

Page 137

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/providers-of-grassroots-sport-and-gym-leisure-facilities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/providers-of-grassroots-sport-and-gym-leisure-facilities
https://www.acas.org.uk/coronavirus
https://www.acas.org.uk/coronavirus
https://www.acas.org.uk/working-safely-coronavirus/returning-to-the-workplace


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 138



 

Luke Hall MP 
Minister of State for Regional Growth and Local 
Government 

  
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 
Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street  
London  
SW1P 4DF 

Council Leaders 
Principal Councils in England  

 
Tel: 0303 444 3440 
Email: luke.hall@communities.gov.uk 
  
www.gov.uk/mhclg 
  
                                       25 March 2021 

  

  

       
Dear Colleague, 
 

LOCAL AUTHORITY MEETINGS 

It is just over a year to the day since the Prime Minister asked us all to stay at home, and 

local authorities across England have risen magnificently to the challenges of this period. 

There has been a dramatic shift in your day-to-day operations, alongside new difficulties and 

demands, and I commend the efforts of all councillors and officers in supporting your 

communities and ensuring vital business continues during these unprecedented times. 

As you will be aware, The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 

(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2020 do not apply to meetings on or after 7 May 2021. 

Extending the regulations to meetings beyond May 7 would require primary legislation. The 

Government has considered the case for legislation very carefully, including the significant 

impact it would have on the Government’s legislative programme which is already under 

severe pressure in these unprecedented times. We are also mindful of the excellent progress 

that has been made on our vaccination programme and the announcement of the 

Government’s roadmap for lifting Covid-19 restrictions. Given this context, the Government 

has concluded that it is not possible to bring forward emergency legislation on this issue at 

this time. 

As outlined in the Government’s Spring 2021 Covid-19 Response, our aim is for everyone 

aged 50 and over and people with underlying health conditions to have been offered a first 

dose of the Covid-19 vaccine by 15 April, and a second dose by mid-July. While local 

authorities have been able to hold meetings in person at any time during the pandemic with 

appropriate measures in place, the successful rollout of the vaccine and the reduction in 

cases of Covid-19 should result in a significant reduction in risk for local authority members 

meeting in person from May 7, as reflected in the Government’s plan to ease Covid-19 

restrictions over the coming months. 

I recognise there may be concerns about holding face-to-face meetings. Ultimately it is for 

local authorities to apply the Covid-19 guidance to ensure meetings take place safely, but we 

have updated our guidance on the safe use of council buildings to highlight ways in which 

you can, if necessary, minimise the risk of face-to-face meetings, and we will work with Page 139



TEMPLATE FRAMEWORK – NOT TO BE USED FOR SUBMISSION 
OF DRAFT ANSWERS 

 
sector representative bodies to ensure that local authorities understand the guidance and are 

aware of the full range of options available to them.  

You can find the updated guidance here: www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-

guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-

buildings. 

These options would include use of your existing powers to delegate decision making to key 

individuals such as the Head of Paid Service, as these could be used these to minimise the 

number of meetings you need to hold if deemed necessary. Additionally, some of you will be 

able to rely on single member decision making without the need for cabinet meetings if your 

constitution allows.  

While I appreciate that a greater number of authorities will be subject to elections this year 

due to the postponement of the 2020 elections, those councils who are not subject to 

elections could also consider conducting their annual meetings prior to 7 May, and therefore 

do so remotely while the express provision in current regulations apply. As you will know, 

councils who are subject to elections are statutorily required to hold their annual meeting 

within 21 days of the elections. The Government’s roadmap proposes that organised indoor 

meetings (e.g. performances, conferences) are permitted from 17 May, subject to Covid 

secure guidelines and capacity rules. On this basis, councils should consider the extent to 

which their annual meetings (and any other meetings) can operate on the same basis as 

other local institutions in their area, taking into account their individual circumstances and 

requirements. 

If your council is concerned about holding physical meetings you may want to 

consider resuming these after 17 May, at which point it is anticipated that a much greater 

range of indoor activity can resume in line with the Roadmap, such as allowing up to 1,000 

people to attend performances or sporting events in indoor venues, or up to half-capacity 

(whichever is lower).  

Finally, while you do have a legal obligation to ensure that the members of the public can 

access most of your meetings, I would encourage you to continue to provide remote access 

to minimise the need for the public to attend meetings physically until at least 21 June, at 

which point it is anticipated that all restrictions on indoor gatherings will have been lifted in 

line with the Roadmap. However, it is for individual local authorities to satisfy themselves that 

they have met the requirements for public access. 

I am grateful for the efforts that local authorities have made to allow remote meetings in their 

area and recognise that there has been a considerable investment of time, training and 

technology to enable these meetings to take place, and I am aware that some authorities, 

though by no means all, have made calls for the Government to make express provision for 

remote meetings beyond the scope of the pandemic. I am today launching a call for evidence 

on the use of current arrangements and to gather views on the question of whether there 

should be permanent arrangements and if so, for which meetings. There are many issues to 

consider and opinions on the detailed questions vary considerably. This will establish a 

clearer evidence base of opinion and enable all the areas to be considered before further 

decisions are made. The Government will consider all responses carefully before deciding to 

how to proceed on this issue. Page 140

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings/covid-19-guidance-for-the-safe-use-of-council-buildings


TEMPLATE FRAMEWORK – NOT TO BE USED FOR SUBMISSION 
OF DRAFT ANSWERS 

 
I am copying this letter to the Mayor of London, the chairs of the Local Government 

Association and the National Association of Local Councils, as well as the Home Secretary 

and the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs in respect of other 

authorities covered by the current meetings regulations, including fire and rescue authorities, 

police and crime panels, national park authorities, the Broads Authority, and conservation 

boards.  

 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
LUKE HALL MP 

 
 

Cc. Rt Hon Priti Patel MP, Home Secretary 
Rt. Hon. George Eustice MP, Environment Secretary 
Sadiq Khan, Mayor of London 
Cllr. James Jamieson, LGA Chairman 
Cllr. Sue Baxter, NALC Chairman 
 
 
 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 142



 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 - 2020 

 

 

Page 143

Agenda Item 12



 

2 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 
2020: the year of the Covid-19 Coronavirus pandemic 

There is no doubt that 2020-2021 was a year no-one had anticipated and which had an 

enormous, lasting impact on our town, our community, our country and indeed the world. We 

could not start this annual report without saying two important things. 

Firstly, we would like to recognise and remember all those who lost their lives to the Covid-19 

pandemic. There are no words to express the depth of the loss and the sadness which we all 

feel. 

Secondly, we would like to say thank you. There are too many thankyous to list them all here, 

but we thank the NHS, the emergency services, the volunteers and neighbours, the retailers, 

the delivery drivers, those looking after our essential services, the teachers and school staff, 

the charities and organisations helping everyone deal with the overwhelming changes. At a 

local level, we would like to say a heartfelt thank you to all our residents: those who stayed at 

home, followed the rules, stopped the spread of the virus; those who helped friends, family and 

neighbours with their shopping or their prescriptions while they were shielding, isolating or 

unwell; those who donated to the food bank or the local charities supporting others.  

The Town Council is proud to have been a part of the Leighton-Linslade Covid-19 Task Force 

and recognises the incredible efforts of all involved to keep supporting our local community 

throughout this crisis. Thank you all. 

 

 

 

Page 144



 

3 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 
Foreword 

 

In my remarks in last year’s Annual Report, I said that the municipal year 2019-2020 ended 

with the country facing the worst pandemic since Spanish Flu 100 years previously and 

praised the efforts of our Staff, Members and the Community who rose to the challenge pre-

sented by Covid 19. I had not known then that 12 months later, in 2020/2021, we would still be 

dealing with the pandemic and only just beginning to see the prospect of our lives returning to 

some degree of normality.  

 

Many of our usual activities, The Big Lunch, The Canal Festival and the High Street Christmas 

events did not happen this year. However, the Council’s Services have continued thanks to the 

efforts of our dedicated staff, some having to adapt to working from home and others in greatly 

changed working conditions.  

 

The Market has continued to operate, as and when Government regulations permitted.  

TACTIC have managed to continue with their important advice and support role. Our Grounds 

Team have kept the Parks and Open Spaces up to a standard that means we now have five 

internationally recognised Green Flag Awards. In addition, there are now outdoor table tennis 

tables in Pages Park and Linslade Recreation Ground. The Council has given over £70,000 in 

grants to local organisations and charities. The first Community Awards, to recognise those un-

sung heroes in the community who have volunteered for more than 5 years to help others, 

have been presented and the new Young People Awards were launched.  

 

Our Officers and Councillors have had to adapt to remote meetings but this has allowed the 

business of the Council to proceed and has actually seen more public participation than we 

would normally expect. 

 

I can only repeat last year’s message that schemes such as the installation of an inclusive play 

area in Parson’s Close Recreation Ground and introduction of the Town Ranger Service will 

resume in 2021/2022.  

 

The Town Council will also continue to represent residents’ views to Central Bedfordshire 

Council and to work with partner organisations towards delivery of those aspirations which it 

cannot deliver alone – such as improved health services, improved sustainable transport op-

tions and redrawing of the Parish Boundary following the Boundaries Commission’s Recom-

mendations. 

 

Cllr Steve Jones – Leader – Leighton Linslade Town Council 

 

 

Page 145



 

4 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 
Preface 

Despite the current circumstances with which we are all tragically familiar, it is with a deep 

sense of pride and satisfaction that we can present the parish with this year’s Annual Report. 

The report presents us with the opportunity to celebrate those achievements that the Town 

Council has made in the service of this great community over the past 12 months. As a publicly 

accountable body, decision making rests with the 21 democratically elected Members who as 

volunteers, give freely of their time in the service of this parish. Without their support through 

the various committees they sit on, many of the projects and initiatives that we can rightly 

boast about may not have been delivered in such a timely fashion or indeed at all.  

During 2020-21, we, like the rest of the world, had to make some huge adjustments. We 

moved to holding our council and committee meetings online, worked from home, started 

holding online community and charity fundraising events, live-streamed the 2020 

Remembrance Day service and managed to hold an online Christmas Carol Concert as well as 

an online Civic Service. At the end of the year, we also managed to hold our Annual Parish 

Meeting online. To see the video we put together for that meeting, please visit the Town 

Council’s YouTube channel. 

As a Town Council, we are always striving to make improvements and we welcome your 

thoughts, comments and feedback on what we do. For those that have yet to do so, we would 

strongly urge you sign up to the bi-monthly newsletter that we produce as well as the social 

media platforms in order to receive the latest information regarding the services we provide as 

well as other useful local information. In order to enhance user experience, the Town Council 

has revamped its website in order to make it easier to navigate. The website can be found by 

visiting: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk  

If you would like to ask any questions or comment on the Annual Report or the Town Council’s 

Five-Year Plan for the period 2019-24 (which you can view on our website), please do not 

hesitate to contact us in one of the following ways: 

 

By telephone: 01525 631920 

By email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

In person or by letter: 

Mark Saccoccio, Town Clerk 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council 

The White House  

Hockliffe Street  

Leighton Buzzard 

Bedfordshire LU7 1HD

Page 146



 

4 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 
Message from the Town Mayor 

To be elected as Town Mayor in September 2020, right in the 

middle of the pandemic, was a huge honour, but has also cer-

tainly presented some challenges. I have taken those chal-

lenges and am doing my very best to continue my duties as 

Mayor, by implementing some new approaches to be able to 

continue my work.  I have also been working with other local 

Mayors to help them use some of the many approaches I 

have used in my role so far. 
 

As Chair of the Council, the most important change has been 

to embrace the use of online meetings to be able to continue 

the work of the Council. I am extremely proud of all the Mem-

bers and officers who have helped to ensure that meetings 

have been conducted to a high level of professionalism, allow-

ing the Council to continue delivering so many projects to the high standard that we have come 

to expect of our Council. 
 
By now, 6 months since becoming Mayor, I would have attended numerous events to support 

the local community and be involved in my own fundraising events. Whilst the former has been 

almost impossible, for the latter I have been able to set up a number of online fundraising initi-

atives for my three charities: Chums Charity, HomeStart Bedfordshire and Macmillan Cancer 

Care (Leighton-Linslade branch). All three charities’ fundraising has been hugely impacted this 

last year, so I am hoping that my modest efforts will go some way to alleviating the financial 

pressures that the charities are facing. The Mayor’s page on the Town Council website has all 

the details of all my latest activities and how people can get involved.  
 

As we all continue to feel the effects of the pandemic on our lives, even as we slowly emerge 

to return to a life of some normality, this new way of working will have to continue for some 

time. I will be working hard to encourage engagement with local residents; by working together 

with new ideas and improvements, we will all be helping to make our wonderful town an even 

better place to live and work. I will also be supporting the many volunteers, charities and com-

munity groups in our town as soon as Covid restrictions are eased, and of course continuing 

my fundraising efforts to help those in need.   
 

I am always happy to hear from parishioners with their comments or concerns and can be con-

tacted through the Town Council. 

 
Cllr Farzana Kharawala – Town Mayor (September 2020 – May 2022) 

Page 147



 

6 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 
Introduction 

Leighton-Linslade is the largest town in the 

administrative area of Central Bedfordshire Council.  

Historically, Leighton Buzzard has always been 

within Bedfordshire, with the area of Linslade 

transferring from Buckinghamshire in 1965. The 

parish had an estimated population of just under 

40,000 at the last census in 2011 and this continues 

to grow as further housing development takes place 

to the south and east of the town. The 

unemployment rate in Leighton-Linslade is on a par 

with the rate in Central Bedfordshire and lower than the England average. Within an hour of 

London, the town is an ideal location for commuters.  

The parish contains a number of ancient 

buildings including All Saints Church, the 

Market Cross (a scheduled ancient 

monument) and the twelfth century St. 

Mary’s Church in Old Linslade (pictured left). 

Surrounded by quarries, the town is famous 

for its high quality sand. The Narrow Gauge 

Railway and the Grand Union Canal remain 

reminders of the industrial links to the past 

and the key strategic location of the town.  

Leighton Buzzard has held a market with 

Charter status since circa 1086 and this continues to be held every Tuesday and Saturday. 

The Town Council Vision and Aims 

Vision - “A community to be proud of”.  

Aims - To ensure value for money, operational efficiency and a structure which will underpin 

current and future service delivery by the Town Council. 

To recognise and embrace the growth of our community and to seek to influence the local 

authority and partners to ensure adequate infrastructure provision.  

To promote and develop a vibrant town through partnership working and initiatives including 

management of the street market, provision of town and community promotions, town centre 

enhancements, tourism and practical support for local businesses. 

To provide great public open spaces, varied opportunities for sport and leisure and to exceed 

expectations in delivering cemetery and allotment services.  

Staff 

The Town Council currently employs a team of 40 staff (22 full-time, 18 part-time) led by the 

Town Clerk, Mark Saccoccio. The Council is entirely funded by the residents of Leighton-

Linslade through what is known as a precept on the council tax charge, and by generating 

income through services delivered.

Page 148



 

6 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 
What the Town Council is Responsible for? 

 

Decision Making Process 

• There are a total of 21 Councillors who are unpaid volunteers who sit on the various 
committees. 

• Decisions are made by committees based on the information before them. 

• In a typical year, the Town Council will host approximately 60 meetings.  

• Each standing committee will have its own budget and will be responsible for its spend.  

• Due to the Coronavirus pandemic and resulting national lockdown, the Council was unable 
to hold meetings from the period 21 March – 5 July 2020. The Council held an emergency 
meeting on 20 March and agreed a procedure by which decisions could be made – 
delegation to the Proper Officer but with Councillor consultation and input by email. A list of 
all decisions made in this way can be found on our website and all were subsequently 
formally reported back to the relevant committees. 

• From July 2020 – March 2021, the Council held all its meetings online as permitted by 
temporary legislation. This was an enormous learning curve for all concerned but proved 
an effective and inclusive process, enabling councillors, staff and members of the public to 
join meetings from the comfort and safety of their own homes, using either an internet 
enabled device or by telephone.   

Page 149



 

7 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 

P
age 150



 

8 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 
Town Council Successes During 2020-2021 

Policy & Finance Committee 

Finance and Audit 

The Town Council’s normal internal and external audit processes took place despite Covid-19 

restrictions and an unqualified opinion was given by the external auditor. The Committee 

reviewed internal control processes, updated the Council’s risk register and ensured that the 

Council had all the criteria in place to apply for re-accreditation of its Quality Gold standard.  

The Committee had the foresight to create a Covid financial reserve which meant that the 

services we were able to offer our community were not compromised despite the restrictions in 

place.  

Community Grants and Funds  

For the Town Council, the grants system is seen as a valuable and important way of financially 

supporting the work of local charities, voluntary and not-for-profit organisations. During the 

period 2020-21, grants totalling over £70,000 were made to benefit organisations such as 

Citizens Advice Leighton-Linslade, Community Action Bedfordshire, Leighton-Linslade Music 

Centre, the Leighton-Linslade Arts Forum and the Leighton-Linslade Sports Council.  

A number of smaller grants also helped organisations such as Girlguiding with the additional 

costs of trying to continue to provide their services throughout the pandemic.  

                             

Communications  

Communications have been an enormous focus this year, in particular providing key 

information to help residents during the Covid-19 pandemic. The Covid-19 information page on 

the website was our most-visited page for several months and helped signpost people to how 

they could either volunteer to help, or access help. The Council used its various platforms 

including the app, social media channels, electronic signage, About Town newsletter and 

website to provide key messages during the year. We also ran a number of lockdown 

competitions including photography, creative writing and colouring.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 151



 

10 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 
Equality Statement and Accessibility 

In January 2021, the Town Council endorsed an Equality statement which echoes that issued 

by the Local Government Association during 2020. The Council is now in the process of 

reviewing its policies and procedures to ensure it is truly inclusive.  

A related strand of this work is ensuring our website is as accessible and user-friendly as 

possible, in accordance with legislative requirements.  

Community Awards 

In January 2021, the Town Council awarded its first ever 

Community Volunteer Awards to three very worthy 

recipients: Rosemarie Gunter, Stuart Clarke and Katrina 

Boyce. The award recognises those who have 

volunteered to the benefit of the town and its residents 

for at least five years. In the case of the 2021 awards, 

those recognised have dedicated many years to 

volunteering and helping others. With lockdown firmly in 

place, the awards could not be presented at the February 

Civic Service but it is hoped that the Town Mayor will be 

able to do this in the near future. 

Civic Events 

In August 2020, following a request by the 

Royal British Legion, the Town Council agreed 

to take on the organisation of the annual Acts 

of Remembrance as a civic event – a task 

made infinitely more complicated by the 

national restrictions in place by November 

2020. 

To ensure residents could participate, the 

service from Church Square, Leighton Buzzard 

was live-streamed to social media and later 

made available via the internet. The Linslade 

service was also recorded and later made 

available to view online. The initiative was so 

well received by residents and former residents 

of the town that the Council has resolved to 

continue this practice for 2021 and onwards.  

Budget 

The advent of Covid-19 at the end of the last financial year meant that every effort was made 

to minimise any non-essential spending and therefore save money for the inevitable impact on 

the 2020-21 budget. Despite a significant loss in income during the year, the Town Council has 

been able to continue to deliver its services and to develop a budget for the coming year which 

meant no increase to the taxpayer in the Town Council’s proportion of the council tax. 

Page 152



 

11 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 
Grounds and Environmental Committee  

Impact of Covid-19 

Our parks and green spaces were a lifeline during the restrictions of 

2020-21, providing a network of places to enjoy and explore on our 

daily permitted exercise or when allowed to meet up with others 

outdoors. Like all green spaces across the country, the Council’s open 

spaces have been impacted by the significantly increased visitor 

numbers. The Grounds and Environmental Services team made every 

effort to provide a 7-day service in the parks throughout the year, 

navigating challenges such as reduced staffing capacity and 

enormously increased quantities of litter. 

We would like to thank all those residents who used the litter bins 

provided or took their litter home with them.  

  

Following the easing of lockdown 

restrictions, new capacities were 

calculated for all play areas based on 

social distancing requirements. Play areas 

have been and continue to be sprayed with 

sanitiser at least once per week. The 

spraying of play equipment has been 

extended to a neighbouring parish who 

have taken up the paid service we were 

able to provide.  

Upgraded Facilities 

Our ongoing play area refurbishment programme continued in 2020 with the refurbishment of 

the play area at Pages Park. This park is also one which has benefitted by the recent 

installation of a concrete table tennis table (along with Parson’s Close Recreation Ground, 

Linslade Recreation Ground and Linslade Memorial Playing Field).  

Green Flags 

In recognition of the quality of its parks, the Town Council 

maintained its Green Flag status for Parson’s Close 

Recreation Ground, Pages Park, Linslade Recreation Ground 

and Vandyke Road Cemetery. In addition, Linslade Memorial 

Playing Field and Garden of Remembrance was also 

awarded this coveted status bringing the total of flags held to 

5 – the highest number of any parish council in England.  

The accolades reflect the huge amount of hard work and 

commitment made by the Grounds and Environmental 

Services Team as well as the volunteers.  

Page 153



 

12 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 

Cultural & Economic Services Committee 

Community Events  

Covid-19 with its local and national restrictions meant that our 
usual annual community event programme was unable to take 
place. However, the Council moved to an innovative season of 
events which included: 

- Lighting the White House for VE Day and VJ Day 

- Replacing the popular Music in the Park 
programme with online recordings from your 
favourite brass bands 

- Creating a Living History shop trail with one 
instalment released each week over several 
weeks 

- Using the budget for the usual Christmas 
Lights switch-on event to install three  
large 3D lighting installations in the town 
centre which proved very popular with 
residents. 

 
Working with Local Businesses and Key Partners 

As a market town which prides itself on the number of 

independent retailers, the Town Council continues to do whatever 

it can to promote the town centre and local businesses. Following 

the re-opening of shops after lockdown, we launched the 

“Keeping in Local” campaign to invite shoppers back into the town 

centre. 

Market 

With the help of staff and volunteer stewards, the twice-weekly market 

was able to operate when restrictions allowed, with social distancing 

measures put in place to ensure shoppers felt safe. Permanent traders 

were supported financially with pitch fees suspended for many months.  

 

Teenage Advice and Information Centre  

The Town Council continues to invest in its much-valued 

Teenage Advice and Information Centre, located in Hockliffe 

Street. In addition to offering an informal venue for young people 

to drop in and hang out, the team offers one to one support and guidance, signposting to other 

sources of help where needed. The TACTIC team adapted in 2020 to offer advice and support 

by telephone and online, provide pre-scheduled distanced appointments and even, and in 

place of the usual Christmas lunch for older people, 50 Christmas hampers for older residents 

were put together and delivered in the parish.  

Page 154



 

13 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 

Partnership Working 

Community Safety  

The Town Council continues to work in partnership with other agencies and organisations to 

promote community safety in our town and supports the work of the local volunteer-led Watch 

schemes. Alongside regular partnership working with Central Bedfordshire Council and 

Bedfordshire Police, the Town Council has invested in a number of initiatives aimed at keeping 

young people engaged and off the streets. Next year is likely to see further investment with 

replacement of the existing CCTV cameras in the town’s parks, aimed at deterring crime and 

antisocial behaviour, to new digital technology. The ability to watch real time footage will be of 

considerable benefit to the enforcement agencies.  

Planning and Transport 

As a consultee, the Town Council continues to review all planning applications submitted 

within the parish and to pass on all comments to the planning authority, Central Bedfordshire 

Council, through the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee. The committee has 

made representations on a number of planning applications, which, whilst outside the parish 

boundary,  are considered to have a detrimental and meaningful impact on the parish. This 

committee also highlights local traffic and transport issues to the local authority including 

concerns regarding traffic flow, car parking, commuter parking, public transport and cycling – 

a particular focus for the Council and wider community following the adoption of the revised 

Green Wheel Strategy and the launch of the Government’s Gear Change cycling strategy. 

Through its budget, the Planning and Transport Committee has also purchased the newly 

erected bus stops on West Street. As parish assets, the bus stops can either remain in-situ or 

indeed be moved elsewhere.  

Health Services 

In recognition of the ever- increasing demands on local health services following housing 

growth, the Council formed a Health Services Task and Finish Group during 2019-2020. With 

the enormous challenges facing the NHS during 2020-21, this forum was only able to meet 

once but continues to provide a mechanism to engage with those parties key to delivering 

local health services including the GP practices, Central Bedfordshire Council and the 

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group.  

Boundary Review 

The Town Council has reviewed and responded to proposals put forward by the Local 

Government Boundary Commission for England in respect of Central Bedfordshire electoral 

wards and continues to press for the principal authority to undertake a community governance 

review in relation to the eastern urban extension, much of which currently falls into a 

neighbouring parish. 

 

 

  

Page 155



 

14 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 

Partnership Committee 

The Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee comprises 5 Town Councillors and 5 Central 

Bedfordshire Councillors, with involvement from local business and community groups. The 

committee has explored numerous issues over the last year including homelessness, health 

services, taxis, highways, cycling and green infrastructure and education. A particular focus 

has been the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the town centre and the town’s 

businesses. The Committee, funded by the Town Council, has supported the development of 

an online business directory and a digital retail portal for independent businesses. The 

temporary pedestrianisation of the High Street, implemented to support social distancing and 

improve safety during the pandemic, has also been a focus since its implementation in 2020.  

Working Parties 

The Town Council formed a number of Task and Finish Groups during 2020-21. These are 

small working parties, usually with a six-month lifespan, tasked with investigating specific 

areas and making recommendations back to the parent committee. These included: 

Grounds & Environment Committee 

Concessions Task and Finish Group 

Policy & Finance Committee 

Standing Orders Review Task and Finish Group 

Cultural & Economic Committee 

Older Persons Task and Finish Group 

Living History Task and Finish Group 

Partnership Committee 

Land South of the High Street Task and Finish Group 

Most Task and Finish Groups resulted in agreed actions by committee and their work is 

therefore completed. A particularly successful group was the Older Persons Task and 

Finish Group which resulted in a suite of activities being agreed to support those aged 55 

up.  The group has now become a Sub-Committee which will take forward this programme of 

work over the next year, with projects designed to help address issues such as loneliness 

and digital awareness.  

Town Council Membership 

There were two changes to the membership of the Town Council during 2019-2020. 

Councillor J D’Este-Hoare resigned in February 2020 due to relocating. A by-election for 

St.George’s ward was called but has been delayed, due to the pandemic, until 6 May 2021. 

Councillor C Chambers resigned in October 2020 due to other commitments. A by-election 

was not called and the Council invited applications to be co-opted onto the Council. At a 

special meeting held on 1 February 2021, 10 candidates were considered and Robert Yates 

was co-opted to become a Town Councillor until the next scheduled local elections in May 

2023.  

Page 156



 

15 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 

    BUDGET OUT-TURN 2020-2021 

     

  £ £ £ 

  Gross  Net  

  

Expendi-
ture Income 

Expendi-
ture 

     

DIRECT SERVICES TO THE PUBLIC     

     

     

 
Community Projects     
 
Grants and Donations     
 
Tactic Youth Centre     
 
Grounds & Environmental Services     
 
Community Services     

     

Use of Reserves     

     

DEMOCRATIC, CIVIC AND CENTRAL 
COSTS     

     

Central Costs     
 
The White House     
 
Democratic Costs      
 
Other Costs and Income     

        

     

     

Annual Precept                    

Precept Support Grant    

                   
-  

     

Transfers (to)/from Earmarked Reserves     

     

Net Surplus (Deficit) for the year     

 

 

 

Page 157



 

16 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021 

 

Projects for 2021-2022 

 
 

Cultural and Economic Services 

Delivery of older persons’ projects with a focus on digital inclusion. 

Partnership Committee’s Community Forum consultation with Young People. 

Adapted community events programme to reflect Covid-19 requirements. 

New Christmas lights contract. 

Review of how the town’s history is celebrated. 

 

Grounds and Environmental Services 

Inclusive adventure playground in Parson’s Close Recreation Ground. 

Town Ranger Service. 

New fairer pricing at pavilions including discounts for not for profit groups. 

Play area resurfacing programme. 

New interpretation signage in the town parks. 

 

Central and Democratic Services 

The future of meetings following Covid-19. 

Live streaming of Remembrance Day services. 

Social media security audit. 

Policy review, particularly in relation to equality and diversity. 

Mid-term review of the Council’s Five Year Plan and Objectives. 

 

Partnership, Planning and Transport 

The future of the High Street after the current temporary pedestrianisation. 

Increased focus on Section 106 developer monies: projects and expenditure. 

Progressing the Green Wheel action plan for the town. 

The projects below have been endorsed by the Council and its various 

committees.  Council operations have been significantly impacted by the 

global COVID-19 pandemic. It may be the case that some anticipated 

projects are delayed as a result of this. 

 

Page 158



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 1 of 11 

 
SECTION 92 GRANT 

 
 

Agreement between  
 

The Chief Constable for Bedfordshire  
 

and 
 

 Leighton-Linslade Town Council 
  

Agreement Reference Number - Op Dodford 
 

for 
 

Provision of a Police Act 1996 Section 92 Grant 
 

 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated 31st March 2021 and made between 
 

(1) Leighton-Linslade Town Council, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton 
Buzzard, Bedfordshire LU7 1HD (hereinafter referred to as “LLTC”) 
 

and 
 

(2) The Chief Constable for Bedfordshire, Police Headquarters, Woburn Road, 
Kempston, Bedford MK43 9AX (hereinafter referred to as “Chief Constable”). 
 
 

1 Definitions 
 

1.1 The following definitions shall apply within this Agreement. 
 

a ‘PCC’ means ‘The Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Bedfordshire 
 

b ‘LLTC’ means ‘Leighton-Linslade Town Council’. 
 

c ‘AGREEMENT’ means this Agreement document construed as one 
instrument. 
 

Page 159

Agenda Item 13



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 2 of 11 

d ‘DULY 
AUTHORISED 
OFFICER’ 

means any person authorised by either party to act on 
their respective behalf for the purposes of the Agreement 
or any order. 
 

e ‘SERVICES’ means the services set out  in the service level Schedule. 

f ‘POLICE OFFICER’ means a Police Officer of Bedfordshire Police   
 

g 
 

‘CHIEF 
CONSTABLE’ 

means the Chief Constable of Bedfordshire Police 
 

h ‘POLICE STAFF’ means  a member of the staff employed by Bedfordshire 
Police 

i 
 
 
j 

‘PCSO’ 
 
 
‘GDPR’ 

means a member of the staff employed by Bedfordshire 
Police as a Police Community Support Officer. 
 
means EU General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 

   
 
2  Principle Objectives of This Agreement  
 
2.1 The following Grant Agreement has been drafted between Chief Constable and LLTC 

with the primary aim and principle objective of providing the Chief Constable with a 
funding grant from LLTC for the provision of additional chargeable policing services.  

 
 The purposes of this Agreement are: - 
 

a) to govern the relationship between Chief Constable and LLTC in relation to each 
party’s responsibilities,  

 
b) provide a clear understanding of the duties of each party in relation to the 

contributions to this Agreement. 
 
 
3 Grants by local authorities – Section 92 of the Police Act 1996 
 
3.1   This Agreement is made pursuant of Section 92 of the Police Act 1996 (as amended).   
 
3.2   Section 92 (2) of the Police Act allows the council of a county, district, county borough, 

London borough, parish or community to make grants to any police and crime 
commissioner whose police area falls wholly or partly within the council’s area.   

 
3.3 Section 92 (3) states that grants under this section may be made unconditionally or, 

with the agreement of the chief officer of police for the police force concerned, subject 
to conditions. 

 
3.4  In this grant agreement, grants made under Section 92 are made conditionally that: 
 

a) The claims against the grant agreement are made for policing in the LLTC area 
b) The total claims do not exceed the maximum grant agreement specified in 

Appendix B.  
 
 

Page 160



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 3 of 11 

4  Duration of this Agreement 
 
4.1 This Agreement shall be for a period of 12 months commencing on the 1st day of April 

2021. 
 
 
5  Prices 
 
5.1 The prices charged shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement.  All 

prices shall be in pounds sterling. 
 

5.2 The prices under this agreement will remain static throughout the duration of the 
agreement. 

 
 
6  Inducements 
 
6.1 If LLTC or any person employed by or acting on their behalf in relation to this 

Agreement with the Chief Constable; 
 

a) offers or gives or agrees to give to any person any gift or consideration of any 
kind as an inducement or reward for doing or forbearing to do or for having done 
or forborne to do any action or for showing or forbearing to show favour or 
disfavour to any person, or 

 
b)  commits any offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916, 

Bribery Act 2010 or any enactment replacing or amending those Acts, or 
 
c) gives any fee or reward the receipt of which is an offence under the Local 

Government Act 1972 or any enactment  replacing or amending that Act, 
 
 then the Chief Constable shall be entitled to terminate the Agreement.   
 
 
7 Disclaimer  
 
7.1 This Agreement is not an endorsement of any LLTC products or services.  All 

advertising and merchandising material will denote this.  Under no circumstances, shall 
any of the Constabularies or PCC’s crests, logo’s or name appear on any promotional 
literature, including leaflets, videos, posters etc., unless prior authorisation has been 
approved in writing by the PCC. 

 
 
8 Law 
 
8.1  This Agreement is to be constructed and enforced in accordance with English Law and 

is subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts to which the parties hereto 
submit.  This clause shall not prevent any party from seeking interim relief in any court 
of competent jurisdiction. 

 
 

Page 161



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 4 of 11 

9 Indemnity 
 
9.1 LLTC shall indemnify and hold indemnified any member of staff, Police Officers and 

Police Community Support Officers working in relation to this Agreement against any 
act of negligence, damage or injury for when LLTC is responsible, howsoever such 
damage or injury shall arise. 

 
 
10 Insurance 
 
10.1 LLTC shall arrange adequate insurance to cover the liability referred to in Clause 9.  

LLTC shall on request by Chief Constable or PCC produce proof of the existence, 
adequacy and currency of such insurance policies.  In this respect, LLTC will be 
required to hold insurance cover by means of a Public Liability Policy to a minimum of 
£5,000,000 for any one occurrence. 

 
 
11 Compliance with Laws and Regulations 
 
11.1 LLTC shall in carrying out the terms of the Agreement comply with the provisions of 

the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, the regulations concerning the Control of 
Substances Hazardous to Health, the bye-laws and regulations in force within the 
revised Police District boundaries of Bedfordshire Police and all other material laws 
and regulations.  LLTC shall indemnify Chief Constable and PCC against any breaches 
and any proceedings in respect of any such laws and or regulations.  LLTC shall give 
any notices and obtain any licences, permissions or permits required by law to enable 
the Agreement to be performed. 

 
 
12  Precedence 
 
12.1 These conditions and any attachments hereto take precedence over any additional or 

different terms and conditions, to which notice of objection is hereby given. 
 
12.2 These conditions, together with any attachments in connection with the Agreement 

constitute the entire understanding between the parties and supersede any previous 
communications, representations or Agreements, whether oral or written.  No change 
to any of these conditions shall be valid or binding on either party unless in writing and 
signed by a Duly Authorised Officer of each party. 

 
 
13 Contracts (Rights of the Third Parties) Act 1999 
 
13.1 This Agreement shall not create any rights that shall be enforceable by anyone other 

than the parties to this Agreement.  
 
 
14 Termination of the Agreement 
 
14.1 Both parties may at any time terminate this Agreement in its entirety, without 

compensation, liability and without prejudice to any rights previously accrued.  
 

Page 162



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 5 of 11 

14.2 Notice of termination must be in writing signed by a Duly Authorised Officer of either 
party, giving no less than one calendar month’s notice.  The notice shall be served by 
first class post to the address set out in the definitions of this Agreement. 

 
 
15 Confidentiality 
 
15.1 LLTC shall not without the written consent of Chief Constable during the Agreement 

period or at any time thereafter make use of/for his own purposes or disclose to any 
person (except as may be required by law), the Agreement documents or any 
information contained therein or in any material provided to the LLTC by Chief 
Constable pursuant to the Agreement or prepared by the Contractor pursuant to the 
Agreement, all of which information shall be deemed to be confidential. 

 
15.2 The LLTC shall neither dispose of nor part with possession of any confidential material 

provided to the LLTC by the pursuant to the Agreement; other than in accordance with 
the express written instructions of Chief Constable. 

 
15.3 The LLTC shall not and shall ensure that his employees do not divulge to any third 

party any information which comes into their possession in the course of providing the 
service or goods. 

 
15.4 Chief Constable and PCC cannot sign up to confidentiality clauses. 
 
 
16 The Freedom of Information Act 2000 
 
16.1 The Chief Constable is a corporation sole and PCC is a public authority to which the 

Freedom of Information Act 2000, The Environmental Information Regulations 2004 
and the Code of Practice on Access to Government Information (2nd edition) applies. 
The Chief Constable and PCC are obliged to consider written requests for information 
from members of the public and must disclose the requested information unless an 
exemption is available under the Act or Regulations. In response to a request for 
information (including information provided by LLTC in the course of this tendering 
exercise), the Chief Constable and/or PCC may be required to confirm or deny they 
hold information and communicate the information to the applicant. 

 
16.2  Chief Constable and/or PCC must respond to requests for information by the 20th 

working day after the request is received and, whilst Chief Constable/PCC may consult 
with you (but will not necessarily do so) about specific requests, any such consultation 
will have to be completed within a very short timescale.  Accordingly, LLTC must 
consider whether any of the information supplied (or relating to LLTC) in this tendering 
exercise falls within one or more of the exemptions contained in Part II of the Freedom 
of Information Act 2000. If you do consider any such exemption to exist, then LLTC 
must set out for Chief Constable/PCC in detail, at the earliest opportunity (preferably 
when providing the information) the particular information to which any exemption 
applies and the specific grounds for contending that the exemption exists. 

 
16.3 LLTC must provide Chief Constable / PCC with all reasonable assistance and co-

operation to enable it to comply with any requests for information received under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 within the prescribed time limits. 

 

Page 163



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 6 of 11 

16.4 LLTC must take any necessary legal advice in relation to the operation of the Freedom 
of Information Act 2000 at the earliest opportunity. 

 
16.5 No liability shall arise on the part of Chief Constable/ PCC in respect of the disclosure 

of any information by it in proper compliance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
 
16.6 The Chief Constable and PCC do not intend to divulge any personal data for non-law 

enforcement purposes, outside of European Justice / Home Affairs measures and 
undertake compliance with the EU General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 
(GDPR) & EU Data Protection Directive 2016/680 (‘Law Enforcement Directive’). 

 
17 Racial Discrimination and Equality of Opportunity 
 
17.1 The Chief Constable shall, in the course of providing the Services under this 

Agreement comply in all material respects with the provisions of appropriate 
employment and equality laws and regulations and will indemnify LLTC against any 
claims that may be brought in respect of breaches by the Chief Constable.  These will 
include, but not limited to: 

- The Race Relations Act 1976, as amended by the Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000  

- The Race Relations Act (Amendment) Regulations 2003  

- Employment Equality (Religion or Belief) Regulations 2003  

- Disability Discrimination Act 1995  

- Equal Pay Act 1970 (Amendment) Regulations 2003  

- Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2003 

- Sex Discrimination Act 1975 (Amendment) Regulations 2003  

- Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2003  

- The Equality Act 2006  

- Age Discrimination Act – (October 2006) 

- The Equality Act 2010 

- Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

- EU General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 

- EU General Data Protection Regulation 2016/680 
 

 
  

Page 164



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 7 of 11 

APPENDIX A  

 
OBLIGATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF Chief Constable 

 
Under this Agreement, Chief Constable shall be responsible for the provision of the following.  
 
1.1 Provision of services up to a value of £40,000 the delivery of this service between 1st 

April 2021 and 31st March 2022. 
 
1.2 Delivery of targeted policing services during the course of the agreement, as required. 
 
1.3 Policing services may not necessarily be delivered on a demand basis, rather than 

time basis, within the provisions of 1.1 above.  
 
1.4 PCC will through the local Community Policing Team, will task an officer with rank of 

Sergeant or above to attend the monthly meeting of the Combating Crime Working 
Group (when held) and every other month deliver a written report to LLTC, allowing 
Community Consultation and direction for changes in targeted policing for the 
following month(s) or remainder of the contract. This report will be augmented by a 
breakdown of policing services delivered under this agreement, for the previous 
month. 

 
1.5 Services under this agreement are to be delivered through the use of Police Officers 

of the rank Police Constable or Police Sergeant or PCSOs, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing. 

 
1.6 The PCC does not charge for transporting Police Officers, Police Community Support 

Officers, Special Constables and Police Staff, where vehicles are utilised that have 
more than 8 seats and as such might become subject to the provisions of the Public 
Passenger Vehicles Act 1981.  

  

Page 165



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 8 of 11 

APPENDIX B  

 
OBLIGATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF LLTC 

  
Under this Agreement, LLTC shall be responsible for the following. 
 
1.1 Payment for services up to a value of £40,000 between 1st April  2021 and 31st March 

2022. 
 
1.2 Delivery of direction to target policing services during the course of the agreement, as 

required. First direction is expected in April 2021, with the Local Policing Team using 
best judgement to determine services delivered prior to the first direction being 
received. 

 
1.3 Establishment of a Combating Crime Working Party to receive reports from the PCC 

and deliver direction for targeted policing services. 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 166



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 9 of 11 

APPENDIX C  

 
CHARGING SCHEDULE 

 
Charges rates for Police Services under Section 25 for 1st April 2021 through 31st March 2022 
shall be as follows. 
 

Uniform 
and 
CID 

Full Economic 
Cost 

Hourly Rate 
£ 

Abated Cost 
Hourly Rate 

 
£ 

Sergeant £80.46 £46.75 

Constable £70.45 £39.98 

Special Constable £35.80 £20.54 

PCSO £47.05 £22.77 

 
Charges for Special Police Services under Operation DODFORD will be charged at the 
abated rate, following the approval from the Chief Constable. 
 
Payment 
 
The PCC shall submit an invoice to LLTC in arrears, in respect of any payment due under 
this Agreement.  
 

Payment Account Details 
Account Name The PCC for Bedfordshire Income Account 

Account Number 51866978 

Sort Code 60-02-13 

Recipient Bank National Westminster Bank, 81 High Street, Bedford, MK40 1YN 

 
Payment shall be sent to Bedfordshire Police, Finance Department, Woburn Road, 
Kempston, Bedford MK43 9AX within 21 (twenty one) days from the date of invoice. 
 
 
 

Page 167



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 10 of 11 

APPENDIX D  

 
TIME LOG SHEET 

 

The following log sheet shall be completed and acknowledged by a duly authorised signatory 
of Bedfordshire Police.  
 

Agreement Reference………………………………………… 
 

Police Officers Name…………………………………………. 
 

Collar Number…………………………………………………. 
 

Date  Start   Finish  Hours 
worked  

Patrols/Duties  
Undertaken 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

Total Hours worked   
 
 

Signature …………………………………………… (Police Officer) 
 
 

Countersigned …………………………………….. (Bedfordshire Police) Supervisor 

Page 168



Commercial in Confidence  

 
RESTRICTED CONTRACTS (WHEN COMPLETED) 

Page 11 of 11 

APPENDIX E  

 
AGREEMENT ACCEPTANCE – OPERATION DODFORD 

 
The following information is to be completed by Chief Constable. 
 

 
Signed  ………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
Name (Block Capitals)  STUART GOODWIN 
In the capacity of  SENIOR ACCOUNTANT 
 
Duly Authorised to sign Agreement for and on behalf of: 
 
    The Chief Constable for Bedfordshire 
    Police Headquarters 
    Woburn Road 
    Kempston 
    Bedford  MK43 9AX 
 
Telephone     01234-842334 
 
Dated     31/3/ 2021 
 

 
The following information is to be completed by LLTC. 
 

 
Signed  ………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 

Name (Block Capitals)  
In the capacity of:    
 
 

Duly Authorised to sign Agreement for and on behalf of:  
 

    Leighton-Linslade Town Council 
    The White House 
    Hockliffe Street 
    Leighton Buzzard 
    Bedfordshire  LU5 5EY 
 

Telephone    01525-631913 
 
Dated                              …./…../ 2021 

 
Signature of this Agreement constitutes acceptance of the Agreement and its 
conditions. 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 170



   

Page 87 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 27 JANUARY 2021 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:  Councillors   J M Freeman – in the Chair  
    A Dodwell 
    G Perham 
         C Palmer (substituting for K Cursons) 
    D Bowater 
    J Silverstone 
    D Scott 
    F Kharawala 
    S Owen 
                

          Also in attendance:    M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)  
    S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
    Services) 
    Cllr T Morris  
            

 Members of the public:         4  
 
  

162/P     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor K Cursons (substituted 
by Councillor C Palmer). 
 

163/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
 
Councillor M Freeman declared a personal interest in the London Luton Airport 
consultation due to a family member being employed by a related organisation. 
 

164/P QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 

Three members of the public spoke in reference to the consultation by London 
Luton Airport on the flight path for arrivals into Luton. 
 
Mr J Sharp, representing the Leighton Buzzard Society and Mr D Godfrey, 
representing PAIN, advised that their preference of the two arrival flight paths for 
easterly operations was option one, as this would mean that aircraft would be 
more widely dispersed when compared to option 2. At peak times, the regular 
use of tightly defined routes as set out in option 2 has the propensity to cause 
greater noise disturbance to those residents who find themselves living within 
the option 2 routes.  
 
Concerns were expressed about the potential for overflying of the town centre 
and resultant noise pollution.  
 

Page 171

Agenda Item 14



Planning and Transport Committee  6 JANUARY 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  88 

Members of the public were thanked for attending the meeting to speak on this 
matter.    

   
165/P MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held on 6 January 2021. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 6 January 2021 be approved as a correct record and would 
be signed at a later date, when safe to do so. 

 
166/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

The Committee reviewed applications received up until 22 January 2021. 
 
Discussion took place regarding application reference CB/20/03644/PADO (67B 
North Street). Due to the application type, the Committee was unclear as to 
whether refusal was possible but agreed that the comments should be submitted.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Befordshire Council that 
consideration be given to the potential future impact on established town 
centre businesses and car parking provision when considering application 
reference CB/20/03644/PADO (67B North Street).  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following planning applications: 

 
1. CB/20/04766   SAXONS SLADE, 148 PLANTATION RD 
2. CB/20/04738   7 LYWOOD ROAD 
3. CB/21/00059   71 BLENHEIM ROAD 
4. CB/21/00035   THE SECURE STORE GROVEBURY RD 
5. CB/20/04755   301 HEATH ROAD 
6. CB/21/00097   31 MALVERN DRIVE, LINSLADE 
7. CB/21/00107   16 CARLTON GROVE 
8. CB/21/00074   30 ST LEONARDS CLOSE 
9. CB/21/00034   9 NEWTON WAY 
10. CB/21/00153   CH 5 WAREHOUSE LEIGHTON IND PRK 

BILLINGTON RD 
DOC 
1. CB/20/04729/DOC  LOCAL CENTRE, CHAMBERLAINS BARN 
LDCE 

           CB/21/00013/LDCE   82 GIBSON DRIVE 
LB 
1. CB/20/04697/LB   14 MARKET SQUARE 

 

167/P TRANSPORT MATTERS  
  
 The Committee received a report and watched a brief video presentation in 

respect of the London Luton Airport consultation on two possible options for 
management of incoming flights to Luton on an easterly route. The Committee 
agreed this was a complex technical matter, but that spreading out the potential 

Page 172



Planning and Transport Committee  6 JANUARY 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  89 

noise impact over different areas would be fairest and would help safeguard 
quality of life for residents. It was noted that proposed option 2 would allow Air 
Traffic Control to prioritise flights where appropriate, for example those meeting 
connecting onward flights at Luton.  

 
 RESOLVED to delegate to the Town Clerk authority to draft a response to 

the consultation, to be circulated to Committee members for comment and 
approval prior to submission.  

 
 168/P INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

(a) The Committee was advised that Central Bedfordshire Council had recently 
launched a “Fix my Street” app to allow residents to report faults and receive 
feedback. This had been tested by the Committee Chair with a quick response 
from the local authority. 
 
(b) The Committee was advised that a planning application to install mobile 
homes just outside the parish was generating local comment. It was noted that 
commenting on a planning application outside the parish, without having been 
invited to take part in a consultation, was outside the terms of reference of the 
Committee. However, individual Councillors might wish to review the application 
and respond if they felt it appropriate to do so. 

 
RESOLVED to note the information.  

 
 

 
The meeting closed at 2040 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD 27 JANUARY 2021. 

 
 
 
 

Chair                   17 FEBRUARY 2021 

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 174



Leighton-Linslade 
Partnership Committee 
 
 
 
 

 
 

37 
 
 

Town Clerk: Mark Saccoccio, 01525 631920 
info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk    
www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council and  
Central Bedfordshire Council working in 
partnership  

 

 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF LEIGHTON LINSLADE PARTNERSHIP 

COMMITTEE 
HELD REMOTELY VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS ON THURSDAY  

4 FEBRUARY 2021 

Present: Councillors  C Palmer – LLTC  A Dodwell – CBC (joined  
       19:52) 

  T Morris – LLTC (Chair) V Harvey - CBC 
  S Hemmings - LLTC G Perham – CBC 
  S Owen - LLTC  (substituting for R Berry) 
  F Kharawala -LLTC E Wallace - CBC    
       

Also in attendance M Saccoccio, Town Clerk 
  V Cannon, Head of Cultural & Economic Services 

 S Hughes, Community Engagement Manager, Central 
Bedfordshire Council 

 S Sandiford, Head of Democratic and Central Services 
 S Hughes, Community Engagement Manager, Central 

Bedfordshire Council) 
 M Jahn, Committee Officer 
 G Borelli, Chair, LB First 
 T Humber, Community Forum, part meeting 
 S. Lakin, Strategic Transport Manager, CBC 
 B Chandler, LB Connect 
 J Gelder, Community Action Bedfordshire 
 T Keaveney, Housing Solutions, CBC 
 C Gurney, Head of Housing Solutions, CBC 
 Cllr A Gray 
   

           Members of the Public:  3 
 
 

83/LLP APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor R Berry (substituted by 
Councillor G Perham), Councillor B Spurr and Councillor T Stock. Councillor A 
Dodwell had advised she might be late due to another meeting.  

 

Page 175



 

38 

84/LLP DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those interests, 

which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
 
 Councillor V Harvey declared a personal interest as a member of South Bedfordshire 

Friends of the Earth. 
 

  85/LLP QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 MINUTES PER PERSON; MAXIMUM 15 
MINUTES)  

 
 A question was raised regarding the cost and method of car parking charges. Only 

cards could be used for a minimum of 5 hours parking at a cost of £3.50. There was 
no option to use a card for a lesser period of time - only cash could be used, which 
caused inconvenience and annoyance to shoppers if they only wanted to park for a 
short time.  

 
 Two members of Local Living Streets Group spoke to raise their concerns regarding 

the future of the temporary pedestrianisation of the High Street.  There was no clear 
vision on how this would progress and until the COVID restrictions were lifted, the 
closure could not be fully assessed as to the pros and cons of the pedestrianisation.  
Consideration should be given to what the High Street would look like in the future 
with more opportunity for cyclists and pedestrians and the provision of outdoor 
seating for cafes and restaurants, free of cars, with a greener environment with trees 
and plants being added to enhance the area.   

 
 This was a big subject and the residents of the town should be involved in decisions  

once the restrictions had been lifted and all shops could hopefully begin trading again 
and a true vision could be laid out for the future of the High Street. 

 
 The members of the public were thanked for attending the meeting and invited to stay 

and listen to discussions on pedestrianisation later in the agenda. 
  

86/LLP  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 

(a) The Committee received the draft minutes of the Partnership Committee 
meeting held on 10 December 2020.  The attendee list would be updated as J Gelder, 
Community Action Bedfordshire had been omitted from the list.  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Partnership Committee meeting held on 10 
December 2020 be approved as a correct record and would be signed at a later 
date, when safe to do so.   
 
(b) Significant discussion took place on the content of the previous meeting 
minutes and the outcomes of actions discussed at the Committee meeting.  
 
The Committee was advised that following discussion about procedure at Central 
Bedfordshire Council, it had been agreed that actions arising from joint committee 
meetings would be passed on to the Monitoring Officer, Mr S Rix, to then be taken 
forward to the appropriate Central Bedfordshire Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Page 176



 

39 

S Hughes advised that a report confirming the new process would be brought back 
to the committee in April.  
 
A comment was made regarding the content of the minutes and the lack of specific 
agreed actions, timescales and outcomes so that Councillors could be advised on 
what would take place following the meeting. It was confirmed that the minutes were 
not a verbatim record of the meeting but a record of resolutions and 
recommendations agreed by the committee by vote.  Every effort was made to 
include a relevant amount of context in meeting minutes but any resolutions, 
recommendations or actions to follow outside the meeting could only be included in 
the minutes if they had been clearly stated and agreed by the committee, during the 
meeting.   
 
A number of specific queries were raised and discussed. 

 
Minute ref 73/LLP (Parking Strategy): It was noted that several councillors had raised 
parking issues at the previous meeting but no specific outcome had been agreed or 
progressed.  A suggestion was made by Councillor Perham to move Parking Issues 
to the Town Council’s Planning & Transport Committee as this met every three weeks 
and was therefore perhaps able to pass on parking issues to the local authority more 
quickly. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to the Town Council’s Planning and Transport 
Committee that consideration be given to how to seek action from the local 
authority on the parking and enforcement issues raised at the December 
meeting of the Partnership Committee. 
 
Minutes ref 74/LLP Schools for the Future – a question was raised regarding when 
Leighton-Linslade parents would be consulted by the local authority over the Schools 
for the Future proposals. 
 
Minute ref 75/LLP (Informal Town Centre Members’ Group Introduction and Update). 
Following the decision at the previous meeting to establish a formal South Side Task 
and Finish Group, Councillor Palmer advised that one meeting had taken place and 
another was scheduled, with a particular focus on the possible development of a 
community facility. It was hoped that there would be further information to report back 
to the April committee meeting.  

 
Minute ref 76/LLP (Partnership Project List): it was noted that this item and S.106 
developer contributions were new additions to the Committee work plan and 
clarification was needed on how they would be taken forward, as there was no 
mention of this in the minutes. It was advised that both items would be factored in to 
the committee work plan so that further discussion would take place by committee at 
the appropriate future meetings. 
 
Minute ref 77/LLP (Interim CBC Update Report):  Councillor Owen asked for an 
answer to his question from the previous meeting regarding whether there was a way 
of controlling the queueing of taxis the number of taxis in the High Street, whether 
there was a maximum number of taxis which should be queueing and whether Central 
Bedfordshire Council had any control over the cleanliness of taxis,  whether there 

Page 177



 

40 

was any limit to how many licenses were issued by CBC and whether taxis were 
regularly inspected for cleanliness.  Sarah Hughes, CBC, would follow this up and 
get back to Committee. 

 
It was confirmed the Town Clerk had spoken to Inspector Gurr, Bedfordshire Police, 
regarding taxis idling engines and Inspector Gurr confirmed the police would follow 
this up. 
 
A further concern was raised regarding the pedestrianisation of the High Street and 
that actions promised in summer 2020 had not been completed (installation of 
benches, clarification on management of planters and supply of extra keys for the 
bollard installed at the bottom of the High Street).  A suggestion was made to write to 
the relevant Portfolio Holder or the Chief Executive of Central Bedfordshire Council 
to ensure action was taken on these points. 
 
RESOLVED to write to Central Bedfordshire Council regarding the delay in 
completion of the agreed actions promised in relation to the temporary 
pedestrianisation of the High Street (provision of benches, management of 
planters and provision of additional bollard keys). 

   

87/LLP HIGH STREET PEDESTRIANISATION UPDATE  

 

(a) The Committee received a verbal update from Steve Lakin of Central 

Bedfordshire Council on the revised timescales for reviewing the experimental traffic 

regulation order closing the High Street to traffic.   

 

Mr Lakin confirmed the Experimental Traffic Regulation Order could only stay in force 

for 18 months and during this time it would be monitored and assessed.   At the end 

of the 18-month period, the ETRO could be allowed to lapse or be made permanent.  

It was further clarified that any formal objections about the ETRO needed to be 

submitted within six months of the start date.  

 

The ETRO had last been amended on 30 September 2020 so any formal objections 

would need to be submitted by 30 March 2021 and if not further amended, the end 

date for the ETRO would be 30 March 2022.  As this was a temporary order, no 

permanent changes would be made to road markings and options would be 

considered on the impact on surrounding roads and whether other restrictions could 

be implemented, for example timed restriction, taxi parking and changes to bus 

routes.   

 

At the end of March 2022 this order would end and if needed, another could be put 

in place. With Bedfordshire firstly in tier 4 restrictions from December and then subject 

to the national lockdown since January, the High Street was not currently operating 

normally and it was considered too early to consult with the public until COVID 

restrictions had been lifted and “normal” shopping habits resumed.   

 

 RESOLVED to note the information.   

 

Page 178



 

41 

(b) The Committee received and considered a report from Councillor Owen 

proposing that CBC and LLTC undertake jointly to organise a consultation to take 

place into whether the pedestrianisation would become permanent and to ensure that 

the town had a voice in this decision. 

 

A proposal was made by Councillor Owen for the local authority to produce a well-

prepared document that set out options for the post-COVID permanent use of the 

High Street, with benefits and disbenefits carefully assessed, along with a plan for a 

thorough and wide-reaching consultation with the public and all other stakeholders.  

Following discussion, the motion was seconded and put to the vote. The resolution 

was passed (6 for, 3 against). 

   

RESOLVED that Central Bedfordshire Council be requested to produce a well-

prepared document setting out options for the post-covid permanent usage of 

the High Street, with benefits and disbenefits carefully assessed, along with a 

plan for a thorough consultation with the public and other stakeholders. 

 

Councillor Harvey asked whether any further amendments could be made to the 

ETRO before the objection deadline of 30 March 2021 to improve access to the High 

Street for disabled people and bus users. Mr S Lakin advised that specific 

recommendations as to how the ETRO might be modified would need to be made. 

For example, was it being suggested that blue badge holders should be allowed 

vehicular access to the High Street.  As the Partnership Committee would not meet 

again until April, it was agreed that the Town Council’s Planning and Transport 

Committee be asked to consider this matter further.  

 

RESOLVED to request that the Town Council’s Planning and Transport 

Committee give consideration to making recommendations to Central 

Bedfordshire Council regarding possible modifications to the ETRO currently 

in place for the High Street, to improve access for disabled people and bus 

users, before 30 March 2021.  

 

88/LLP HOMELESSNESS/BLACK HORSE AND FOOD BANKS  

 

 The Committee received and considered an update from Charlotte Gurney and Tony 
Keaveney on Central Bedfordshire Council’s Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Plan from 1 April 2020 to 31 December 2020.      

 

During the time when the pandemic and first lockdown began, a campaign was set 

up called ‘everyone in’ where CBC had offered accommodation to all known rough 

sleepers. Since the 23rd March 2020, accommodation has been offered to 93 

individuals who were either rough sleeping or at risk of rough sleeping and 44 of them 

had been supported into long term accommodation.  During the first lockdown it had 

been found that approximately 70% of approaches had come from single persons, 

with the main reason being eviction by family/friends. Once restrictions eased it was 

felt that more families would find themselves without housing as landlords would start 

to take eviction action.  As the eviction ban has remained in place, the Housing 

Page 179



 

42 

Service was still anticipating this increased demand from families.  To enable a 

joined-up response to rough sleeping, services had formed a Tasking Group so they 

could pool resources and work together to offer a better service and a greater 

understanding of the support needed for those threatened with homelessness and for 

those who sleep rough. 

 

 Members thanked Charlotte Gurney and Tony Keaveney for their continued hard 

work and the great service they offered to the vulnerable in Leighton Buzzard and 

Linslade.   

 

 RESOLVED to note the information. 

 

     89/LLP  CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL UPDATE REPORT  

 

 The Committee received an update report from Central Bedfordshire Council on 

matters relating to the parish, including information in respect of social care, health 

and housing, crime figures, antisocial behaviour, business rates, car parking, 

transport matters, community services, waste, schools, public health and services to 

young people.  Sixteen COVID stewards had been recruited to support businesses 

and the public in increasing understanding of COVID public health measures and 

gather intelligence and feedback to CBC officers. 

 

 Questions were raised regarding when parents would learn about the “Schools for 

the Future” proposals for Leighton Buzzard, the commercial property uptake in the 

town and the conversion rate giving last year’s figures and list of vacancies, the 

increase in litter and how this could be addressed in future, the number of NEETS, 

whether the local authority was involved in the marshalling of Rushmere Park, if NHS 

Health checks would resume as a priority when able to do so and what assistance 

could be given to shopkeepers with COVID enforcement.  Sarah Hughes, CBC would 

follow up these questions and report back to members. 

 

 Thanks were given to Sarah Hughes for her informative detailed report. 

 

 RESOLVED to note the report. 

 

 It was proposed and seconded that in order to continue the meeting past 2200 hours, 
Standing Order 3(x) be suspended for a maximum of thirty minutes. 

 
 RESOLVED to suspend Standing Order 3(x) for a maximum of thirty minutes. 

 

 90/LLP    COMMUNITY FORUM UPDATE 
 

 The Committee were informed that a decision had been made not to wait until the 
end of lockdown to resume the Youth Consultation in conjunction with TACTIC and 
CBC services to help understand what young people wanted within the town. 

 
 RESOLVED to note the information. 

Page 180



 

43 

 
91/LLP STANDING ITEMS  
 

(a) Market Town Regeneration Fund - there were no updates on this project since 
the last meeting but work was on-going and it was hoped it would be completed in 
the coming months. 

 
(b) S106 Update – members were informed this item would be discussed in more 
detail as a single item at the next meeting on 15 April 2021.  CBC colleagues would 
bring a proposal to that meeting for a Community Project at Tiddenfoot to discuss 
feasibility and views on this project.  Work on the Partnership Project List was on-
going with CBC colleagues going through the list of aspirations and it was hoped to 
bring this to the April meeting. 
 
A question was raised regarding the presentation given by CBC Planning colleagues 
on 2 September 2020 where town councillors were encouraged to make suggestions 
regarding uses of S106 money for specific purposes and to ensure this would be 
discussed at the April meeting.  Sarah Hughes, CBC, confirmed that CBC officers 
would be attending this meeting, and this could then be explored to determine, within 
S106 constraints, how the money could be spent. 
 
RESOLVED to note the information. 

 
 92/LLP COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN  
 

 The Committee received and considered the objectives and work plan for the 
municipal year 2020-2021.   
 
Members were informed the next meeting on 15 April 2021 would be a themed 
meeting to discuss S106, so discussion on the Health Focus Subgroup would be 
deferred to the first meeting of the new municipal year. 
 
RESOLVED to note the information. 

 
 93/LLP  BUDGET REPORT  

 
The Committee were informed that £500 had been carried forward from budget year 
2020/2021 to assist with delivery of future Community Forum activities in addition to 
retaining an annual budget of £500 for the financial year 2021/2022. 

 
                 RESOLVED  to note the information. 
       
The meeting closed at 2210 hours.  
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THIS IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 4 FEBRUARY 2021. 
 
 

 
Chair                                       15 APRIL  2021   

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 182



   

Page 90 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 17 FEBRUARY 2021 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:  Councillors   J M Freeman – in the Chair  
    A Dodwell 
    G Perham 
         C Palmer (substituting for K Cursons) 
    D Bowater 
    J Silverstone 
    D Scott 
    T Morris (substituting for F Kharawala) 
    R Goodchild (substituting for S Owen) 
                

          Also in attendance:    M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)  
    S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
    Services) 
               

  Members of the public:     0 
  

169/P      APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor S Owen (substituted 
by Councillor R Goodchild), Councillor K Cursons (substituted by Councillor C 
Palmer) and Councillor F Kharawala (substituted by Councillor T Morris).  
 

170/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
 
Councillor Palmer declared a personal interest in agenda item 7 (Information 
Items) due to a family member working in the Planning department at Milton 
Keynes Council.  
 

171/P QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
  

  There were no questions from the public. 
 
172/P MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held on 27 January 2021. 
 
Minute reference 167/P: the Committee was advised that a response had been 
submitted to the London Luton Airport consultation on arrival flight paths. 
 
Minute reference 168/P: the Committee was advised that the Ouzel Valley Park 
Steering Group had submitted an objection to Aylesbury Vale District Council 
regarding planning application reference 21/00143/APP. 
 

Page 183



Planning and Transport Committee  17 February 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  91 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 27 January 2021 be approved as a correct record and would 
be signed at a later date, when safe to do so. 

 
173/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

The Committee reviewed applications received up until  12 February 2021 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Befordshire Council that objection be 
made to planning application  reference CB/21/00244 (14 Market Square) 
on the grounds that  
 
- The proposed roller shutter was contrary to Central Bedfordshire shop 

front policy, given its Grade II Listed status and location within a  
conservation area  

 
Given the insufficient information provided in support of the application, 
the Town Council held concerns on the grounds  
 
- That the hours of operation had not been specified with the potential 

that given the nature of the operation, the unit may well be closed for 
the greater part of the working day thereby contributing little to the 
vitality and viability of the Town Centre 

- That no detail on internal works had been provided and that these might 
have an impact on surrounding properties (smell, noise). 

 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that objection 
be made to application reference CB/21/00245/ADV (14 Market Square) on 
the grounds that internally illuminated signage was contrary to Design 
Supplement 6 – Shopfront and Signage which seeks to protect histoically 
sensitive buildings and Conservation Areas from inappropriate 
development.  
 
The Town Council also wished to raise awareness with the planning authority 
that a feature which formed part of the town centre Children’s Literary Trail was 
located on the shop front at 14 Market Square. Should the planning authority be 
minded to grant consent that the public art feature be safeguarded by way of a 
condition.  
 
RESOLVED to recommed to Central Bedfordshire Council that no objection 
be made to application reference CB/20/04719 (40 St. Andrew’s Street), as 
long as parking standards could be met, particularly given the location on 
a bend in the road and opposite a junction. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/21/00387 (4 Cygnus Drive), 
provided that Central Bedfordshire Council officers were satisfied that the 
creation of a Juliet balcony would not lead to an unacceptable level of 
overlooking/loss of privacy for neighbouring properties. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that objection 
be made to application reference CB/21/00178 (Land at Billington Road) on 
the grounds that the site is identified as a Main Employment Area within 

Page 184



Planning and Transport Committee  17 February 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  92 

the emerging Central Bedfordshire Local Plan and that no improvement 
measures are proposed to address what is an already busy road junction 
particularly for right turning vehicles heading toward the bypass. The Town 
Council would therefore object on highways safety and loss of employment 
land grounds. The Town Council would also agree that concerns raised by 
other parties must be addressed, including: the Tree Officer’s concerns 
about the oak tree, confirmation of adequate noise and odour mitigation, 
incomplete ecological information, lack of clarity as to how Billington Road 
will be connected by intended cycle and pedestrian way to the public 
footpath which forms part of the Leighton-Linslade Green Wheel, 
confirmation of adequate separation of buildings from the Anglian Water 
sewage pumping station and issues to do with runoff and flooding risk.    
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following applications:  
 

1.   CB/21/00301 16 MONTGOMERY CLOSE 
2.   CB/21/00158 CH2 WAREHOUSE, BILLINGTON ROAD 
3.   CB/21/00214 13 HEATH PARK DRIVE 
4.   CB/21/00189 55 TAYLORS RIDE 
5.   CB/21/00165 9 GOLDEN RIDDY 
6.   CB/20/04776 6 OSPREY DRIVE 
7.   CB/21/00102 1 PINE TREE CLOSE 
8.   CB/21/00322 32 KEMSLEY DRIVE 
9.   CB/21/00301 16 MONTGOMERY CLOSE 
10. CB/21/00359  25 RUSSELL WAY 
11. CB/21/00436           LAND R/O GEORGE BROWNS , GROVEBURY  
ROAD 
12. CB/21/00413  28 NORTH COURT 
13. CB/21/00360  43 WYNGATES, LINSLADE 
14. CB/20/03256  WATERBOURNE WALK  

 
174/P TRANSPORT MATTERS  

 
The Committee received a report regarding parking matters. The report 
summarised a presentation given to the Partnership Committee in December 2020 
in respect of a car parking study undertaken by the local authority for east and 
west of Leighton Buzzard. It was noted that concerns had been raised at that 
meeting regarding a perceived lack of enforcement of car parking restrictions, 
resulting in possible issues for pedestrian safety or access by emergency vehicles. 
 
The Committee expressed disappointment at the lack of inclusion of Linslade in 
the car parking study as this had long been promised to address known issues in 
the area. The Committee also expressed disappointment that no proposals had 
been identified as yet to address longstanding issues in the area of Albany Road, 
Hartwell Grove and Hartwell Crescent. A comment was made about addressing 
shortage of short stay car parking in the town centre and it was noted that there 
was a greater than average number of town centre disabled car parking spaces. 
 
RESOLVED to write to Central Bedfordshire Council to express 
disappointment about the areas not included in the car parking study and to 
seek clarification as to when these areas might be reviewed. 

Page 185



Planning and Transport Committee  17 February 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  93 

 
The Committee noted that a response was awaited from the local authority 
regarding enforcement of parking restrictions and recognised that the current 
Covid-19 national lockdown would have an impact, with most people confined to 
their homes.  
 
RESOLVED to ask Central Bedfordshire Council to enforce, where possible 
and practicable, parking restrictions on arterial routes to/from the town to 
ensure emergency vehicle access was possible and to press for wider 
enforcement once Covid-19 restrictions had been lifted.    
 

 175/P INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

(a) The Committee received correspondence dated 3 February 2021 from Central 
Bedfordshire Council regarding a new postal address for 8 industrial units on 
Grovebury Road as the Ouzel Industrial Estate. 

 
(b) The Committee received correspondence dated 8 February 2021 from 
Milton Keynes Council regarding a 10-week public consultation on the Draft South 
East Milton Keynes - Strategic Urban Extension Development Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
RESOLVED to note the correspondence and to write to Milton Keynes 
Council to advise them of concerns regarding potential coalescence 
between this parish and an ever expanding Milton Keynes.  

 
 
 

The meeting closed at 2045 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD 17 FEBRUARY 2021. 

 
 
 
 

Chair                   10 MARCH 2021 

Page 186



 

Page 83 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

22 FEBRUARY 2021 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present Councillors:  S Jones (Chair) 
C Palmer 
R Berry 
A Dodwell (Vice Chair) 
J M Freeman 
F Kharawala 
S Owen 
T Morris 
G Perham 
R Goodchild 
D Scott 

      
Also in attendance:  M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
     S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
     Services)  
     Clare Cummins (Finance Officer) 
     M Jahn (Committee Officer) 
     A Harrison (Market Manager)  

Cllr V Harvey – part meeting 
Cllr R Yates  

            
 Members of the public: 0  

 
191/PF    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 No apologies for absence were received.  
 
192/PF DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

No declarations of interest were made and no dispensations were 
requested. 
 

 193/PF      QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
       There were no questions from the public. 

 
194/PF     MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

(a) The Committee received the minutes of the Policy and Finance 

Committee meeting held on 18 January 2021. 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 18 January 2021 be approved as a correct record, to 
be signed at a later date when safe to do so.  

Page 187



Policy & Finance                    22 FEBRUARY 2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

84 

(b) Several verbal updates were given in respect of the previous meeting 

minutes. 

 

Minute reference 185/PF (Neighbourhood Plan):  the brief for consultants 

would be ready by the end of this week and circulated to members of the 

Committee for their comments with recommendations of a consultant  

appointment available for the April meeting.  It was hoped that some 

direction could be provided by the July meeting. 

Minute reference 188/PF (Community Volunteer Award Nominations 2021): 
it was confirmed the recipients would be included in the Civic Service to be 
held virtually on Sunday 28 February 2021, with the awards being 
presented when able to do so. 
 
Minute reference 190/PF (Van Hire): it was confirmed the recommendation 
would be taken to the next Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 
meeting scheduled for 8 March 2021. 
 

 195/PF  COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN  
 
 The Committee received and considered the Work Plan and Objectives for 

2020-2021.  Members were informed the Freedom of Information Policy 
and Complaints Policy review were deferred to the April meeting. The 
Health and Safety policy would also be brought to the April meeting.  

 
       RESOLVED to note the information. 
 

196/PF JANUARY 2021 PAYMENTS  
 

The Committee received schedules of payments for January 2021 which 
had previously been approved for payment by the Town Clerk and 
countersigned by two signatories.  There were no anomalies or matters of 
concern to draw to the attention of the Committee.  

 
 The schedule for January 2021 dated 18 January 2021 included BACS 

payments amounting to £117,738.42 (page numbers 2849 – 2858) 
including petty cash payments to TACTIC of £95.28  and cheque payments 
of £5,035.00 (cheque numbers 17256-17257).  The monthly salaries listing 
for January 2021 amounting to £100,299.30 gross was received.   A cash 
book report for January 2021, including details of all direct debit payments, 
was also received. 

 
 RESOLVED to receive the schedules of payments for January 2021, 

which had been approved for payment by the Town Clerk and two 
councillor signatories.  

  
RESOLVED to note the report. 

 
 

Page 188



Policy & Finance                    22 FEBRUARY 2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

85 

197/PF   MARKET RENTS  
 
 The Committee received and considered a report regarding payment of 

market rents.  As the situation regarding the decision to waive market rents 
during the pandemic was fluid with ever changing timescales, an 
amendment to the recommendations was proposed by Councillor Freeman. 
On voting the proposal was carried unanimously. 

 
 RESOLVED:  
 

(a) To waive payment of Market rents for those permanent traders who 

are classified as essential traders (and therefore able to trade 

currently) until first Tuesday Market after the date that the 

Government allow non-essential traders to resume trading. 

(b) To waive payments of Market rents for those permanent traders 

who are classified as non-essential traders (and therefore unable 

to trade currently) for a period expiring 12 weeks after the first 

Tuesday market after the date that the Government allow non-

essential traders to resume trading. 

 
RECOMMENDED to the Market Sub-Committee to consider that those 
casual traders who had supported the market during the lockdown 
period, and paid rent be given priority for casual pitches for six 
months after the date that the Government allow non-essential traders 
to resume trading. 

  
198/PF   CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2021-2022 
 

 The Committee received and considered a report on the proposed 
Calendar of Meetings for 2021-2022 and meeting considerations from May 
2021, when the current temporary legislation allowing virtual meetings to 
take place would come to an end. 

 
 The proposed meeting calendar was based on the normal timetable, but 

the format of meetings from 7 May 2021 until such time as Coronavirus 
restrictions were lifted or amended was uncertain. It was noted that a 
thorough risk assessment process would need to take place prior to 
commencement of any face-to-face meetings and that expenditure might 
be required in terms of technology or mitigation measures to protect against 
the virus.  

 
 A request was made for an extra Council meeting to be added to the 

calendar on 29 November 2021.  A question was raised regarding the date 
of the Annual Council Meeting and whether this should be brought forward 
to 5 May 2021 to enable the meeting to take place before the proposed 
possible ending of remote meetings on the 7 May 2021.  After discussion 
members agreed to defer this decision until the April Council meeting. 

 

Page 189



Policy & Finance                    22 FEBRUARY 2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

86 

 It was hoped that the situation would be clearer by the next meeting on 19 
April 2021 and that a formal recommendation could then be made to 
Council on 26 April 2021 in terms of meetings for the municipal year 2021-
2022.  

 
 RESOLVED:  
 

(a) To note the report. 

(b) To approve that the draft Calendar of Meetings for 2021-22 be 

circulated to Councillors for awareness with the addition of a 

Council meeting on the 29 November 2021 and informal 

consideration, but to await a further update at the April meeting 

regarding Coronavirus legislation before any formal 

recommendations to Council. 

(c) To write to Andrew Selous MP and to Robert Jenrick MP to press 

for an extension to The Local Authorities and Police and Crime 

Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and 

Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 to 

allow remote meetings to take place after 7 May 2021. 

  
199/PF  FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN (FUTURE PROJECTS FUNDING)   
 

(a) The Committee received and considered the recommendations made 

by the Cultural and Economic Committee on 7 December 2020 in 

respect of funding allocation for Older Persons projects. It was noted 

that the required funding of £80,000 had been included in the reprofiled 

Five Year Financial Plan, for 2021-22 and 2022-23.  

 
(b) The Committee received and considered a report which outlined the 

most recent position in respect of the 5 Year Financial Plan and the 

proposed projects which would be included in it. This was an iterative 

document which would continue to be amended as projects came 

forward through the standing committees in more detail.  

 Members agreed to defer until 2022/2023 the installation of water 
fountains as it was not felt appropriate to have shared drinking facility 
in the present situation. 

 
 A question was raised for clarification on the capacity of the cemetery 

and whether additional space was being sought.  It was agreed an 
update report should be brought to the next appropriate Grounds and 
Economic Services meeting regarding this and also the commitment of 
Central Bedfordshire Council in this search following the agreement 
made regarding COVID burials in our cemeteries. 
 

 

Page 190



Policy & Finance                    22 FEBRUARY 2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

87 

RESOLVED:  
 

(i) To note the most recent iteration (Appendix 2) of the 5 Year 

Financial Plan and to recommend its endorsement by Council.    

 
(ii) To recommend to Council that the £50,000 as requested by the 
Cultural and Economic Services Committee at its meeting held 7th 
December 2020 be met from the 5 Year Financial Plan for the financial 
period 2021-22 for the purposes of: 

 Digital Inclusion 

 Directory/information hub 

 Older Persons Visual Identity – branding of work  

 Direct support of local activity groups 
 

 (iii)  To recommend to Council that £50,000 as identified within the 5 
Year Financial Plan over the financial periods 2021-22 and 2022-23 be 
endorsed for the purposes of providing dedicated provision for young 
person’s activities within the parish.  

 
(iv)  To recommend to Council that the anticipated budget of £50,000 
as agreed by Council at its meeting held 24th June 2019 for the 
purposes of installing drinking water fountains within town council 
parks be reduced to £25,000 based on more detailed scoping work 
undertaken by officers since the resolution made by Council.  

 
    200/PF INVESTMENT POLICY  

 
The Committee received a report to approve and recommend to Council the 
re-adoption of the Investment Strategy. 
 
RECOMMENDED to Council to approve the re-adoption of the Town 
Council’s Investment Strategy. 

 
   201/PF  TOWN COUNCIL MEMBERSHIPS 

 
The Committee received a list advising of all current memberships of other 
bodies, for the Town Council and/or employees. 
 

    RESOLVED to note the information. 
 

   202/PF COMMUNICATIONS UPDATE  
 
 The Committee received a report in respect of communications, including the 

Town Council website, social media channels, electronic signage and overall 
communications strategy.  It was noted that the Covid-19 pandemic had 
necessitated numerous changes in communications over the previous year.  

 

Page 191



Policy & Finance                    22 FEBRUARY 2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

88 

 The Market website had been relaunched and extensive work had taken 
place during the last year to move towards more services and information 
being offered digitally.   

 
The Committee recognised the ever increasing workload in respect of 
communications and requested that thanks to Town Council staff be minuted 
for the professional, timely issue of communications. 

 
 RESOLVED to note the information regarding Town Council 

communications and to thank all staff involved in the communications 
process. 

 
  203/PF LOTTERIES LICENCE RETURNS   

 
 The Committee received a request to appoint two Councillors to approve and 

sign the return forms required after each lottery event to return to Licensing 
at Central Bedfordshire Council. The licence related to Mayoral charity 
fundraising activity.  

 
 RESOLVED that Councillors Berry, Jones or Bowater act as signatories 

for Lotteries Licence Returns. 
  

204/PF   EXCLUSION TO THE PUBLIC 
 

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature 
of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion 
regarding: Employee Assistance Programme Renewal 

 
   205/PF    EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAMME RENEWAL  
 

Members agreed the Employee Assistance Programme was a valuable 
support for staff and on voting it was unanimously agreed to the renewal of 
said programme. 
 
RESOLVED to renew the Employee Assistance Programme for 2021-
2022. 

 
   The meeting closed at   2100 hours. 
 
    I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 

RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 22 FEBRUARY 2021. 
 
 
 
 
CHAIR                               19 APRIL 2021 

Page 192



 
 

 

ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

 
1.  OVERVIEW  

 
This document gives guidance on borrowing and investments by Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council in accordance with  ‘the Local Government Act 2003’. It highlights that the Council 
is committed to Treasury Management to ensure that:  
 
*   Capital expenditure plans are affordable  
*   All external borrowing and other long term liabilities are within prudent and 

sustainable levels, and  
*  Treasure Management decisions are taken in accordance with good 

professional practice  
 
The CIPFA Treasure Management Code of Practice defines Treasury Management as:  
 
‘The management of the Council’s cashflows, its banking, money market and capital 

market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and 
the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks’.  

 
2. INVESTMENT STRATEGY  

 
2.1.  Introduction  

 
The Council acknowledges the importance of prudently investing the temporarily surplus 
funds held on behalf of the community.  

 
This Strategy complies with the revised requirements set out in the Department for 
Communities and Local Government’s (formerly the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister) 
Guidance on Local Government Investments and Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s Treasure Management in Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes and takes account of the Section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government 

Act 2003.  
 

2.2.    Investment Objectives  
 

In accordance with Section 15(1) of the 2003 Act, the Council will have regard to (2) such 
guidance as the Secretary of State may issue, and (b) to such other guidance as the 
Secretary of State may by regulations specify.  
 
The Council’s investment priorities are the security of reserves and liquidity of its investments.  

Page 193



The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments commensurate with 
proper levels of security and liquidity.  

       All investments will be made in sterling. 
 

The Department for Communities and Local Government maintains that borrowing of monies 
purely to invest, or to lend and make a return, is unlawful and this Council will not engage in 
such activity.  

 
Where external investment managers are used, they will be contractually required to comply 
with the Strategy.  

 
2.3.  Specified Investments  

 
Specified investments are those offering a high level of security and liquidity.  These will be 
made in sterling and maturing within 12 months. This type of short-term investment when 
made with the UK Government, Local Authority, Town or Parish Councils will automatically 
be classed as Specified Investments.  

 
For the prudent management of its treasury balances, maintaining sufficient levels of security 
and liquidity, Leighton-Linslade Town Council will use:  

 
*  Deposits with banks, building societies, local authorities or other public authorities  
*  The debt management agency of HM Government  
 

For reference at present our Specified investments are held by the Nationwide Building 
Society in a mixture of Instant access and notice accounts. 

 
2.4.       Non-Specified Investments  

 
These investments have greater potential risk – examples include investment in the money 
market, stocks and shares.  
 
Given the unpredictability and uncertainties surrounding such investments, Leighton-Linslade 
Town Council will not use this type of investment.  
 

2.5. Liquidity of Investments  

 
The Responsible Finance Officer will determine the maximum periods for which funds may 
prudently be committed so as not to compromise liquidity.  

 
Investments will be regarded as commencing on the date the commitment to invest is entered 
into, rather than the date on which the funds are paid over to the counterparty.  
 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 194



 

                                                                                                                                      Page 36 

   
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 

 
CULTURAL AND ECONOMIC SERVICES COMMITTEE 

 
1 MARCH 2021 AT 1930 HOURS 

 
Present: Councillors          A Dodwell (Chair) 
                        K Cursons  
  G Perham 
  M Freeman 
  R Goodchild 
  D Bowater  
  P Snelling 
  S Hemmings 
  R Yates 
          
Also in attendance:   M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
 I Haynes (Head of Grounds & Environmental 

Services) 
 V Cannon (Head of Cultural & Economic 

Services) 
 S Sandiford, (Head of Democratic and Central 

Services) 
 L Farmer, TACTIC Manager – part meeting  
 B Bodsworth, Town and Country Promotions 

Manager – part meeting 
 F Khan, Town and Community Promotions 

Officer  
 M Jahn, Committee Officer 
 Cllr Harvey 
 Cllr Berry 

 
                    Members of the public: 1 
 

77/CE     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

               No apologies for absence had been received. 
   

  78/CE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

No declarations of interest were made and no dispensations were requested.  
 

 79/CE QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
  
 A member of the public spoke to welcome the Town Council’s Equality and 

Diversity Statement and asked how this would be publicised so residents were 
aware.  It was agreed this could be made more visible around the town to 
promote inclusion.  Black History Month and COP26 were mentioned as 
opportunities for planning events to highlight the Equality and Diversity 
Statement.  The member of the public was invited to stay and listen to further 
discussions on items later in the meeting regarding these questions. 

 

Page 195



Cultural and Economic Services Committee  1 MARCH 2021       
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  37 

 
80/CE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

(a) The Committee received the draft minutes of the previous Cultural and 
Economic Services Committee meeting held on 7 December 2020. 

 
 RESOLVED that the minutes of the Cultural and Economic Services 

Committee meeting held on 7 December 2020 be approved as a correct 
record, to be signed at a later date when safe to do so. 

 
(b) Minute reference 69/CE Older Persons Task and Finish Group – 
Members were informed the recommendations regarding financial 
commitment in the five year financial plan for older persons projects had been 
endorsed by Policy & Finance Committee on 22 February 2021 and would 
now go to Council for final ratification on 26 April 2021.   

 
Minute reference 74/CE Standing Items and General Updates – it was 
confirmed Central Bedfordshire colleagues had been contacted to seek 
alternative funding for the installation of a Changing Places facility in the town 
centre and a reply was awaited. 
 

 81/CE SUB COMMITTEE MINUTES 
 

(a) The Committee received the draft minutes of the Older Persons Sub-
Committee meeting held on 4 February 2021 for consideration. 

 
Members were informed the launch of the Helping Hands Website had 
progressed and had been promoted in the local newspaper.  The 55Up logo 
was being used and included in About Town newsletter.   

 
RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Older Persons Sub-
Committee meeting held on 4 February 2021. 
 

(b) The Committee received the draft minutes of the Market Sub Committee 
held on 25 February 2021. 

 
RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Market Sub-Committee 
meeting held on 25 February 2021. 

 
 82/CE  WASTE MANAGEMENT  
 
 Committee received and considered a recommendation (minute reference 

97/GE) from the Grounds and Environmental Services Committee meeting 
held 14 December 2020 regarding promotion of waste collection information 
and the future of further recycling opportuities on the market.  

 
 Concerns were raised regarding the recycling of crisp packets via the market 

and how this could be improved to be more practical and accessible as a 
council wide initiative.  Members agreed the  results achieved from the new 
contract should be promoted and made available to the public via social 
media and posters displayed using Town Council noticeboards. 

 

Page 196



Cultural and Economic Services Committee  1 MARCH 2021       
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  38 

 Members were informed that The Head of Grounds & Environmental Services 
would be meeting with Veolia to discuss a more robust solution to crisp bag 
recycling and other recycling opportunities available.  Once this meeting had 
taken place the ideas could be taken forward to the next appropriate meeting.  
It was suggested to come back to Policy & Finance Committee with a Council 
wide proposal for recycling.  Members agreed to offer the crisp packet 
recycling via the Market until a more appropriate proposal could be actioned.  

 
 RESOLVED to note the information.  
  
 83/CE     COMMUNITY EVENTS UPDATE  
 
                 The Committee received a report to update members on the proposed 

Events programme and outline plan for the 2021 season with the additional 
complexities due to Covid-19 restrictions. 

 
 A roadmap of events had been set out but all plans would be made with as 

much flexibility as possible to enable events to take place with appropriate 
lead times which were needed in the current circumstances.  Each roadmap 
step  would be reviewed prior to confirmation and draft recommendations 
had been formulated with this in mind. 

 
 RESOLVED 
 

(a) To endorse the postponement of the Big Lunch from the first 
weekend in June until 21 & 22 August and that it be a ticketed 
activity in Parson’s Close Recreation Ground, subject to local or 
national restrictions.  Should restrictions permit, to delegate the 
decision to the Town Clerk, Chair and Vice Chair of the Cultural & 
Economic Services Committee to rescind the requirements for 
tickets. 

(b) To endorse the cancellation of the Canal Festival in 2021 and replace 
it with ticketed film screenings on 31 July and 1 August, subject to 
local or national restrictions.  A proportion of the budget allocated 
for Canal Festival (101/4515) would be used to deliver the film 
festival. 

(c) To endorse the proposal to hold the Band Concerts throughout 
June to September and that it be a ticketed activity in Parson’s Close 
Recreation Ground, subject to local and national restrictions.  
Should restrictions permit, to delegate the decision to the Town 
Clerk, Chair and Vice Chair of the Cultural & Economic Services 
Committee to rescind the requirements for tickets. 

(d) To continue with the planning for the Last Night of the Proms event 
subject to local and national restrictions.  Should additional 
restrictions be imposed on the event either locally or nationally, to 
delegate the decision to the Town clerk, Chair & Vice Chair of the 
Cultural & Economic Services Committee to cancel the event. 

(e) To continue with the planning of the Christmas Festival with a final 
decision to be taken at the Cultural & Economic Services Committee 
on the 14 June, 2021.   

 
84/CE      EQUALITY & DIVERSITY STATEMENT  
 

Page 197



Cultural and Economic Services Committee  1 MARCH 2021       
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  39 

                The Committee received and considered a recommendation from 
                Council’s meeting on 25 January 2021 for further discussion on the  
                Equality & Diversity Statement.   
 

The statement had been included on the Town Council website and in the 
March/April edition of the About Town newsletter. It was agreed that a 
celebration of Black History Month would be included in the 
September/October newsletter and Cop26 in the November/December 
newsletter. A suggestion was made to take Black History Month to the next 
meeting of the  Living History Task and Finish Group for discussion and 
consideration. 
 
An idea for discussion in the future as a regular event was a Diversity Day 
where inclusion could be explored and celebrated in the town. 
 

                 RESOLVED to note the statement. 
 
85/CE TACTIC WORK UPDATE  
 
 The Committee received a report providing an update of work at TACTIC 

(Teenage Advice and Information Centre) in November, December 2020 and 
January 2021 and future project work during the coming months.  TACTIC 
continue to experience on-going disruption due to the pandemic; however, 
they had continued to offer support to the most vulnerable young people with 
socially distanced one-to-one sessions.  New initiatives were introduced with 
workshops being offered for Sexual Health and Relationships and the Red 
Box Project was set up offering free sanitary products. Future projects over 
the coming months would include TANG (additional needs group), volunteer 
training, return of youth drop-in sessions, 1-1 mentoring and Youth Forum 
recruitment. 

 
 A question was raised regarding support for NEET children (Not in Education, 

Employment or Training) and it was confirmed that staff would be trained to 
offer careers guidance from April 2021 and then go into schools with up-to-
date information and guidance on apprenticeships and writing CV’s.   

 
 Thanks were given to TACTIC staff for the comprehensive report and their 

continued hard work with young people during this challenging time. 
 
 RESOLVED to endorse the TACTIC draft 2021/2022 Annual Work Plan, 

as set out. 
  

 86/CE CHRISTMAS LIGHTING SCHEME  
 
 This item was withdrawn from the agenda. 
  

    87/CE    BUDGET REPORT  
 

The Committee received and considered an update report on service  
budgets.  Due to the on-going pandemic, it had not been possible to 

 deliver events in the normal way so some unused event budgets would be 
moved to earmarked reserves for use in 2021/22 as required. 

 

Page 198



Cultural and Economic Services Committee  1 MARCH 2021       
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  40 

RESOLVED to endorse that existing spend commitments from 
earmarked Reserves are continued into financial year 2021-22. 

  
88/CE     STANDING ITEMS AND GENERAL UPDATES 
 

  The Committee received a general service update report to inform of work 

activity over the past months. 

 

   Architectural Lighting 

 

  Officers await the outcome of the planning application for Waterbourne Walk 

and Central Bedfordshire officers had confirmed acceptance to utilise funds at 

alternative locations which would include the Flypast Monument at Bridge 

Street and Town Centre trees.  It was hoped this work would be completed by 

Spring this year.  

 

  Electronic Signage 

 

      The transfer of the sign from the bypass to Hockliffe Road had been accepted  

by Central Bedfordshire Council and the remaining market town regeneration 

grant funds and Council’s match funding monies would be used for this 

transfer. 

 

          Changing Places 

 

               Officers had contacted Central Bedfordshire Council to request them to seek 

               alternative funding for the installation of a Changing Places Facility at the  

               multi-storey car park. 

 

           Pigeon Management Grant Scheme 

 

          Twelve business applications had been received with a total of 18 buildings 

being highlighted.  Some schemes may require listed building consent.  This 

may cause a delay in completion of works so the publicised completion date 

of 30th April 2021 would need to be extended to accommodate this. 

 

      RESOLVED  

 

(a)  To endorse an open completion date, within the financial year 

2021/22, for Pigeon management Grant applicants who occupy a 

listed building to enable them to gain consent for works. 

(b) To investigate further costs of installing a Changing Places Facility 

and bring back to Committee. 

 

RECOMMEND to Policy & Finance Committee to carry forward 

underspend of £2,000 from Buzzard Trails (4509/101) to earmarked 

reserve (9018/970) to fund annual maintenance to the Children’s Trail. 

    

 

Page 199



Cultural and Economic Services Committee  1 MARCH 2021       
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  41 

 

 89/CE    COMMITTEE WORK PLAN AND OBJECTIVES 

 

(a) The Committee received the Committee Workplan and Objectives for 

2020-2021. 

 

RESOLVED to note the Committee Workplan and Objectives for 2020-

2021. 

 

(b) The Committee received the draft workplan and Objectives for 2021-2022. 

 

Members agreed that the closing down of the Leighton-Linslade Homeless 

centre was a cause for concern and should be looked at by the Partnership 

Committee.  It was agreed to discuss with Sarah Hughes, Central 

Bedfordshire Council regarding the closure. 

 

RESOLVED to note the draft workplan and objectives for 2021-22.  

 

The meeting closed at 2150 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 1 MARCH  2021. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair                                14 JUNE 2021 

Page 200



 

                                                                                                                                      Page 40 

  
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 

 
GROUNDS AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

 
MONDAY 8 MARCH 2021 AT 1930 HOURS 

 
Present: Councillors:  R Berry (Chair) 
  S Jones  
  T Morris 
  F Kharawala 
  V Harvey 
  A Gray  
  P Snelling 
  B Spurr 
     
Also in attendance:   I Haynes (Head of Grounds & Environmental  

Services) 
M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
Services) 
M Jahn (Committee Officer) 
Cllr G Perham 
 

                    Members of the public:  4  
 
100/GE    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

No apologies for absence were received. 
   

101/GE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

No pecuniary interests were declared.  
 
Councillor V Harvey declared a personal interest as a member of South 
Bedfordshire Friends of the Earth. 

  
102/GE QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
 Three members of the public spoke, the first being the Chairman of the 

Leighton-Linslade Allotment Association to seek clarification on ‘what a 
worked plot was’ and whether the rules for re-allocating plots could be revised 
to enable them to be offered to new tenants within a shorter timescale than 
at present.  Thanks were given to the Head of Grounds and the Grounds 
team for their continued work in clearing allotments and it was hoped 
discussions would progress the concerns mentioned above. 

 
A second question was raised by an allotment holder at Weston Avenue 
asking whether it was the Town Council’s intention to continue to provide 
piped water to both allotment sites, irrespective of any allocation of water 
butts to some plot holders under this proposed scheme.  It was confirmed 
that mains water would continue to be supplied to both sites with no plans to 
discontinue. 

Page 201



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  8 MARCH 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  41 

 
A third question was raised regarding the perimeter fence at the rear of 
Linslade Memorial Playing Field, which had fallen into disrepair and whether 
this would be repaired and by whom.  It was confirmed that discussions were 
being held with the Canal and River Trust regarding ownership of the land 
and fence and until ownership was established no temporary repair would be 
made by the Town Council due to concerns about vicarious liability.   The 
Head of Grounds would bring a detailed report to the Committee once a reply 
had been received from the Canal and River Trust and a solution explored. 

 
 103/GE    MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
(a)   The Committee received the draft minutes of the Grounds and 
Environmental Services Committee meeting held on 14 December 2020. 

 
 RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Grounds and 

Environmental Services Committee held on 14 December be approved 
as a correct record and would be signed at a later date when safe to do 
so. 

 
(b)  Minute reference 89/GE Committee Objectives and Workplan – a 
question was asked about tree planting intentions. The Town Council’s 
consultation for tree planting options on Pages Field and Vandyke Road 
Playing Field would take place once Covid restrictions allowed. The decision 
to apply to the Central Bedfordshire Council tree grant scheme had been 
unanimously approved by Council at its meeting on 25 January 2021 and a 
decision was awaited.  

 
 104/GE    COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORKPLAN 
 

(a) The Committee received the Committee Objectives and Workplan for  
 2020-21 which  had been completed apart from the car parking 
arrangements at Linslade Memorial Playing Field and this would  be brought 
back to Committee for discussion when appropriate. 

 
(b)   The Committee received the draft Committee Workplan 2021-22. A 
question was raised regarding the health and safety issues of the broken 
fence at Linslade Memorial Playing Fields and whether this should be added 
to the workplan.  A suggestion was made to put up temporary signage 
indicating the responsibiliity of the Canal and River Trust. 

 
A proposal was made that as a matter of urgency pressure should be put on 
the Canal and River Trust to reinstate the fence and an update brought back 
to Committee at the next meeting.  On being taken to the vote there were 5 
for, 2 against and 1 abstention. 

 
RESOLVED to contact the Canal and River Trust as a matter of urgency 
to ascertain ownership and reinstatement of the fence. 
 

                   RESOLVED to note the Committee objectives and work plan.   
 
 
  

Page 202



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  8 MARCH 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  42 

                                      
   105/GE     ALLOTMENTS UPDATE  
 

 The Committee received an update on the waiting lists for Town Council 
 owned allotments and considered a recommendation to increase rainwater 

collection oportunities across both allotment sites.   The recommencement 
of plot allocations would begin in line the HM Government’s Covid-19 
Response Spring 2021. It was anticipated that applicants on the waiting list 
would be contacted in the week commencing 15 March, to ensure that 
available plots would be let as as soon as lifting of restrictions allowed. 

 
 A question was raised regarding the provision of new allotment sites and 

when these would be available.   The planned sites on the East of Leighton 
development would assist with the shortfall in allotments and Central 
Bedfordshire Council would inform the Town Council when this could be 
progressed. 

 
 A question was raised on the introduction of water butts to the allotments.  It 

was suggested that they be introduced in two phases of 60 in each phase, 
rather then 120 in one allocation.  On voting this was agreed and carried 
unanimously. 

 
 RESOLVED 
 

(a) To note the report. 
(b) To note the present waiting list. 
(c)  To allocate up to maximum of £5,000 from earmarked reserve 
9106/950 (allotments), with current available funds of £8,429, to 
purchase 120 x water butt c/w lid, tap, stand and diverter kit to be given 
to the Leighton-Linslade Allotment Association in two phases of 60 in 
each phase. 

 
106/GE    PLAY AREA PROGRAMME 
 
 The Committee received an update on the wider play area improvement and 

safer surfacing replacement programmes.  The refurbishment of Pages Park 
Play area was completed and well received.  The next projects to be 
considered were the play area at Alwins Field and the resurfacing of the 
Splash and Play facility in Parson’s Close Recreation Ground. 

 
 RESOLVED 
 

(a) to note the report. 
(b) to endorse the updated wider play area improvement and safer 

surfacing replacement programmes as per the provided gantt 
charts. 

 
107/GE    NINE MONTH BUDGET MONITORING REPORT  
 

The Committee received the nine-month budget monitoring report for the 
period April – December 2020.  It was hoped that sport would be able to re-
start once restrictions were lifted and that next year the income would return 

Page 203



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  8 MARCH 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  43 

to previous levels.  However, the year had finished on budget, even with the 
problems caused by the pandemic. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report. 

 
 108/GE    CONCESSIONS TASK AND FINISH GROUP  

 
 The Committee received the draft minutes of the Concessions Task & Finish 

Group held on 17 December 2020.  A second meeting was due to take place.  
 
 RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Concessions Task & 

Finish Group held on 17 December 2020. 
 

 109/GE    NON DOMESTIC RATE BILLS FOR PAGES PARK PAVILION 
 

                 The Committee received and considered a report on non domestic rate  
  Bills for Pages Park Pavilion.   
 
 RESOLVED 
 

(a) to endorse that £13,836.36 be paid to Central Bedfordshire Council 
for back dated non domestic rate bills for 2017/2018 – 2020/2021, 
payment to be made from 9024/950 with available funds of £56,290. 

(b) To endorse that non domestic rate bill for 2021/2022 be paid to 
Central Bedfordshire Council, payment to be made from 9024/950 
once figure is known circa £4,000. 

(c) To endorse that the 2022/23 Gounds and Environmental Services 
budget has monies made available for future non domestic rate bills 
for Pages Park Pavilion. 

 
110/GE     COVID-19 UPDATE 
 

(a) Members received an update in respect of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
implications for Town Council owned play areas, parks, sports facilities 
and pavilions since the 4-step road map had been introduced by the 
government. 

 
On 21 June 2021 the spraying of play areas could be stopped and most 
of the sports activities should be up and running by 17 May.  However, it 
was still unclear how indoor sports would operate as social distancing 
and face coverings would not be assessed until at least 21 June.  
 
A concern was raised regarding the potential impact on local parks of a 
further increase in use over the Easter period and whether there was a 
way to encourage responsible use.  It was agreed  responsible use and 
appropriate social distancing could be promoted with suggestions of 
activities where the restrictions could be adhered to.  

 
(b) A proposal was made for all fees for sports related activites to be waived 

for two months, from the time town council venues become available.  On 
being taken to the vote it was agreed unanimously. 

 
 

Page 204



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  8 MARCH 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  44 

RESOLVED that fees and charges for all sport related activites be 
held in abeyance for two months from the time that our venues 
become available under the Government’s COVID-19 regulations. 

 
111/GE     PAVILION HIRE FEES AND CHARGES 
 
 The Committee received and considered a report to extend the temporary 

amendments to the previously agreed fee structure to support the re-
introduction of community activities in Town Counil pavilion buildings, when 
allowed to do so by the Government. 

 
 RESOLVED to extend the continued temporary amendments to fees and 

charges for pavilion hire for the period 1 April – 30 June 2021 as set out. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 20:56 hours and reconvened at 21:02 hours.  
 

 112/GE     CEMETERY FEES AND CHARGES 
 

 The Committee received and considered a report for a zero increase in the 
2021/2022 cemetery fees. 

 
 RESOLVED: 
 

(a) To note the report. 
(b) To approve a zero increase in cemetery fees and charges for 

2021/2022 with the expectation that this be reviewed in 12 months’ 
time.  

 
 113/GE     CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL RIVER CLEARANCE (ONE-YEAR  
                  REVIEW) 
  

The Committee received and considered a report regarding the continuation 
of shared responsibility for clearing a section of the River Ouzel.  Members 
agreed that the shared responsibility for this site, with Town Council 
engagement, had made a huge difference to the area and in principle this 
should continue, with a formalised arrangment over a 3 year period.  On 
going to the vote it was agreed unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
(a) To note the report. 
(b) To carefully consider the creation of a Service Level Agreement (or 

equivalent) between Central Bedfordshire Council, the Town 
Council and third party landholding interests in order to provide an 
on-going commitment to the clearing of the river Ouzel and the west 
bank between Leighton Road and the rear of Leighton Buzzard ALDI. 

(c) That the costs of clerarance be equitably shared between all parties 
to represent landholding interest and associated responsibility.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 205



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  8 MARCH 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  45 

 
 114/GE    OUZEL VALLEY PARK STEERING GROUP 

  
 The Committee received the draft minutes of the Ouzel Valley Park Steering 

Group meeting held on 1 February 2021 for consideration and a verbal 
update was given by the Chair of the steering group. 

 
 Minute reference 5 (Information Updates) – it was confirmed a letter had been 

sent by the Town Clerk to Anglian Water regarding the quality of the water in 
the River Ouzel but to date no reply had been received.  It was hoped to bring 
an update to the next Ouzel Valley Park Steering Group meeting. 

 
 Minute reference 5 (Greensand Trust) - although the Greensand Ridge walk 

marker project had been delayed, an artist was now designing signs and this 
would be presented to the next meeting of the steering group. 

 
 Minute reference 9 (Tiddenfoot Waterside Park) – derelict stable block – it 

had been agreed to discuss this further at a future meeting of the Partnership 
Committee in respects of funding and likely costs. 

 
RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Ouzel Valley Park 
Steering Group meeting held on 1 February 2021. 
 

115/GE  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
 RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 

1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature 
of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion 
regarding: Parson’s Close Recreation Ground and Town Council 
vehicles. 

 
116/GE PARSON’S CLOSE RECREATION GROUND 
 
 The Committee received a report regarding Parson’s Close Recreation 

Ground – Adventure Playground. 
 
 RESOLVED:  
 

(a) To note the report. 
(b) To approve and endorse the proposed scheme design and therefore 

the chosen supplier is HAGS UK. 
(c) To approve a 6-week period of positive public engagement to help 

facilitate a potential public work loan application, to ensure that the 
preferred option meets public expectation in terms of play value and 
inclusivity. 

(d) To recommend to the Policy & Finance Committee that it considers 
the funding options to deliver this £297,947.00 project and to 
consider funding through the United Kingdom Debt Management 
Office via a Public Work Loan or from Town Council held reserves. 

 
 

Page 206



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  8 MARCH 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  46 

 
117/GE TOWN COUNCIL VEHICLES 
 
  The Committee received and considered a recommendation made by Policy 

and Finance Committee on 18 January 2021 in respect of town council 
vehicles.  A protocol would be created to set out expectations of third parties 
when using Town Council assets in support of any operation they are carrying 
out on behalf of the parish.  On being put to the vote this was carried 
unanimously.   

 
 RESOLVED: 
 

(a) To note the report. 
(b) To consider the recommendation made by the Policy and Finance 

Committee on 18 January 2021 in respect of Town Council vehicles 
and to determine that no further action is required.  
 

The meeting closed at 2145 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 8 MARCH  2021. 
 
 
 
 
Chair                              7 JUNE 2021 
 
 

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 208



   

Page 94 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 10 MARCH 2021 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:  Councillors   J M Freeman – in the Chair  
    A Dodwell 
    K Cursons 
        C Palmer (substituting for Cllr G Perham) 
    R Yates (substituting for Cllr D Bowater) 
    J Silverstone 
    F Kharawala 
    S Owen 
                

          Also in attendance:    M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)  
    S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
    Services) 
               

  Members of the public:     0 
  

176/P      APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors D Scott, D Bowater 
(substituted by Councillor R Yates) and G Perham (substituted by Councillor C 
Palmer).  
 

177/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 No declarations of interest were made and no dispensations were requested 
 
178/P QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

  
  There were no questions from the public. 
 
179/P MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held on 17 February 2021. 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 17 February  2021 be approved as a correct record and would 
be signed at a later date, when safe to do so. 

 
180/P TEMPORARY HIGH STREET PEDESTRIANISATION 

 The Committee noted the discussion at the Partnership Committee meeting held 
on 4 February 2021 and the recommendation to consider requesting any 
amendments to the existing Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (“ETRO”) to 
facilitate access to the town centre for bus users and disabled drivers. 

A number of potential options was discussed including defining a temporary cycle 
lane in the High Street, allowing blue badge holders or the Buzzer Bus access to 

Page 209



Planning and Transport Committee  10 March 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  95 

the High Street and implementing street scene changes such as additional 
benches. 

It was noted that any amendments to the existing ETRO would need to be 
requested before 30 March and if amended, a new ETRO would then run for 
another 18 months, i.e. extending the existing situation for an additional 6 
months. The Committee agreed it did not wish to extend this temporary 
arrangement but would prefer that Central Bedfordshire Council consider these 
options in its deliberations about options for the future of the High Street following 
the end of the Covid-19 pandemic restrictions and once the existing order came 
to an end in March 2022. 

The Committee noted that the Town Council would need to submit its views to 
the local authority prior to the end of the existing ETRO period and expressed 
the view that this should be done by the full Council, due to the potential for 
differing views of different committees or sub committees. 

RESOLVED not to request any amendments to the existing ETRO for the 
High Street but to ask Central Bedfordshire Council to include 
consideration of all options in its review of the current Order and its 
recommendations for the future of the High Street from March 2022. 

RECOMMENDED to Council that a formal response to Central Bedfordshire 
Council on the future of the High Street from March 2022 be considered at 
an Autumn 2021 meeting of the Council.  

181/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
The Committee reviewed applications received up until  8 March 2021 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Befordshire Council that no objection 
be made to planning application CB/21/00523 (The Boat Shop, Linslade) 
subject to the following conditions: that residential occupation be 
associated with the use of the site as a maintenance yard and that 
permitted development rights be removed.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Befordshire Council that no objection 
be made to planning application CB/21/00434 (114 Clarence Road), subject 
to future permitted development rights being removed as a condition of 
granting application approval. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Befordshire Council that no objection 
be made to planning application CB/21/00451 (Jalna, Hockliffe Road), 
subject to Central Bedfordshire being satisifed that its car parking 
standards are being met.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following applications:  
 

1. CB/21/00520   7 LYWOOD ROAD 

2. CB/21/00440   16 GOLDEN RIDDY, LINSLADE 

3. CB/21/00674   8 MANNOCK WAY 

4. CB/20/03991   OLD BANK SCHOOL, SANDY LANE 

5. CB/21/00772   27 ASHBURNHAM CRESCENT LINSLADE 

Page 210



Planning and Transport Committee  10 March 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  96 

6. CB/21/00825   101A SOUTH STREET 

 

DOC 
7. CB/21/00646/DOC  309 BIDEFORD GREEN, LINSLADE 

 

TREES 
1. CB/TRE/21/00086  12 TAYLORS RIDE 

 
 182/P TRANSPORT MATTERS  

 
There were no transport matters to report. 

 
 183/P INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

 The Committee was advised of three consultations/surveys being run currently 
by Central Bedfordshire Council: 

 
(a) Three batches of Public Notices in respect of proposed parking restrictions. 
(b) Proposed walking and cycling improvements on Heath Road. 
(c) A survey regarding the temporary term time only road closures in the vicinity 

of Pulford Lower School and Leedon Lower School. 

It was understood that a similar temporary term time road closure had been in 
force near Mary Bassett Lower School but that this had been subject to some 
local comment. The Committee asked whether the local authority could provide 
any further information on this matter. 

RESOLVED to note the information and for this to be made available to all 
councillors to submit individual responses if wished. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 2028 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD 10 MARCH 2021. 

 
 
 
 

Chair                   31 MARCH 2021 

Page 211



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 212



 

Page 83 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

29 MARCH 2021 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present Councillors:  S Jones (Chair) 
C Palmer 
R Berry 
A Dodwell (Vice Chair) 
J M Freeman 
F Kharawala 
S Owen 
T Morris 
G Perham 
R Goodchild 
D Scott 

      
Also in attendance:  M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
     S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
     Services)  
     M Jahn (Committee Officer) 
     S Barrett (Central Bedfordshire Council) 
     D Maltby (Global MSC Security) 
            

 Members of the public: 0  
 
206/PF    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 No apologies for absence were received.  
 
207/PF DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

No declarations of interest were made and no dispensations were 
requested. 
 

  208/PF      QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
       There were no questions from the public. 

 
209/PF     CCTV DIGITAL UPGRADE PROJECT  
 

(a) By invitation Steve Barrett, Safer Neighbourhood Manager at Central 

Bedfordshire Council and Derek Maltby of Global SMC Security attended 

the meeting to provide an update on the area-wide CCTV Digital upgrade 

with anticipated costs and timescales. 

A location for the control room had been confirmed and new operators 
recruited.  The CCTV system would be upgraded to offer 24/7 digital 
imaging on a cloud-based system where images could be stored and made 

Page 213



Policy & Finance                          29 MARCH 2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

84 

immediately available to the police or camera owners.  All cameras would 
be replaced and wireless transmission used where images would be 
relayed back to the control room.  This would significantly reduce the 
current annual costs of using BT Fibre connection to transmit data and 
would give flexibility to add or take away cameras to the network.  Some 
BT Fibre connection would still be needed but significantly less than at the 
present time. 
 
Next steps anticipated were – 
 
(a) Appointment of installer in early April 

(b) Order key fibre connection from BT 

(c) Agree a plan for delivery late summer/autumn 2021 

(d) Upgrade of shop watch radios to digital from analogue 

Members agreed the upgrade would be the best option to improve 
effectiveness of the CCTV system.  The location of the cameras would be 
important as when using Wi-Fi a clear line of sight would be needed to 
enable images to be captured.  Any foliage/trees would need to be 
managed effectively to enable an efficient operation of the system.  There 
would be no adverse impact on the redeployable cameras which 
transmitted data via 3G/4G; transmission could be redirected to the new 
control room at no additional cost.    
 
A question was raised as to whether the Town Council paid for monitoring 
and servicing the system.   It was confirmed that only Astral Park and the 
redeployable cameras were a charged service.  

  

A question was raised regarding the potential downtime whilst the system 

changed from analogue to digital.  It was confirmed this would be minimal 

as the analogue system could still be used whilst the new digital system 

was being installed.  The downtime for each camera would be a few hours. 

 

Thanks were given to Steve Barrett and Derek Maltby for their informative 

update on the proposed CCTV digital update.   

 
RESOLVED to note the information. 

 
(b) Members considered approving expenditure from the Future Projects 

earmarked reserve 9033/925 to fund the upgrade of 7 cameras in Town 

Council parks to digital, with associated costs for installation and 

transmission links. 

RESOLVED:  
 
(a) That a maximum of £40,000 be committed from the Town Council 

Reserves 9033/925 with any anticipated shortfall made up from 

Page 214



Policy & Finance                          29 MARCH 2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

85 

underspend within the Operation Dodford budget for the period 

2020/21. 

(b) To ensure sufficient budget in the CCTV budget line (4400/410) for 

the ongoing annual fibre costs for the Astral Park cameras 

(anticipated at £1,460 per annum and expected to be offset by 

savings on current fibre costs from other sites following the 

change to Wi-Fi transmission). 

 
 210/PF  MINUTES OF SUB COMMITTEES  
 

(a) The Committee received the minutes of the Standing Orders Task and 

Finish Group meeting held on 26 November 2020 and 11 January 2021. 

RESOLVED to receive the minutes of the Standing Orders Task and 
Finish Group meeting held on 26 November 2020 and 11 January 2021. 
 
(b)The Committee received the draft minutes of the Standing Orders Task 

and Finish Group meeting held on 26 February 2021. 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Standing Orders Task and Finish 
Group meeting held on 26 February 2021 be approved as a correct 
record, to be signed at a later date when safe to do so. 

  
211/PF PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO STANDING ORDERS   
 
 The Committee received and considered draft amendments to Town 

Council Standing Orders.  Thanks were given to Sarah Sandiford for her 
work in bringing together the amendments for the Task and Finish Group 
who agreed that the changes made gave a better model to follow. The 
review had been quite short but intense and all involved were thanked for 
their positive contributions to the process. 

 
 Once the Committee recommended approval of the changes to Council on 

26 April, and once proposed and seconded, those changes should stand 
adjourned without discussion until the next ordinary meeting of the Council 
(currently scheduled for Monday 17 May but this date may be subject to 
change). 

 
 RECOMMENDED to Council adoption of revisions to Town Council 

Standing Orders, particularly in respect of: public questions, 
councillor questions, ordinary Council meetings, delegated authority 
to the Town Clerk and political groups. 

 
212/PF ENVIRONMENTAL AMBITIONS AND EQUALITIES STATEMENT 

ACTIONS 
 
 The Committee received and considered a report to seek direction on which 

Town Council Committee is best placed to deliver the Town Council’s 
Environmental Ambitions and Equality and Diversity Agenda. 

Page 215



Policy & Finance                          29 MARCH 2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

86 

 
 RESOLVED that Council takes ownership of the Town Council’s 

Environmental Ambitions and Equality and Diversity Statement and in 
doing so, provides direction to the various standing committees and 
sub-committees who act on its behalf. 

 
213/PF   POLICY REVIEW  
 

 The Committee received and considered a report to look at priorities for 
policy review during 2021-2022 and the addition of a Policy Index.   

 
 Some policies had not been reviewed for several years and committee 

approval was sought to prioritise these. The policies listed in the Index 
would be reviewed as some might no longer be relevant or their review 
could be directed to another committee or sub committee. The work 
involved in maintaining and reviewing the significant number of policies was 
acknowledged.  

 
RESOLVED to note the Policy Index and to agree priorities for review 
in 2021-2022 as set out in the report. 

  
214/PF  THIRD PARTY FUNDING/USE OF ASSETS PROTOCOL  
 
 The Committee received and considered a draft Protocol in respect of 

funding to third parties (outside of established council grant schemes) 
and/or use of Council assets by third parties.     

 
 RECOMMEND to Council for approval subject to the addition of the 

wording in red below. 
 

(a) Point 2 - The funding request, of any amount, must be authorised by a 

committee with budget spending approval or if a meeting cannot be held 

in a timely manner, authority delegated to the Proper Officer to approve 

the request and then report it back to committee retrospectively. 

(b) Point 6 – The requestor must sign a user agreement on receipt of the 

asset.  Such agreement will set out any terms and conditions applicable 

to the loan of the asset and be drawn to the attention of the relevant 

Committee or Sub Committee.  For example, the loan of a mobile 

telephone may be subject to conditions regarding use of mobile data or 

downloading of applications.  The loan of vehicle may be subject to a 

mileage limit or use within a geographical area.  Other considerations 

may include: security, insurance, location stored, arrangements for 

running costs, arrangement for repairs. 

 
    215/PF   FEBRUARY PAYMENTS 

 
The Committee received schedules of payments for February 2021 which 
had previously been approved for payment by the Town Clerk and 

Page 216



Policy & Finance                          29 MARCH 2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

87 

countersigned by two signatories.  There were no anomalies or matters of 
concern to draw to the attention of the Committee.  

 
 The schedule for February 2021 dated 15 March 2021 included BACS 

payments amounting to £108,339.47 (page numbers 2860-2869). The 
monthly salaries listing for February 2021 amounting to £100,065.36 gross 
was received.   A cash book report for February 2021, including details of 
all direct debit payments, was also received. 

 
 RESOLVED to receive the schedules of payments for February 2021, 

which had been approved for payment by the Town Clerk and two 
councillor signatories.  

  
RESOLVED to note the report. 

 
    216/PF  BUDGET UNDERSPEND RECOMMENDATION 

 
             The Committee received and considered a recommendation made by 

Cultural & Economic Services Committee on 1 March 2021 to carry forward 
underspend of £2000 to fund annual maintenance to the Children’s Trail. 

 
 RECOMMENDED to Council to carry forward underspend of £2,000 

from Buzzard Trails (4509/101) to earmarked reserve (9018/970) to fund 
annual maintenance to the Children’s Trail. 

 
    217/PF INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT   
 

The Committee received the final internal audit report for 2020-2021 and 
noted that no issues had been identified, with a robust and thorough report.   
 
However, one concern was raised with the content of the report in the  
section ‘Review of Petty Cash and Fuel Cards’ as views of some councillors 
had not been taken into account regarding the processes used to log spend 
on Fuel Cards in the past.  It was felt the report had not been rigorous enough 
on this particular point.   
 
On being taken to a vote 7 voted for, 2 against with 2 abstentions. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report. 

 
  

 
   The meeting closed at 2121 hours. 
 
    I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 

RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 29 MARCH 2021. 
 
 
 

Page 217



Policy & Finance                          29 MARCH 2021 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                                            Page 
 
 

88 

 
CHAIR                               19 APRIL 2021 

Page 218



 
 
 
 
 
 

Protocol for Funding to Third Parties & 
Use of LLTC Assets by Third Parties 

 
 
Introduction 
 
The Town Council recognises its integral role within the community of Leighton-
Linslade and aims to support third party organisations to the best of its ability. This 
support may result in financial support (outside of established grant schemes) or in 
the loan of Town Council owned assets on a temporary basis. The purpose of this 
protocol is to set out the guidelines to be followed in order to safeguard both parties. 
 
Funding 
 
Wherever possible, any requests for financial support should be made through the 
Town Council’s established grant schemes and in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of those schemes. 
 
Where this is not possible or practicable, the following procedures must be followed: 
 

1) The funding request should clearly set out: 
 
i) The purpose of the required funding 
ii) Whether the organisation itself or any further third parties are also 

contributing to the project, whether financially or in other ways 
iii) Evidence of value for money (i.e. more than one quote) and where 

possible, supporting local suppliers 
iv) Evidence of community benefit to be derived 
 

2) The funding request, of any amount, must be authorised by a committee with 

budget spending approval approval or if a meeting cannot be held in a timely 

manner, authority delegated to the Proper Officer to approve the request and 

then report it back to committee retrospectively. 

3) Where possible and practicable, proof of expenditure should be provided by 
the requestor prior to reimbursement by the Council. Where this is not 
possible, proof of expenditure must be provided within six months to the 
Council.  

 
Use of Council assets 
 
On occasion, the Council may permit the short term loan of Town Council owned 
assets to third party organisations, where there is a clear community benefit to be 
derived. Any such loan of assets should be actioned as follows: 
 

Page 219



 

4) The requestor should put forward a request in writing for loan of the asset in 
question, setting out anticipated duration of loan and community benefit to be 
derived. 

5) A risk assessment should be completed by Town Council officers and 
submitted along with the request to the relevant committee for consideration. 

6) The requestor must sign a user agreement on receipt of the asset. Such 
agreement will set out any terms and conditions applicable to the loan of the 
asset and be drawn to the attention of the relevant Committee or Sub 
Committee. For example, the loan of a mobile telephone may be subject to 
conditions regarding use of mobile data or downloading of applications. The 
loan of a vehicle may be subject to a mileage limit or use within a 
geographical area. Other considerations may include: security, insurance, 
location stored, arrangements for running costs, arrangements for repairs. 

7) The arrangement must be reviewed at regular intervals throughout the loan 
period. 

8) Upon return of the asset, a Town Council officer must inspect the condition of 
the asset and raise any concerns with the requesting organisation.  

 
Emergency requests 
 
In the event that a request for use of assets or funding is made in support of a local 
emergency and a decision is required at short notice, authorisation for the short-term 
(up to 5 days) use of assets or emergency funding (up to £250) may be given by the 
Town Clerk, following receipt of email approval from the Town Mayor, the Leader of 
the Council and the Chair of the appropriate standing committee.  Such authorised 
requests will be retrospectively formally reported to the relevant committee.   
 
Escalation procedures 
 
In the event of any issues arising from the provision of funding or the loaning of 
assets to a third party, the matter will be brought to the attention of the authorising 
committee at the first appropriate meeting. The Committee will determine any action 
to be taken on behalf of the Town Council. 
 
 
 
March 2021 

Page 220



   

Page 97 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 31 MARCH 2021 AT 1930 HOURS 
 

Present:  Councillors   J M Freeman – in the Chair  
    A Dodwell 
    R Yates (substituting for K Cursons) 
        G Perham 
    D Bowater 
    C Palmer (substituting for J Silverstone) 
    F Kharawala 
    S Owen 
    D Scott 
                

          Also in attendance:    M Saccoccio (Town Clerk)  
    S Sandiford (Head of Democratic and Central  
    Services) 
               

  Members of the public:     0 
  

184/P      APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor K Cursons (substituted 
by Councillor R Yates) and from Councillor J Silverstone (substituted by 
Councillor C Palmer).  
 

185/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 No declarations of interest were made and no dispensations were requested 
 
186/P QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

  
  There were no questions from the public. 
 
187/P MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held on 10 March 2021. 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 10 March 2021 be approved as a correct record and would be 
signed at a later date, when safe to do so. 

 
188/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 

The Committee reviewed applications received up until  26 March 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 221



Planning and Transport Committee  10 March 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  98 

 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/21/00977 (Land at Leighton 
Buzzard Garden Centre) but the Town Council would make the following 
comments for consideration: 
- Concern that the proposed parking spaces are sufficient for staff and 

visitors. 
- Concern regarding traffic movements during construction and that 

construction traffic should approach from Hockliffe. 
- That concerns raised by the pollution officer regarding potential 

odour/noise issues be mitigated where possible. 
 
Discussion took place regarding application reference CB/21/00769 (Land 
between Shenley Hill Road and Heath Road to Vandyke Road). Concerns were 
raised that access should be maintained from Vandyke Road to Shenley Hill 
Road until such time as the new road was opened. The committee noted that 
more information on the anticipated road layout for the development area 
including traffic movements would have been useful. In particular, it would have 
been helpful to see how the proposed cycleways would join up with other routes. 
It was proposed that no objection be made on the understanding that there be 
no loss of access at any time between Vandyke Road and Shenley Hill Road. On 
being put to the vote, this was carried (7 in favour, 2 against).    
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/21/00769 (Land between 
Shenley Hill Road and Heath Road to Vandyke Road), on the understanding 
that there would be no loss of access at any time between Vandyke Road 
and Shenley Hill Road.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following applications:  
 
1.   CB/21/00711    50 SOUTHCOTT VILLAGE,  
2. CB/21/00928    6 CHILTERN GARDENS 
3. CB/21/01000    11 COPPER BEECH WAY 
4. CB/21/00944    22 ORION WAY 
5. CB/21/01036    9 ASHBURNHAM CRESCENT 
6. CB/21/01034    59 LINWOOD GROVE 
7. CB/21/00975    89 STOKE ROAD, LINSLADE 
8. CB/21/01146    82 ASHWELL STREET 
9. CB/21/00893    4 SARITOR CROFT  

10. CB/21/00696    112 VANDYKE ROAD 
     
TREES 
 
1.   CB/TRE/21/00102   4 THE HEATH 
 2.  CB/TRE/21/00106   3 THE HEATH 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 222



Planning and Transport Committee  10 March 2021  
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    Page  99 

 
 189/P TRANSPORT MATTERS  

 
There were no transport matters to report. The parking matters discussed 
previously, following the recommendation from Partnership Committee, had 
been passed on to Central Bedfordshire Council for a response. It was suggested 
that Councillors could forward details of any other parking concerns they wished 
to raise to officers to be collated and brought to a future meeting for discussion.  

 
 190/P INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

 The Committee received correspondence dated 11 March 2021 from Central 
Bedfordshire Council regarding a consultation on Proposed Main Modifications 
to its Emerging Local Plan. The letter set out the modifications being consulted 
on and the documentation which could be found on the Central Bedfordshire 
Council website. The consultation would run until 12pm on Wednesday, 5 May 
2021. 

In particular, it was noted that Main Modification 78 included reference to site 
HA1 HAS33 (Land North of Soulbury Road, Leighton-Linslade), inclusion of 
which had been strongly objected to by the Town Council.  

 
In addition to any individual responses councillors might wish to submit to the 
consultation, it was suggested that committee members forward their thoughts 
to officers to be collated for discussion at the next meeting on 21 April.  
 
The Committee also noted that secondary legislation was expected later this year 
on changes to permitted development in town centres. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 2018 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD 31 MARCH 2021. 

 
 
 
 

Chair                            21 APRIL 2021 

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 224



 
 
 
 
 
Policy and Finance Committee      

 
Date:  19 April 2021   
 
Title:  Annual Governance Review 
 
Purpose of the Report: To provide assurance to Committee in 

recommending approval of the Annual 
Governance Statement to Council. 

 
Contact Officer: Mark Saccoccio, Town Clerk 
 

 

Corporate Objective/s  To consolidate processes 
and procedures, ensuring 
operational efficiency. 

Implications:   

Financial None  

Human Resources None  

Operational/Service 
delivery 

Yes Procedures remain fit for 
purpose in terms of risk 
management and internal 
control.  

Legal Yes To ensure the Town Council 
has proper practices in place in 
accordance with legislation 
and guidance. 

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
1.1 To note the report.   

 
1.2 To recommend to Council that minor amendments to the Town Council’s 

credit card procedure as set out at Appendix A of this report be endorsed; 
 

1.3 To recommend to Council to endorse minor amendments to Standing 
Orders to fairly reflect Brexit transitional advertising of contract 
arrangements as set out at paragraphs 5.2 and 5.3 of this report; 
 

1.4 To recommend to Council to endorse minor amendments to Financial 
Regulations to fairly reflect Brexit transitional advertising of contracts 
arrangements as set out at paragraph 6.3 of this report.  
 
 
 

Page 225



 
  

Page 2 of 5   

 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Parish Councils are required to complete and sign an annual statement of 

governance prior to approving the annual statement of accounts, in accordance 
with The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015. 
 

2.2 The statement gives assurance that the Council has an adequate system of 
internal control in place, as well as effective measures for financial management 
during the year. 
 

2.3 In accordance with the regulations above and as set out in the Town Council’s 
Financial Regulations (available on the website), the Council has established a 
Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control (adopted by Council in 
April 2018). Since its adoption in 2018, the said control document has been the 
subject of its bi-annual review (approved by Policy and Finance Committee in 
July 2020).  
 

2.4 The Statement sets out the various procedures and measures in place to 
determine and mitigate different risks, as well as clearly defining the roles and 
responsibilities of Council, Committees, Councillors and Officers in the ongoing 
financial management of the Council. 
 
 

3.0 UPDATE 
 
3.1 In terms of the Town Council’s Financial Regulations, transitional advertising 

arrangements caused by Brexit have led to subtle changes in the way contracts 
are to be advertised and these have been reflected in a proposed minor change 
to the Town Council’s Financial Regulations and Standing Orders.  

 
3.2 A review has been undertaken of the Town Council’s credit card procedure. The 

procedure together with the proposed amendments can be found at Appendix 
A of this report. The way purchases are made by way of the credit card 
procedure hasn’t changed. However, the proposed amendments reflect 
changes in personnel and to the reporting system given the deletion of the 
Accounts Sub-Committee.  

 
3.3 No issues have arisen as a result of the internal auditor’s interim or final reports 

for the year ending 31 March 2020. To date, no issues have arisen in this 
financial albeit the final report has yet to be received albeit is anticipated shortly.  

 
3.4 The five-year contract with the internal auditor does not currently require review. 
 
3.5 At its meeting held 18 January 2021, the Policy and Finance Committee was 

presented with the entire Risk Register which had been revisited to ensure it 
remained accurate, up-to-date and fit for purpose. Each specific area of risk 

Page 226



 
  

Page 3 of 5   

 

had been re-evaluated. Where practicable, action items had been addressed 
during the re-assessment period.  

 
3.6 New actions for 2021-22 include land east of Leighton-Linslade, bye-laws, 

headstones safety survey, review of investment policy, protocol for 
funding/donations, 10 year buildings maintenance plan and skate park (nearing 
end of life expectancy). The action plan summarises a proposed course of 
action for each area, who is responsible and a proposed deadline date.  

 
 

4. STATEMENT OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
 
4.1 The Statement as adopted by Council on 16 April 2018 and last reviewed by 

this committee in July 2020. It is considered to remain accurate and fit for 
purpose and therefore no amendments are proposed.   

 
5. STANDING ORDERS 
 
5.1 The following changes are minor in nature and do not compromise in any way 

the work that the Standing Order Task and Finish Group has been involved in 
and with. The changes are made to reflect transitional advertising 
arrangements brought about by Brexit and to reflect current financial threshold 
figures. Accordingly, Section 18 (e) is amended to read: 
 
A public contract regulated by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 with an 
estimated value in excess of £25,000 but less than the relevant thresholds in 
standing order 18(h) is subject to Regulations 109-114 of the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 which include a requirement on the Council to advertise the 
contract opportunity on the Contracts Finder (Find a Trader) website 
regardless of what other means it uses to advertise the opportunity, unless it 
proposes to use an existing list of preferred suppliers (“the framework 
agreement”).  
 

5.2 At Section 18 (h) of Standing Orders, the financial thresholds have been 
amended as well as the omission of the reference to OJEU and in its place 
reference made to the Find a Trader website to now read: 
 
A public contract regulated by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 with an 
estimated value in excess of £189,330 for a public service or supply contract 
or in excess of £4,733,252 for a public works contract shall comply with the 
relevant procurement procedures and other requirements in the Public 
Regulations 2015 which include advertising the contract opportunity on the 
Find a Tender Contracts Finder website.  

 
5.3 Section i. to be amended to now read: 
 

A public contract in connection with the supply of gas, heat, electricity, drinking 
water, transport services, or postal services to the public; or the provision of a 
port or airport; or the exploration for or extraction of gas, oil solid fuel with an 

Page 227



 
  

Page 4 of 5   

 

estimated value in excess of £378,660 for a supply, services or design contract; 
or in excess of £4,733,252 for a works contract; or £663,540 for a social and 
other specific services contract shall comply with the relevant procurement 
procedures and other requirements in the Utilities Regulations 2016.  
 

5.4 The minor amendments as set out above will be presented to Council at its 
meeting to be held 26th April 2021. The amendments are made to fairly reflect 
the changes brought about by the United Kingdom exiting the European Union.    

 
5.5 As mandatory legal requirements, these changes may be approved by Council 

at its next meeting without having to stand adjourned (S.O. 26b). 
 
 
6. FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 
 
6.1 NALC issued an update to the Model Financial Regulations in August 2019 and 

these have been reviewed and compared with the Town Council Financial 
Regulations (last amended July 2020). 
 

6.2 The 31st of December 2020 marked the end of the transition period for the 
purposes of leaving the European Union. Consequently, there are new 
advertising requirements with the introduction of “find a tender” a UK 
Government led platform. New procurement rules mean that instead of 
advertising a contract on the Official Journal of the European Union OJEU/TED 
(Tenders Electronic Daily – a supplement to the OJEU) platform, all new 
projects are to be advertised on Find a Tender. The financial thresholds remain 
unchanged. 
 

6.3 The proposed change is to amend footnote 3 of 11.1.b from: 
 
 
The Regulations require Councils to use the Contracts Finder website to 
advertise contract opportunities, set out the procedures to be followed in 
awarding new contracts and to publicise the award of new contacts.  

 
 to now read: 
 
The Regulations require Councils to use the Contracts Finder (Find a Tender) 
website to advertise contract opportunities, set out the procedures to be 
followed in awarding new contracts and to publicise the award of new 
contacts.  

 
 
7. CONCLUSIONS 
 
7.1  The Town Council continues to have strong and effective systems in place for 

internal control, risk management and financial management.  
 

Page 228



 
  

Page 5 of 5   

 

7.2 The Committee is asked to consider the recommendations as set out in 
paragraph 1.  

 
End. 

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 230



 

   2021/2022 

Health and Safety 

Policy 

Page 231



 
 

1 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY – 2021/2022 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PART 1 - STATEMENT OF INTENT  

PART 2 - ORGANISATION AND RESPONSIBILITIES  

2.1 Responsibilities  

   The Town Clerk  

   The Heads of Service and Team Managers  

   The Responsible Health and Safety Officer  

   All Employees  

 

PART 3 - THE ARRANGEMENTS  

3.1 Accident/Incident Reporting  

3.2 Accidents to Employees  

3.3 Accidents to Non-Employees  

3.4 Near Miss or Damage Incident  

3.5 Accident Books 

3.6 Collation of Accident Data  

3.7  Alcohol and Drug Abuse  

3.8 Consultation with Employees 

3.9 Contractors  

3.10 The Control of Substances Hazardous to Health  

3.11 Display Screen Equipment (DSE) 

3.12 Electricity at Work  

3.13 Fixed Wiring  

3.14 Portable Appliances  

3.15 Electrical Contractors  

3.16 Electric Shock  

3.17 Fire Safety  

3.18 Fire Safety Training  

3.19 Fire Equipment/Extinguishers  

3.20 Evacuation  

3.21 Fire Doors  

3.22 Fire Escape Routes  

3.23 Fire Alarm 

3.24 Emergency Lighting  

3.25 Fire Risk Assessment  

3.26 First Aid  

3.27 First Aid Boxes  

3.28 Home Working  

Page 232



 
 

2 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

3.29 Housekeeping 

3.30 Lone Working  

3.31 Manual Handling  

3.32 Monitoring and Review  

3.33 Nursing and Expectant Mothers  

3.34 Other Occupiers 

3.35 Risk Assessments  

3.36 Smoking at Work  

3.37 Stress 

3.38 Training  

3.39 Temporary Workers  

3.40 Visitors  

3.41 Workaway Workers  

3.42 Work Equipment  

3.43 Young Persons  

 

PART 4 - THE LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 10 GOLDEN RULES OF HEALTH AND 

SAFETY 

  

Page 233



 
 

3 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

PART 1 - STATEMENT OF INTENT 

It is the policy of Leighton-Linslade Town Council to comply with all legislation on health and safety 

by identifying those risks which pose a significant threat to the health, safety and welfare of its 

employees and others likely to be affected by its operations and to do everything that is 

reasonably practicable to: 

 ensure that appropriate control measures are implemented and maintained so as to 

avoid or minimise such risks  

 ensure that all employees are formally advised of the risks to their health, safety and 

welfare and of the measures taken by the Council to avoid or minimise such risks  

 promote and provide a safe and healthy working environment  

 ensure that premises are safe and provide adequate amenities for all those who are 

likely to use them 

 provide safe means of access to and from places of work which are under the Council’s 

control  

 ensure safe arrangements for the use, handling, storage and transport of all 

equipment, products and substances used in connection with the Council’s operations  

 initiate and maintain safe plant and equipment and safe systems of work  

 conduct regular inspections to ensure that the safest possible environment and work 

methods are maintained  

 provide sufficient information, instruction, training and supervision to enable all staff to 

avoid hazards and contribute positively to the safety and health at work of themselves 

and others  

 periodically review its business activities and ensure that this policy and the 

procedures, risk assessments and control measures contained herein continue to be 

up to date and relevant to the Council  

 ensure effective line management and provide adequate resources for the 

implementation and monitoring of the policy.  

All employees have a duty to assist the Council in its health and safety objectives and it is 

essential that all staff read this written statement of safety policy and meet all the obligations 

imposed, with particular regard to the following:  

 

 staff must take all reasonable care to avoid injury to themselves or to other persons likely 

to be affected by their activities at work and to co-operate in meeting any duty or 

requirement imposed on the Council by any statutory provisions. 

Page 234



 
 

4 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

 

 staff must not intentionally or recklessly interfere with or misuse anything provided by the 

Council in the interest of health and safety  

 

This policy is reviewed annually and Leighton-Linslade Town Councils commitment to health and 

safety is to meet our legal requirements as a minimum and in most areas, exceed them. 

 

 

Mark Saccoccio  

Town Clerk 

  

Page 235



 
 

5 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

PART 2 - ORGANISATION AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

“Everyone shall be responsible for implementing our Health and Safety Policy”. 

By this collective responsibility there is a much greater likelihood of achieving our health and 

safety targets for the year and ensuring that we all stay safe. 

2.1 Responsibilities  

The Town Clerk  

Will ensure that:  

 adequate resources are available, that the policy is properly prepared, implemented 

throughout the Council’s premises and is brought to the attention of Councillors and all 

employees  

 the policy is kept under review, so that changes and improvements are incorporated, and it 

remains relevant to all activities  

 all individuals with delegated health and safety responsibilities are aware of their 

responsibility and that all Heads of Service are encouraged to show leadership by good 

example and to be enthusiastic advocates of the policy  

 In respect of operations and/or areas under their control they:  

 are aware that they are directly responsible for the health, safety and welfare of any person 

who may be affected by the Council’s activities and are therefore accountable for any 

accidents, illness or incidents that may occur as a result thereof; 

 ensure that they, and their staff (including new and temporary employees), are familiar with 

the hazards, risk assessments and the control measures implemented, and will actively 

encourage safety, and discipline any person who is in breach of the safety measures 

described, ensure that good housekeeping standards are maintained, take action to:  

o correct or contain any deterioration in conditions, or new exposures which increase 

risks on the open spaces  

o ensure that investigations of any accident or incident, however minor take place 

o ensure that any risk improvement, recommendation relating to defects, 

housekeeping arrangements and reassessment of risks is implemented as quickly as 

possible  

The Heads of Service and Team Managers  

Are responsible for: -  

 setting a personal example and fostering a positive culture within the Council towards 

health and safety  

 ensuring that all those under their control understand and comply with the Council’s safety 

policy provisions and that they are being effectively carried out and adhered to  

 inspecting machinery, equipment and structures regularly and if there are faults, preventing 

access by any person to the defective apparatus until the faults have been rectified  

 ensuring that all those under their control understand and comply with the Council’s safety 

policy provisions for the use and maintenance of all safety/ personal protective equipment, 

first aid, fire and welfare facilities  

Page 236



 
 

6 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

 ensuring that employees are adequately instructed and trained in the safe operation of 

equipment, machinery or apparatus  

 advising staff of their responsibilities under this policy  

 communicating with all those under their control to ensure the effective dissemination of 

health and safety information and attending any meeting as required in respect of health 

and safety  

 ensuring that all persons under their control are given adequate instruction, information and 

training to carry out the health, safety and welfare requirements and responsibilities 

delegated to them and are able to effectively implement safe systems of work  

 arranging for incidents, accidents, near misses and dangerous occurrences to be reported  

 ensuring that those under their control do not take unnecessary risks  

 assisting the Council in carrying out the identification of all hazardous activities together 

with all hazardous substances used; assisting the Council in carrying out risk assessments 

of such activities and substances and producing safe systems of work to eliminate or 

reduce the risk of injury to the worker or any other persons who could be affected by the 

work activity  

 ensuring that all those under their control understand and comply with the Council’s safety 

policy provisions on the use and maintenance of all safety/ personal protective equipment, 

first aid, fire and welfare facilities  

 The Responsible Health and Safety Officer  

Will ensure that: 

 the Policy and Finance Committee is informed on all issues concerning the implementation 

of this policy, and other significant health and safety matters  

 ensuring that all personnel are aware of, and instructed in, their responsibilities as imposed 

by health and safety legislation and the provisions of this policy  

 ensuring that the Council fulfils its obligations under the Health and Safety at Work Etc Act 

1974 with particular regard to:  

o the provision and maintenance of safe plant and systems of work   

o ensuring safe and risk-free use, handling, storage and transport of articles and 

substances  

o the provision of information, instruction, training and supervision to ensure the health 

and safety at work of its employees   

o the provision of a safe place of work    

o the provision and maintenance of a safe working environment for its employees 

together with adequate facilities and arrangements for their welfare at work  

o ensuring that statutory test, inspection and maintenance regimes are followed  

o ensuring that risk assessments are conducted (and reviewed annually) with copies 

being supplied to relevant staff for implementation of control measures  

o ensuring the provision of suitable personal protective equipment is available, issued 

and used where required, that it is suitably stored and efficiently maintained and that 

a programme is in place for its replacement  

o ensuring that fire precautions and fire-fighting equipment comply with current 

legislation and that all staff are aware of and conform to the Council’s arrangements 

for fire precautions   

Page 237



 
 

7 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

o ensuring that reportable incidents are notified under the Reporting of Injuries 

Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995  

o ensuring that all accidents and near-misses are investigated, records made and data 

analysed to identify means of avoiding possible recurrence  

o ensuring that accident and near miss information is co-ordinated, analysed and 

where necessary, reported to the Policy and Finance Committee and that any 

remedial measures are acted upon  

o ensuring that meetings with the enforcing authority and insurers are suitably 

managed and that any recommendations flowing therefrom are actioned   

o ensuring that a positive health and safety culture is actively promoted throughout the 

workplace  

o keeping themselves up-to-date with best practice in health and safety management  

Employees  

All Employees have responsibilities for: 

Employees have legal responsibilities (under Sections 7 and 8 of the HSWA) which are to:  

 take reasonable care of their own health and safety and that of others who may be affected 

by their actions or omissions  

 co-operate with management to meet the Council’s legal duties; and  

 not to intentionally or recklessly interfere with or misuse anything provided in the interest of 

health, safety or welfare (eg fire extinguishers, fire doors, safety devices, alarm systems, 

emergency exits, first aid kits and/or protective clothing or equipment)  

 Employees must:   

 refrain from actions (or omissions) which might endanger themselves, or others  

 use all equipment safely, including that provided for their personal protection  

 comply with all safety instructions or procedures  

 follow safe systems of work and ensure that all work equipment is used in a safe and 

responsible manner  

 report to management any defects in equipment or other dangers (i.e. acts or conditions) 

immediately, or as soon as it is safe to do so and any accident, injury or incident, however 

minor  

 co-operate in the investigation of accidents and incidents  

 be familiar with, and comply with all safety procedures detailed in this policy document and 

with any specific instructions on safety matters given verbally or in writing by the 

Responsible Health and Safety Officer or a retained health and safety specialist who, 

although they may not be an employee of the Council, is recognised by it for the purposes 

of this policy  

 familiarise themselves with the local first aid and fire emergency evacuation procedures, 

which are posted on notice boards and be prepared to comply with them in the event of an 

incident 

  

Page 238



 
 

8 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

PART 3 - THE ARRANGEMENTS 

3.1 Accident/Incident Reporting  

In order to comply with the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences 

Regulations 2013. Where appropriate all accidents, industrial diseases and dangerous 

occurrences will be reported. 

 

3.2 Accidents to Employees  

Employees must report all accidents immediately to their Head of Service or direct line manager 

and, if injury is involved, to a first aider. The first aider will assess the seriousness of the injury and 

whether they can give appropriate treatment. If the injury is of a serious nature or if there is any 

doubt, the injured person will be sent to the nearest hospital or medical centre for treatment.  The 

first aider will inform the Town Clerk and Responsible Health and Safety Officer of the accident as 

soon as possible.  

 

After every accident however small, an entry must be made in an Accident Book for all 

accidents/injuries incurred at work. This is the responsibility of the employee. If, because of their 

injury the employee is incapable of making an immediate entry, then their Head of Service/team 

manager or direct line manager or the first aider must make that entry.   

 

If the accident/incident qualifies as reportable, then the Responsible Health and Safety Officer will 

ensure that the Enforcing Authority is notified.  

 

Following any accident that requires treatment, the first aider will complete an accident report form 

and send a copy to the Responsible Health and Safety Officer within 24 hours, who will then carry 

out an accident investigation to identify if remedial action is necessary to prevent a recurrence.  

 

3.3 Accidents to Non-Employees  

All accidents to non-employees, i.e. contractors, visitors or members of the public, who suffer 

injury as a result of either the Council’s work activities or its provision of services to the general 

public should be reported immediately to a first aider and then to the Town Clerk and Responsible 

Health and Safety Officer of the accident as soon as possible. 

 

Page 239



 
 

9 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

Details of the accident must be recorded in the accident book and the procedure outlined above 

should be adopted. The Responsible Health and Safety Officer will investigate all accidents to 

non-employees and will report their findings to the Town Clerk. 

 

3.4 Near Miss or Damage Incident  

All incidents resulting in damage to property, plant, equipment, etc. together with near misses 

should be reported to the Responsible Health and Safety Officer who will conduct an investigation, 

particularly if the incident could have caused personal injury.  

 

3.5 Accident Books  

Accident Books will be kept at all Town Council premises.  

 

3.6 Collation of Accident Data  

The Responsible Health and Safety Officer is responsible for collecting and collating data 

concerning all incidents once a quarter, whether or not they are reportable and whether or not they 

involve personal injury.  

 

3.7 Alcohol and Drug Abuse  

The misuse of drugs and alcohol can put the health, safety and welfare of employees at risk.  It 

can lead to poor performance at work, reduced efficiency, poor decision-making and lack of 

concentration, all of which can increase the likelihood of an accident.  

 

Substances in this respect include alcohol, illicit drugs, prescription drugs or any other substance 

which is capable of impairing behaviour, judgment or job performance.    

 

Abuse is the incorrect, improper or harmful use of any substance. 

 

It is the Council’s policy that no illegal drugs may be brought onto its premises.  Breach of this rule 

will result in disciplinary action being taken against the employee, which may include summary 

dismissal. 

 

Page 240



 
 

10 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

Additionally, no employee should be working under the influence of alcohol or drugs whilst on the 

Council’s premises or whilst conducting the Council’s business at any other premises. 

3.8 Consultation with Employees  

Legislation requires all employers to consult their employees on health and safety matters.  This 

helps to create a safe working environment and strengthens the Council’s health and safety 

culture.  Consultation affords the opportunity to motivate staff and create health and safety 

awareness.  This, in turn, makes the organisation more efficient, and reduces accidents, incidents 

and ill-health.  

 

All employees are encouraged to contribute to the management of health and safety.  Any 

employee who does not understand our existing policy, wishes to raise a concern or wishes to 

suggest an alternative course of action, may do so by contacting any of the senior management 

team.  Statutory notices and emergency procedures are displayed on notice boards, and all 

employees are encouraged to read these on a regular basis. Developments in legislation and 

information specific to the Council’s business will be notified to staff.  

 

3.9 Contractors  

We will follow procedures designed to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that we only 

engage contractors who are competent.   

 

Prior to the engagement of any contractor who tenders for work at Council premises, they will be 

required to complete a detailed questionnaire and provide supporting evidence covering:  

 their arrangements for health and safety  

 how they achieve safe working practices  

 skill levels of staff (training records, qualifications etc.)  

 evidence of health and safety awards  

 details of any prosecutions or enforcement notices issued against them  

 details of their accident/incident records  

 information on the controls they impose on any sub-contractors they may engage  

 contractors will be required to work under a permit-to-work system in particularly hazardous 

situations (hot work, live electrics etc.)  

Page 241



 
 

11 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

 

Before we embark on any project which may be subject to the Construction (Design and 

Management) Regulations 2015, we will ensure that we obtain competent advice on how to meet 

their requirements.  

3.10 The Control of Substances Hazardous to Health  

We will ensure that such substances are assessed and that, so far as is reasonably practicable, 

we will replace them with suitable and less hazardous substances wherever possible.  

 

Where the Council is aware that its staff may be visiting third-party premises where hazardous 

substances are present, the Council will seek relevant information from the third party which will 

be provided to the Council employee.  

 

We will complete COSHH assessments for those operations in which hazardous substances or 

materials are used, or places in which items are stored (including waste products) to identify and 

evaluate the risks associated with their use, storage and disposal and to implement control 

measures to limit exposure to employees and others who may be affected by those operations.  

 

We will obtain from suppliers safety data sheets for all substances used at our premises. These 

will be kept centrally by the Responsible Health and Safety Officer who will provide copies to H&S 

Representatives and First Aiders when required.  

 

If, as part of a control measure and only as a last resort, personal protective equipment is deemed 

necessary, employees will be provided with the appropriate equipment, which will be stored, 

maintained, repaired and tested as required by the Personal Protective Equipment at Work 

Regulations 1992. Training will be provided for all staff who may need to use such equipment.  

 

We will assess the use of all new substances introduced into the workplace. COSHH assessments 

will be carried out by the Head of Service/team manager or by such other suitably qualified 

persons as he/she may direct.  

 

Page 242



 
 

12 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

Unless experience or circumstances dictate otherwise, we will review our COSHH assessments 

and control measures at least once a year, to ensure that they remain appropriate and effective.  

 

We will provide information, instruction and training for all employees who may be exposed to 

hazardous substances including information on the results of risk assessments.    

 

Appropriate information and training will also be provided to any non-employees who may be 

exposed to hazardous substances.  

 

No hazardous substances may be introduced to the workplace without the prior written approval of 

the Responsible Health and Safety Officer.  

 

All contractors bringing chemicals or hazardous substances onto Council premises will be 

required to declare that they are doing so and to supply the Council with a copy of their COSHH 

assessments and appropriate safety data sheets.  

3.11 Display Screen Equipment (DSE)  

Health risks to display screen operators may include postural problems and visual fatigue, in 

addition to the other hazards of the workplace, such as tripping over cables or carpets, lifting 

injuries e.g., picking up boxes of paper, etc.  

 

Postural problems often manifest themselves in the form of back and neck ache as well as sprains 

and strains of such areas as fingers, hands, wrists, elbows and shoulders.   

 

Contributory factors include:  

 sitting in an immobile position for long periods  

 high rates of repetitive finger movements, with the wrists bent  

 poor circulation to the legs  

 pressure from the seat/chair upon the thighs caused by incorrectly adjusted seating  

 

Page 243



 
 

13 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

 Visual fatigue can result in eyestrain, headaches or other related symptoms and can be caused 

by:  

 poor screen display, such as low contrast or flickering  

 high levels of ambient light compared to the screen display  

 reflections or glare  

 the need for a document holder  

 

To reduce the risks to DSE operators an assessment (formerly recorded) of each user of a 

workstation will be undertaken to identify and evaluate the risks associated with that workstation.  

 

Employees will conduct assessments of their own workstation and will forward results to the 

Responsible Health and Safety Officer. Where an assessment discloses potential problems for the 

employee, a second assessment will be undertaken by the Responsible Health and Safety Officer 

or other suitably qualified person, and remedial action will be taken as necessary.  

 

The Council will follow the advice contained in the Health and Safety (Display Screen Equipment) 

Regulations 1992 as amended by the Health and Safety (Miscellaneous Amendments) 

Regulations 2002 (DSE) and where assessment indicates a need, it will offer staff free eyesight 

tests and a contribution towards corrective spectacles. It will also provide footrests and document 

holders where their need is recognised, and the opportunity for staff to take rest-periods away 

from the workstation.  

 

Workstation users will be provided with suitable and sufficient training and information regarding 

their workstation and will be given a copy of HSE Guidance Note INDG 36 “Working with VDU’s”.  

 

 

3.12 Electricity at Work  

Electrical equipment must not be tampered with. Employees should report loose wires or defects 

in equipment to the Responsible Health and Safety Officer who will decide what action to take.  

Page 244



 
 

14 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

Employees who wish to bring their own electrical equipment onto the Council’s premises must not 

do so until they have obtained prior permission from their Head of Service. 

 

3.13 Fixed Wiring  

In order to maintain the fixed wiring installation which supplies electrical sockets, lighting and other 

hard-wired equipment, the Council will follow the guidance contained in the Electricity at Work 

Regulations 1989 and BS 7671 which recommend that the system be inspected by a competent 

specialist electrical contractor at least once every five years.  

 

3.14 Portable Appliances  

All portable appliances will be given a thorough electrical test by a competent person on 

installation or commission and thereafter will be subject to further testing to be determined by the 

nature of the equipment and the use to which it is put. The frequency of such tests will be 

determined by reference to HSG 107 “Maintaining Portable And Transportable Electrical 

Equipment”. At the very least, it will undergo a visual inspection every 12 months.  

3.15 Electrical Contractors  

We will ensure that any electrical contractors employed to carry out electrical work on wiring or 

equipment are competent, belong to an appropriate body, eg NICEIC and comply with all relevant 

safety standards.  

3.16 Electric Shock  

If there is any accident involving electrical injury to an employee, a first-aider should be 

summoned immediately.  

3.17 Fire Safety  

We have a legal duty to safeguard our employees and others against exposure to the hazards 

associated with fire. Exposure to fire can result in burns and inhalation of smoke, either of which 

can be fatal.  Fires can also cause massive destruction to the building structure, services, 

equipment, and contents.  

 

This section of the Health and Safety Policy defines the responsibilities that we have and the 

procedures we must follow in order to ensure fire safety at work. 

 

Page 245



 
 

15 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

3.18 Fire Safety Training  

All our employees will receive fire safety training at induction which will include:  

 fire awareness  

 the means of escape from the premises  

 what to do in the event of fire  

 location of fire extinguishers   

 fire assembly points  

 measures for disabled employees where applicable  

 no smoking policy  

 

3.19 Fire Equipment/Extinguishers  

Extinguishers may be found at fire points which are clearly signed and usually located on exit 

routes. They are checked regularly by a competent contractor who services them on an annual 

basis.  

 

Training in the use of extinguishers will be given as appropriate. All employees are instructed 

never to take unnecessary risks and only to fight a fire with equipment provided they have been 

trained to use the equipment and it is safe to do so.  

 

3.20 Evacuation  

Detailed fire evacuation procedures are displayed on notice boards. For reference, the procedure 

is as follows:  

 On being informed of a fire, all employees should evacuate the premises immediately, 

without stopping to pick up belongings. Staff should use the nearest available exit and 

proceed to their designated assembly point as quickly as possible without panicking or 

running and await the roll call.  

 Following evacuation, staff must not re-enter the building to collect personal belongings 

or leave the assembly area until told to do so by management, acting under instruction 

from the senior fire officer at the scene.  

Page 246



 
 

16 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

 Designated persons will check the premises to ensure that every employee and visitor is 

accounted for.  

Evacuation drills will be undertaken at least twice a year to familiarise staff with the procedure and 

test the effectiveness and suitability of the arrangements.  The Responsible Health and Safety 

Officer will evaluate fire safety systems after each drill. Actions in the Event of Fire Notices’ are 

prominently displayed throughout the office.  

 

3.21 Fire Doors  

All fire doors are suitably marked and should be kept shut and clear of obstruction at all times 

including the area immediately outside any external fire exit. Any employee finding a fire door 

blocked or locked should report it immediately to the Responsible Health and Safety Officer.  

 

3.22 Fire Escape Routes  

These include all fire escape corridors and staircases.  They must be kept clear at all times.  Any 

employee finding a fire escape route blocked or obstructed should report it immediately to the 

Responsible Health and Safety Officer.  

 

3.23 Fire Alarm  

Smoke detectors are provided throughout the office area and are regularly tested. Tests are 

conducted weekly and are recorded. 

 

3.24 Emergency Lighting  

Emergency lighting conforms with fire safety legislation and is maintained and tested every 6 

months by an approved contractor. Records of all tests and maintenance activities are to be kept.  

 

3.25 Fire Risk Assessment  

We will undertake an assessment of the risks presented by fire and put in place appropriate 

control measures to minimise the risks identified.  These measures will include:  

 a regular inspection for general fire safety   

 checking that fire detection equipment and emergency lighting is inspected and 

maintained regularly  

 placing fire extinguishers at clearly labelled fire points and ensuring they are maintained  

Page 247



 
 

17 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

 keeping emergency exit routes and signs clear at all times  

 training of nominated staff in the use of extinguishers, procedures for fire drills and 

evacuation  

 supervision and monitoring of visitors, including contractors  

 implementation of precautions in respect of disabled people  

 

These arrangements will be reviewed at least annually and on any significant change affecting the 

Council’s premises.  

All employees are reminded that:  

 fire fighting equipment must not be tampered with or removed under any circumstances; 

interfering with safety equipment is a criminal offence under S.8 of the Health and Safety 

at Work Act 1974  

 electrical equipment should be switched off at close of business wherever practicable  

 fire exit routes must remain free from obstruction at all times and fire doors and exits 

must not be either locked or propped open  

 smoking is not permitted anywhere within the Council’s premises  

 personal electrical equipment should not be used on the premises unless it has been 

authorised by their Head of Service.  

 all waste materials must be placed in metal bins or other designated receptacles provided  

 all workplaces should be kept tidy at all times.  

3.26 First Aid  

We have a legal duty to make adequate provision for first aid in respect of employees should they 

sustain injury or become ill at work, including those travelling or working away from our premises.  

 

We will assess risks to employees and make appropriate first aid provision to deal with the risks 

taking into account the number of people employed, the size of the establishment and the hazards 

and risks involved in our activities.    

 

Page 248



 
 

18 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

We will reassess the first aid provisions annually, or whenever there is a relevant change in the 

workforce or the hazards to which they are exposed.  When there have been significant changes, 

we will revise our arrangements accordingly.  

 

Additionally, we will ensure that contractors on our premises either have sufficient first aid 

provision, or if their work involves no special risks, the contract may include their use of our 

facilities, by agreement.  

 

In assessing the need for first aid facilities we will comply, as a minimum, with the provisions of the 

Health and Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981.   

 

3.27 First Aid Box  

A first aid box is kept by the first-aider at each of the Council’s offices. It is checked regularly to 

ensure that its contents are legally compliant and adequate to fulfil the needs recognised by risk 

assessments.  

3.28 Home Working  

Most of the Regulations made under the Health and Safety at Work Act apply to home workers as 

well as to employees working at an employer's workplace.  

 

Before permission for homeworking is granted to any employee they will be required to complete a 

questionnaire regarding work conditions at their home, following which the Responsible Health 

and Safety Officer may undertake a further detailed risk assessment to ensure their health and 

safety, having particular regard to the provisions of:  

 Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999   

 Display Screen Equipment Regulations 1992  

 Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992  

 Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998   

 Electricity at Work Regulations 1989  

Page 249



 
 

19 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

 

3.29 Housekeeping  

All employees have a responsibility to ensure their own work area and the workplace in general is 

kept free from hazards, particularly those which may give rise to fire or to slips, trips and falls.  

 

Carpeting and floor coverings will be selected for their appropriateness to area usage and will be 

maintained in a condition suitable to prevent the risk of slips, trips and falls.  

 

Materials must not be allowed to encroach onto designated pedestrian walkways. Stacking should 

be avoided but where this is not possible, materials should be stacked in a stable manner so that, 

so far as is reasonably practicable, the risk of them falling is reduced to a minimum.  

Any spillage or leakage of liquids or solids which may give rise to a slip hazard must be cleaned 

up immediately.  

 

The Council will promote good housekeeping by positive supervision and through a system of 

regular workplace inspection. Waste or surplus materials should be placed in a waste bin or 

returned to their source and not left lying around to cause a hazard.  

 

3.30 Lone Working  

There is no general legal prohibition on working alone but the broad duties placed on us by the 

Health and Safety at Work Act and the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations still 

apply. These require identifying hazards of the work, assessing the risks involved, and putting 

measures in place to avoid or control the risks.  

 

Staff who wish to work at any of the Council premises outside normal office hours must first of all 

seek the permission of their Head of Service/team manager so that arrangements can be made to 

ensure their safety. 

 

The Council will avoid putting lone workers at any greater risk than other employees by 

introducing control measures which take account of normal work and foreseeable emergencies, 

eg fire, equipment failure, illness and accidents.  

 

Page 250



 
 

20 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

Control measures may include:  

 a ‘buddy system’ by which regular contact is maintained between the lone worker and a 

nominated person who is advised of the action to take in the event of failed or lost contact  

 automatic warning devices which operate if specific signals are not received periodically from 

the lone worker  

 other devices designed to raise the alarm in the event of an emergency and which are 

operated manually or automatically by the absence of activity  

 checks that a lone worker has returned to their base or home on completion of a task 

Please refer to our lone working policy for further details. 

 

3.31 Manual Handling  

Manual handling can be defined as the transporting or supporting of a load including:  

 lifting and lowering  

 putting and taking  

 pushing and pulling  

 twisting, turning and stretching  

 carrying or moving by hand or bodily force.   

Injuries are likely to be caused through incorrect lifting techniques or by not taking account of the 

weight, size, shape of the load, or the environment. We will undertake assessments for all manual 

handling operations to identify any risks to employees from manual handling of loads (other than 

those which are clearly not significant).  

 

Employees are reminded that manual handling should be avoided where reasonably practicable 

and employees must not engage in manual handling activities that are beyond their capabilities, 

due to the size, weight or nature of the item to be moved. The results of risk assessments will be 

communicated to employees and where appropriate, suitable training will be given to staff in 

correct lifting techniques.  

 

Manual handling operation assessments will be carried out by the Responsible Health and Safety 

Officer or such other competent person appointed by the Council.  

Page 251



 
 

21 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

Hierarchy of Measures for Manual Handing: 

i) avoid or eliminate the hazardous manual handling task  

ii) if it is unavoidable, assess the manual handling task for risk  

iii) introduce measures to reduce the risk of injury from the task to the lowest reasonably 

practicable level  

3.32 Monitoring and Review  

To ensure that the various procedures and policies set out in the arrangements section of our 

Health and Safety Policy are being adhered to and being implemented as intended, we will 

undertake an audit once a year.  These audits will be conducted by the Responsible Health and 

Safety Officer and other relevant staff, aided by external health and safety professional(s) where 

their assistance is considered appropriate. The findings of the audits will be communicated to the 

Policy and Finance Committee, management and staff together with a review of the effectiveness 

of the arrangements contained in this section of the policy. In addition, the Health and Safety 

Policy together with all risk assessments will be reviewed at least annually to ensure that they 

remain valid, and they will be updated to reflect any necessary changes.  

 

3.33 Nursing and Expectant Mothers  

We recognise the extra vulnerability of nursing and expectant mothers and additional risk 

assessments will be made when a female employee notifies her manager that she is pregnant; 

they will be informed of any additional risks they may face in our workplace as a consequence of 

their condition.  

 

As required by law, if additional risks to nursing and expectant mothers cannot reasonably be 

reduced, we will find alternative work with no loss of terms or conditions, or we will authorise paid 

leave if alternative work is not available.  

 

The Council is only required to take extra precautions for nursing and expectant mothers if it is 

notified of their condition.  It follows therefore that staff must inform the Council of their condition, 

supported by confirmation from their medical practitioner. In the absence of supporting medical 

evidence, the Council reserves the right to request medical confirmation.  

Page 252



 
 

22 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

3.34 Other Occupiers  

We will fulfil our obligations under the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 

1999 to co-operate on health and safety matters with other organisations which share the 

premises we occupy by keeping them fully informed of any risks specific to our business to which 

their staff may be exposed.   

 

We will also ensure that such other organisations advise us of any specific risks associated with 

their work activities and will provide our staff with all relevant information.  

3.35 Risk Assessments  

The management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 require that we make suitable 

and sufficient assessments of the significant hazards in the workplace that could affect our staff or 

others, arising from our business activities.  Certain work activities require separate, specific 

assessments. Risk assessments will be conducted in all areas but with particular reference to the 

following Regulations:  

 Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 – General risk assessments  

 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – fire prevention, detection, alarm systems, 

evacuation procedures   

 Personal Protective Equipment Regulations 2002 – PPE assessments  

 Display Screen Equipment Regulations 1992 – DSE assessments  

 Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992 – Manual handling  assessments  

 Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002 – COSHH assessments  

The findings of the assessments will be readily available to all staff upon application to the 

Responsible Health and Safety Officer for approval.  Information, instruction and training will be 

given to employees following an assessment where appropriate.  

 

All our assessments will be reviewed annually or upon any significant change in circumstances or 

following an accident/incident 

3.36 Smoking at Work  

Smoking is not permitted anywhere within the Councils premises.  

Page 253



 
 

23 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

All employees who are working away from the Councils premises are reminded that they must 

observe the smoking restrictions which apply at remote sites and in particular, to observe the 

requirements of the Smoke-free (Premises & Enforcement) Regulations 2006.  

3.37 Stress  

Stress is defined as 'the adverse reaction people have to excessive pressures or other types of 

demand placed on them'. This makes an important distinction between the beneficial effects of 

reasonable pressure and challenge (which can be stimulating, motivating, and can give a 'buzz') 

and work-related stress, which is the natural but distressing reaction to demands or pressures that 

the person perceives they cannot cope with at a given time. If stress is not identified and 

addressed, it can lead to both physical and mental health problems.  

 

The effect of stress on performance is well established and in the interests of both the health of 

employees and the efficiency of the Council, it should be minimised. Symptoms of stress include, 

inter alia, headaches, depression, raised blood pressure, insomnia, irritability, nervous break-

down, psoriasis, eczema, hair loss, panic attacks, palpitations and loss of appetite.  

 

If employees believe that they have a problem with stress, they are encouraged to seek 

confidential assistance from their Head of Service. 

3.38 Training  

We have a responsibility under Section 2 of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 to provide 

training for employees to ensure their health and safety at work. It is our policy to ensure that all 

employees are adequately trained in our health and safety policies and procedures as well as 

being trained to undertake any task they are expected to carry out and for any emergency that 

may arise during their employment.  

 

We will ensure that all new employees are given a copy of the full version of the Health and Safety 

Policy.  They must sign an acceptance note to state they have read and understood the document 

and will implement its rules and procedures. Safety induction training will be provided for all new 

employees and on the job training will be provided for specific tasks as identified by the person 

responsible for their area.  

 

Page 254



 
 

24 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

Safety induction training will include (where applicable):  

 employees duties and responsibilities  

 safety notices  

 good housekeeping  

 fire safety  

 accident reporting and first aid arrangements  

 hazard reporting  

 need for personal protective equipment  

 hygiene  

 manual handling  

 hazardous substances  

 display screen equipment  

 

On successful completion of any training the employee will be required to complete a form 

indicating that he/she has received and understood the training.  This form will be countersigned 

by the employee’s immediate line manager. All employees have a legal responsibility to co-

operate with the Council’s training programme so that its objectives can be met.  Employees are 

expected to attend training courses and must put into practice any new instruction or guideline 

provided.  

Employees must also follow any revised working procedures once they have been given the 

appropriate information, instruction and training.  

3.39 Temporary Workers  

The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 and the Management of Health and Safety at Work 

Regulations 1999 make specific provision for the health and safety of temporary workers 

employed by the Council. Heads of Service will ensure that all temporary workers are given health 

and safety induction training covering identified hazards, together with the emergency procedures 

and the management controls appropriate to those risks before they commence their duties. 

Persons working less than one week in total will always work under the supervision of an 

experienced full-time employee.  

 

Page 255



 
 

25 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

We appreciate that temporary employees will be exposed to the complete range of risks to which 

other employees are exposed and that they will also be unfamiliar with many of the procedures 

and will need extra supervision for a period after their induction. Agencies which provide 

temporary staff will be required to provide evidence that they have a safety policy as a matter of 

contract between our business and the agency.  The policy must include a statement that their 

workers will comply with our safety procedures whilst on our premises or whilst working under our 

direction.  

 

We have a duty to advise agencies which provide temporary staff of any specific risks associated 

with the Council’s activities of which the agency would be otherwise unaware.  

 

Agencies which provide temporary staff will be required to provide evidence of their Employers’ 

Liability insurance.  

3.40 Visitors  

As far as possible, visitors will always be accompanied by an employee.  Visitors will not be 

permitted to wander freely around working areas. In cases where visitors are not accompanied at 

all times (e.g. auditors) a brief induction in the emergency procedures applicable to the premises 

which they are visiting will be given. Should a fire occur, the person who is accompanying the 

visitor will assume responsibility for them and will escort him/her to the fire assembly point.  

 

Should an incident occur involving the visitor which results in injury, this will be recorded in the 

Accident Book and a thorough investigation carried out as soon as possible. If the injury is of a 

serious nature or is fatal, the incident must be reported to the enforcing authority and the Council’s 

accident reporting system must be followed.  

 

All visitors must:  

 sign in and out in the Visitors’ Book at Main Reception  

 be issued with a visitor’s pass, which must be worn  

 be advised of the basic fire procedures  

Page 256



 
 

26 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

3.41 Workaway Workers  

The Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974, the Management of Health and Safety at Work 

Regulations 1999, and the Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992 apply to our 

employees who visit other premises in the course of their work.  

Employees who are working at remote premises must conform to all arrangements made by the 

dutyholder of the premises regarding compliance with regulations covering health and safety, the 

environment, fire, security and liaison, such as signing the visitors’ book, observing no smoking 

areas and reporting to named managers before starting or leaving work or moving to a different 

area.  

3.42 Work Equipment  

The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 apply to the functioning and safety of 

our work equipment. In order to minimise the risk of injury from work equipment, we will put in 

place arrangements for the assessment of risks and then create appropriate control measures to 

minimise the risks identified.   

 

These measures will include the following arrangements and procedures:  

 an assessment of all new or second-hand equipment purchased  

 all equipment purchased will comply with any relevant product safety standards  

 all hired or rented equipment will be required to comply with the regulations, and will include 

the provision of comprehensible information on its safe use  

 inspection of the equipment (including statutory inspection if applicable) and testing where 

necessary  

 maintenance of a log for all equipment that could give rise to serious injury  

 provision of adequate and identifiable means of isolation, where appropriate  

 ensuring equipment is safeguarded to prevent risks from mechanical and other hazards  

 provision of suitable and effective safety devices and controls  

 provision of suitable and readily comprehensible signs and warnings  

 provision of suitable general, task and emergency lighting  

 ensuring that machinery and equipment are maintained in efficient working order and in 

good repair  

Page 257



 
 

27 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

 ensuring that the suitability of equipment is matched to the tasks involved  

 ensuring that adequate and effective training, information and instruction is provided for 

operators  

 ensuring that maintenance is carried out safely by competent maintenance contractors  

 ensuring that only trained operators use the machinery  

 maintenance of a reporting system for any difficulties, hazards or defects encountered or 

identified with work equipment  

 a full list of all equipment and the frequency with which it needs to be maintained (and 

statutorily inspected if applicable) will be held by the Heads of Service who will also ensure 

that all necessary statutory inspections and/or maintenance activities are carried out at the 

appropriate time, and will keep safe the records, certificates and documentation.  

These arrangements will be reviewed at least annually and on any significant change in the type, 

nature or use of equipment.  

3.43 Young Persons  

We will carry out a suitable and sufficient risk assessment for all work involving young persons (16 

to 18 years old) prior to their employment, and will communicate the result of this to them on their 

commencement of work.  

The risk assessments for work involving young persons will take into account their:  

 lack of experience or awareness due to their immaturity  

 physical and psychological capacity to carry out the work effectively  

 potential exposure to toxic or harmful substances or agents (including radiation)  

 inexperience in the recognition of potentially hazardous situations, or lack of training  

 potential exposure to extremes of heat or cold, noise or vibration  

 

Where young persons or children who are below the minimum school-leaving age (on work 

experience or other work placement schemes) may be exposed to risk, their parent(s) or guardian 

will be advised of all identified risks and the measures we have introduced to contain them. This 

information will be provided before the young person starts work with the Council.  

  

Page 258



 
 

28 

Health and Safety Policy 2021/2022 

PART 4 - THE 10 GOLDEN RULES OF HEALTH AND SAFETY 

• Understand your health and safety responsibilities  

• Ask your Head of Service/team manager advice if you are unsure  

• Never undertake unauthorised tasks or operations  

• Ensure the safety of your work mates and members of the public  

• Wear and use correctly all the PPE and safety equipment that has been provided  

• It’s up to you to report defects, faults, hazards, near misses and accidents  

• Ensure that your work equipment is safe before use  

• Know who your workforce representative is and their role  

• Never take part in horseplay or practical jokes at work  

• Suggest improvements for health and safety at work 

Page 259



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 260



 

  2021-2022 

Lone Working  

Policy  

Page 261



 

1 

 

Lone Working Policy 2021/2022 

1.0  Purpose  

  

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to describe the measures that Leighton-Linslade Town Council 

considers necessary to manage the risk present when employees are required to work 

alone.  

  

2.0 Definition  

  

2.1 Lone working includes both members of staff alone in a building and those whose duties 

involve working outside where there is no close, frequent or regular contact with other 

colleagues.  

  

3.0  Policy  

  

3.1 The Council will, as far as is reasonably practicable, ensure that:  

  

• employees required to work alone are protected from risks to their health, safety and 

welfare  

• any risks are identified in discussion with their Head of Service and team manager and any 

actions required to mitigate high risks are taken before lone working is undertaken  

• employees take responsibility for their own safety and understand that they must remove 

themselves immediately from any such situation. Such action and concerns must be 

reported immediately to their Head of Service/ team manager and the appointed 

Responsible Health and Safety Officer.  

  

4.0  Legal Responsibilities  

  

4.1 Section 2(1) of the Health and Safety at Work Etc Act 1974 places a duty on every 

employer to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health, safety and welfare of 

employees.   

 

4.2 In addition, the Management of Health & Safety at Work Regulations 1999 places a duty on 

the employer to consider all reasonably foreseeable hazards and to take the appropriate 

action to reduce the possible risk of injury to the lowest level that is practicable to achieve.  

  

5.0  Who is at Risk  

  

5.1 All employees who, as part of their contracted duties, are required to work alone and 

without direct supervision.  

  

5.2 This policy does not set out to identify all the situations where employees may be at risk 

from working alone but concentrates on describing the arrangements that must be in place 

to eliminate or manage the associated risks.   

 

5.3 Lone working itself is not necessarily high risk but the activity that is performed may well 

be. It is important that these individuals are made aware of the outcome of the risk 

assessment and informed of all necessary control measures.  

 

Page 262



 

2 

 

Lone Working Policy 2021/2022 

6.0  Assessing the Risk  

  

6.1 Head of Services are responsible for identifying and assessing the risks of lone working 

both in terms of the likelihood of causing harm and also the severity of the injury.  

 

6.2 Consideration will be given to whether the activity is one that can be safely accomplished 

by one person or whether the presence of another member of staff would be advisable. If a 

risk cannot be eliminated completely, action must be taken to reduce the risk to the lowest 

level practicably achievable.  

  

7.0  Specific Guidance  

  

7.1 Head of Services/team managers should take account of the following factors when 

evaluating the risk:  

  

• the degree of isolation   

• the type of work activity   

• the level of supervision and support  

• contact or proximity with members of the public  

  

7.2 Any person who is recruited for a job likely to involve lone working should be reasonably 

physically fit and must declare if they have any medical disability that may put them at risk 

whilst working alone, e.g. hearing impairment, diabetes. A first aid kit should be readily 

available at all times for minor injuries should they be sustained.  

  

7.3 All lone workers will have access to a mobile telephone or hand-held radio which must be 

switched on so that they may be contacted or to summon help should the need arise. For 

all high-risk activities, e.g. where activity is remote from other people, it is imperative that 

the employee gives clear guidance to their Head of Service/team manager as to their 

location(s) during the day.  

  

7.4 Lone workers must contact a nominated person in the office before they finish work for the 

day if they intend to go directly home. If planning to work out of standard hours this must be 

agreed in advance with their Head of Service/team manager.  

  

8.0  Duties of the Heads of Service and team managers 

  

8.1 In order to fulfil its statutory responsibilities, the Council places specific duties on all 

managers to ensure:   

  

• All lone working activities are formally identified and appropriate risk assessments 

undertaken, which identify the risk to lone workers and the control measures necessary to 

minimise those risks, as far as reasonably practicable.  

• Arrangements for lone working are communicated effectively and the details of what can or 

cannot be done while working alone is explicit.  

• The lone worker is made aware of the hazards and understands all the necessary control 

measures that need to be put in place.   

• Reasonable enquiries are made to ensure that the lone worker is medically fit to undertake 

work alone.  

Page 263



 

3 

 

Lone Working Policy 2021/2022 

• Adequate supervision, instruction and training are in place and that the lone worker is 

competent. The extent of the supervision is a management decision, which should be 

established through a risk assessment process.   

• Monitoring of lone working practices is in place to ensure that control measures identified in 

the lone working risk assessment are being adhered to.  

    

9.0  Employee Duties  

  

9.1 All employees have a responsibility to take care of their own safety and to co-operate with  

Council procedures. Employees should not knowingly place themselves in situations which  

expose them to additional risk by working alone. If a person finds that they are placed in a 

situation, which may be considered to be that of a ‘lone worker’, then they should ensure 

that their Head of Service/ team manager is made aware of the circumstances at the 

earliest opportunity and then assist in the process of identifying the steps needed to either 

prevent the lone worker situation from arising, or, if this is not possible, assist in developing 

the precautions necessary to ensure their own safety.  

  

9.2 Lone workers have a responsibility to inform their Head of Service/team manager if they 

have any concerns over the effectiveness and efficiency of the agreed arrangements and 

also if there are any reasons why they would not be able to work alone or to continue to 

work alone in safety.  

  

10.0  Risk Assessment  

  

10.1 The risk assessment process will be undertaken as a collaborative exercise by both the 

lone worker and their Head of Service/team manager and that the agreed safe working 

procedures are recorded, approve by the appointed Responsible Health and Safety Officer 

and communicated to all persons who may be required to work alone and any other 

employees who have a role in ensuring their safety.  

  

10.2 The following outlines the steps that must be taken for a lone working risk assessment:  

  

10.3 Identify the hazards to which the person may be exposed. The hazards are likely to be the 

same for a particular activity whether lone working or not. The assessment of the risks to 

which a lone worker may be exposed must take into account normal and foreseeable 

scenarios.  

  

10.4 The hazards may be such that the risk cannot be controlled sufficiently and therefore lone 

working is prohibited. Examples of high risk activities where at least one other person will 

need to be present include: 

 

• working on or near water  

• power tools and machinery  

• working at height  

• chemicals which are corrosive, toxic, explosive, flammable or asphyxiant products or 

reactions 

 

10.5 Identify all persons who may be required to work alone. Consideration must be given to an 

individual’s ability to carry out their activities safely on their own. Some individuals may be 

Page 264



 

4 

 

Lone Working Policy 2021/2022 

at greater risk than others for example, new and expectant mothers and young persons or 

those who are new to a role. It may be necessary to make reasonable enquiries to ensure 

that lone workers are medically fit to undertake the work alone.  

  

10.6 Assess whether current controls are adequate, and if not, consider what 

additional/alternative control measure(s) can be put in place. Examples of control 

measures include the provision of suitable training and communication strategies.  

  

10.7 Record the findings. Record the risk assessment findings for any significant risks identified. 

Ensure that the lone worker is made aware of the findings of the risk assessment and the 

appointed Responsible Health and Safety Officer signs off final risk assessment. 

  

11.0  Monitoring and Review  

  

11.1 Arrangements which are implemented to ensure the safety of lone workers need to be 

subject to a monitoring regime which is commensurate with the risk, by their Head of 

Service/team manager.  

 

11.2 Risk assessments are to be reviewed if any significant changes take place, following an 

accident / incident or following any concerns being raised.  

 

11.3 Any review should make sure existing control measures are adequate and check if any 

additional controls are needed. 

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 266



 

Page 1 

 

 

 

COMPLAINTS POLICY & PROCEDURE 

 

Contents 
 

Introduction ........................................................................................................... 1 

Informal Complaints .............................................................................................. 2 

Formal Complaints ................................................................................................ 3 

Formal Complaints about Officers/Employees ...................................................... 3 

Formal Complaints about the Council, Committees or Decisions .......................... 3 

Vexatious complaints ............................................................................................ 4 

Anonymous complaints………………………………………………………………….5    

Local Government Ombudsman………………………………………………………..5 

 

Introduction 
 

1.1 The Town Council recognises that it is not subject to the jurisdiction of the Local Government 

Ombudsman but has adopted this Policy based on LGO guidance to ensure that complainants are 

properly and fully considered. 

 

1.2 The Town Council is committed to providing a quality service to benefit the residents of Leighton-

Linslade and will monitor complaints to ensure they can be used to contribute to continuous service 

improvement.  

 

1.3 A complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction about the Council’s action or lack of action or about 

the standard of a service, whether by the council itself or a person or body acting on behalf of the 

council.  

 

1.4 The Town Council does not consider formal complaints against councillors. These are dealt with in 

accordance with the Town Council’s adopted Code of Conduct by Central Bedfordshire Council’s 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

 

 

 

Page 267



 

Page 2 

 

1.5 This Policy does not cover: 

 

Type of complaint Refer to 

One Council employee about 
another 

Grievance Procedure  

A Council employee and the Council 
as employer 

Disciplinary Procedure 

Individual Councillor conduct alleged 
to breach the code of conduct 
adopted by the Council. 

Central Bedfordshire Council is responsible for 
handling complaints that relate to a Member’s 
conduct. Complaints should be addressed to the 
Monitoring Officer at Central Bedfordshire 
Council. 

Alleged financial irregularity Local electors have a statutory right to object to 
a Council’s audit of accounts 
(S.16 Audit Commission Act 1998) 

Alleged criminal activity Bedfordshire Police 

 

1.6 A fair and courteous response will be given in all cases, and a full and proper investigation may be 

undertaken to establish all the pertinent facts. 

 

1.7 All complaints will be treated in accordance with the Council’s policies relating to the Data Protection 

Act 2018. 

 

Informal Complaints 

 
2.1 The Council receives queries, problems and comments as part of its day to day operations and these 

will not ordinarily be considered as complaints, but as routine and expected matters which will 

generally be resolved to the resident’s/customer’s satisfaction. 

 

2.2 If someone is dissatisfied with the original service or response they received and wishes to take the 

matter further, then the issue will be recognised as an informal complaint.  

 

2.3 The Town Council will seek to resolve all complaints informally prior to a formal complaint being 

lodged. 

 

2.4 An informal complaint is made to a Head of Service or to the Town Clerk who will liaise with the 

complainant and relevant Members/officers to seek resolution.  

 

2.5 Should, in the opinion of the Town Clerk or Town Mayor, the complaint be of a serious nature, the 

complaint shall be escalated to a formal complaint. 

 

2.6 Any complaints handled by Heads of Service should be notified to the Town Clerk, who shall maintain 

a record of informal complaints about staff and the council. 

 

2.7 There is no defined process for an informal complaint; but full records must be kept of any 

communications and attempts at resolution. 

 

2.8 The Council will endeavour to deal with informal complaints within 14 working days of receipt.  

 

Page 268



 

Page 3 

 

2.9 The complainant should be advised that if they remain unsatisfied with the response, they have the 

right to then make a formal complaint.  

 

Formal Complaints 
 

Where possible, the Town Council would wish to solve any complaint informally prior to a 

formal complaint being lodged. 

All formal complaints shall be acknowledged within two weeks and complainants will be kept informed 

on the progress and likely timescale of the complaint investigation.  

Formal Complaints about Officers/Employees 

 

4.1 Formal complaints about an employee of the Town Council must be made in writing to the Town Clerk 

setting out the reasons for the complaint and providing any supplementary information that will assist 

an investigation. 

 

4.2 Complaints will be referred to the appropriate Line Manager for an investigation to be undertaken.  

 

4.3 The Line Manager must report back following investigation to the Town Clerk who will ultimately make 

the decision as to whether the Council’s disciplinary procedure needs to be invoked. 

 

4.4 Complaints about the Town Clerk must be made in writing to the Town Mayor, setting out the reasons 

for the complaint and providing any supplementary information that will assist an investigation. 

 

4.5 The complainant will be informed that an investigation will take place, which may result in the 

complaint being progressed under the council’s disciplinary policy. Timescales will vary depending on 

the nature of the complaint but the Council will endeavour to complete its investigation within 6 weeks 

of receipt.  

 

4.6 The response following investigation will confirm whether or not the Council finds the complaint 

justified. If found to be a valid complaint, the response should focus on learnings and actions to be 

taken by the council to prevent any similar issues in future (e.g. training).  

 

4.7 Any matters dealt with through the Disciplinary Procedure, following the initial investigation, are strictly 

confidential and cannot be disclosed to the complainant. 

Formal Complaints about the Council, Committees or Decisions 

 

5.1 Complaints about the activity or decisions of the council should be made to the Town Clerk in writing, 

providing any additional information that will enable the complaint to be investigated.  

 

5.2 The council will only consider complaints about its formal (council/committee) decisions where the 

complainant puts forward missing information or evidence to suggest that the council has erred in its 

decision making. 

 

Page 269



 

Page 4 

 

Residents have the opportunity to influence Council decision-making by speaking at the meeting at 

which the decision is to be made or by submitting comments in writing to the Town Clerk or to your 

councillor in advance of the meeting. 

 

Please note that Town Council Standing Orders prevent it re-considering a decision within six months 

unless there are exceptional grounds to do so. 

 

5.3 The complaint shall first be considered by the Town Clerk, Town Mayor and Chairman of the relevant 

committee who shall seek to resolve the issue or explain the background to the decision. The panel 

may escalate the complaint to the appropriate committee or Full Council should they consider they 

are unable to resolve it. 

 

5.4 Timescales will vary depending on the nature of the complaint and dates of relevant committee 

meetings. The Council will endeavour to respond to a formal complaint within 12 weeks of receipt. 

 

5.5 The response following investigation will confirm whether or not the Council finds the complaint 

justified. If found to be a valid complaint, the response should focus on learnings and actions to be 

taken by the council to prevent any similar issues in future (e.g. procedural changes or improvements 

in service delivery). 

 

5.6 Should the complainant be dissatisfied with the response from the panel or relevant committee, they 

should request an appeal. This will result in a Complaints Committee being convened to consider the 

original complaint, outcome and appeal.  

 

5.7  If a Complaints Committee is convened, the complainant may be invited to attend and to be 

accompanied by a representative of their choice. The outcome will be confirmed in writing to the 

complainant within seven working days of the meeting.  

 

5.8 Records shall be kept detailing all complaints, actions undertaken and the outcome. 

Vexatious complaints 
 

6.1 A vexatious complainant is one who persists unreasonably with their complaints, or makes complaints 

in order to inconvenience the Council rather than genuinely resolve an issue. This may include making 

serial complaints about different issues or continuing to raise the same or similar matters repeatedly, 

or raising complaints in an obsessive, persistent or aggressive manner. 

 

6.2 The term complainant includes anyone acting on behalf of a complainant in a vexatious manner. 

 

6.3 If such complaints affect the Council’s ability to undertake its work and provide its services to others, 

it may alter the way it deals with a vexatious complainant. 

 

6.4 With the exception of such immediate decisions taken at the time of an incident, decisions to restrict 

contact by the Town Council with a vexatious complainant will only be taken after careful consideration 

of the situation by the Town Clerk and the Town Mayor. 

 

Page 270



 

Page 5 

 

Anonymous complaints 
 

7.1  Anonymous complaints will not normally be considered, but will be referred to the Town Clerk and 

may be acted on at their discretion, according to the type and seriousness of the allegation and the 

information provided.  

 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

8.1 The LGO is responsible for handling complaints against principal authorities and some other public 

sector organisations which do not include local councils. The LGO has no jurisdiction in respect of a 

local council except where it is (i) working jointly with a principal authority through a joint committee 

which includes representatives of the principal authority or ii) exercising functions on behalf of a 

principal authority.  

 
         Adopted by Council xx 2021 

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 272



 
 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT (2000) POLICY 
 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
Since 01 January 2005 when the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 2000 
came into force, there is a legal right for any person or group to ask any 
public authority for access to information held by that authority. 
 
The Act gives a right to access information held by public authorities 
including: 
 

 Central Government 

 Local Authorities 

 NHS Service 

 Schools 

 Police 
 
 
1.1 THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN FOI AND DPA 
 
Personal information remains the subject of the Data Protection Act 2018 
(DPA) and is exempt from the Freedom of Information Act (FOI). 
If an individual asked for information about themselves this would be exempt 
under the FOI Act but processed as a subject access request under the Data 
Protection Act. 
 
2 PURPOSE 
 
FOI is about the right of access. 
 
This policy outlines the standards, responsibilities and liabilities of staff (both 
Council employees and partners working for the Council), Members, and the 
Council in relation to the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act (2000). 
 
The Council’s stated approach to providing information is one of openness 
and transparency. 
 
 
3 OBJECTIVES 
 
This policy highlights the following objectives outlined in the FOI Act and the 
Information Commissioner’s Office Guidance on FOI: 
 

 To ensure that information is either published or made available 
(subject to certain exemptions) to members of the public within 20 
working days of receiving a request. 

Page 273



[Type here] 

 

D:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\8\AI00002866\$grhirxe2.doc 2 

 

 To maintain effective search and retrieval mechanisms to enable 
successful compliance. 

 

 To maintain effective and efficient records systems for both information 
and for recording the processing and decisions around FOI. 

 
 
4 REQUESTING INFORMATION 
 
4.1 ROUTES TO ACCESSING INFORMATION 
 
Citizens can obtain information from a public authority via an approved 
publication scheme.   If the information is not included in the publication 
scheme, citizens can make a separate request in writing (including email).   
The request must state the name and address of the person applying for the 
information and the required information. 
 
Information means information recorded in any form. 

 
4.2 TIMESCALE 
 
The Council will generally have 20 working days in which to respond to a 
request. 
 
4.3 THE DUTY TO PROVIDE ASSISTANCE 
 
The Council is required to provide advice and assistance to people who have 
made or who are thinking of making a request.  This will help requesters to 
understand their rights under the Act and identify the information they want.   
The Council will fulfil its responsibilities under other legislation such as the 
Disability Discrimination Act 1998 and Race Relations Act 1976 (as amended) 
and in responding to any particular requests from different sectors of the 
community. 
 
 
 
 
4.4 CHARGES 
 
The Council may charge a fee for responding to requests.  The Council will 
inform the requester in writing. The amount that can be charged is set out in 
regulations from the government. 
 
4.5 RESPONSE 
 
If it holds the requested information, the Council will try to provide the 
information in the form requested unless it is unreasonable to do so. 
 

Page 274



[Type here] 

 

D:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\8\AI00002866\$grhirxe2.doc 3 

If any of the information requested is exempt, the requester must be advised 
in writing which of the exemptions has been relied on to withhold the 
information. 
 
4.6 APPEALS 
 
If a requester is unhappy with a decision or the way their request is handled, 
s/he has the right of appeal, first to the Council, and ultimately to the 
Information Commissioner.   The requester must be informed of these rights.   
The Council’s policy is to use the existing complaints procedure to handle any 
written expression of dissatisfaction even if that does not specifically ask for a 
review. 
 
If an appeal is submitted to the Information Commissioner, they will consider 
the case and inform both the applicant and the Council of the decision in a 
Decision Notice.   Where appropriate, the Decision Notice will instruct the 
Council as to what steps it needs to take to comply with the Act.   This may 
include the release of information.   Both the applicant and the public authority 
may appeal against a decision notice to the Information Tribunal. 
 
The Commissioner can also issue a public authority with an Enforcement 
Notice stating what steps it should take to comply with the Act.   The Council 
may appeal to the Information Tribunal against such a notice otherwise it must 
comply with the Enforcement Notice.   Failure to do so may lead to court 
proceedings. 
 
5 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

 The Town Clerk is ultimately responsible for ensuring the Council 
complies with the FOI Act.   This responsibility has been delegated to 
the Deputy Town Clerk to manage the day-to-day responsibility for the 
FOI policy and the provision of advice, guidance, publicity and 
interpretation of the Act. 

 

 Wilfully concealing, damaging or destroying information in order to 
avoid answering an enquiry is an offence and is subject to fines of up 
to £5000 in a Magistrates’ Court or an unlimited amount in the High 
Court. 

 

 The Town Clerk or Deputy Town Clerk will decide who is in the best 
position to respond to FOI requests in the first instance.   

 

 The Council needs to keep records of all the enquiries received, how 
they were dealt with, any decisions and reasons for them; and of any 
complaints or appeals.   Appropriate records management 
arrangements support good record keeping and efficient, effective 
access to information. 

 

 Any request for information should be considered in the first instance 
as a request under the FOI Act.   All members and officers need to be 

Page 275



[Type here] 

 

D:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\8\AI00002866\$grhirxe2.doc 4 

aware of their responsibilities under FOI.  The Council is, therefore, 
reviewing its induction and training programmes for both members and 
officers to ensure that these deliver adequate FOI awareness and 
familiarity with the Council’s FOI policy and procedures. 
 

 Requests will be dealt with in accordance with the flowchart published 
by the Information Commissioner (see Appendix D) or any subsequent 
guidance published by the ICO.  
 

 Note that public records in places of deposit are held on behalf of the 
Lord Chancellor and are subject to FOI even if the place of deposit is 
not itself an FOI authority.   The National Archives is developing 
guidance for places of deposit on how FOI requests for information in 
deposited public records should be handled.   This will include what to 
do if a request is received for records that have not yet been opened.  

 

 Official records held by local archives offices will be covered by FOI 
and also records of private origin which have come into public 
ownership.   Private archives that are held on deposit, ownership 
remaining with the depositor, are regarded as being held on behalf of 
that depositor and so fall outside FOI. 

 
ANNEX A – DEFINITIONS 
 
1 PUBLICATION SCHEMES 
 
A publication scheme is a guide to the types of information that the authority 
routinely publishes the format in which the information is available in and how 
much it will cost if there are any charges.   The Council’s publication scheme 
is available via the website. 
 
The information is presented in the form of classes (categories) of information.    
 
 
 
 
Using a publication scheme 
 
A person can contact the authority in any way, such as telephone, email or in 
writing and ask to see their publication scheme.   They can then make a 
request for any of the information included within the scheme. 
 
 
2 GENERAL RIGHT OF ACCESS 
 
Anyone has a right to ask public authorities for any information they hold. 
 
Some of the records requested may contain exempt information which does 
not have to be provided when responding to a request. 
 

Page 276



[Type here] 

 

D:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\8\AI00002866\$grhirxe2.doc 5 

Retrospective 
 
The Act allows for access to information held by public authorities regardless 
of when that information was created or how long it has been held by the 
public authority. 
 
Codes of Practice 
 
 
The latest code produced under section 45 of the Act was published by The 
Cabinet Office on 4 July 2018.   It deals with how to handle requests for 
information including : 
 

 the level of advice and assistance an Authority is expected to provide, 
 

 transferring requests from one public authority to another, 
 

 consulting with third parties who may be affected by the release of 
information 

 
It also deals with complaints procedures and how the Act impacts on public 
sector contracts. 
 
Authorities are also advised to consult the Information Commissioner’s 
website for information and best practice.  
 
 
 
 
 
ANNEX B – EXEMPTIONS 
 
There are 23 exemptions from the general rights of access, and of these eight 
are in whole or part ‘absolute’ exemptions.   However, for other exemptions 
the ‘public interest’ test applies (see below). 
 
ABSOLUTE EXEMPTIONS 
 
1 Information accessible to the requestor by other means (section 21).   

For example, information already in the public domain and readily 
available in paper form or on the internet. 

 
2 Information supplied by or relating to bodies dealing with security 

matters (section 23). 
 
3 Court records (section 32).   This includes information in documents 

served for the purposes of legal proceedings, or held by a person 
conducting an inquiry or arbitration. 

 

Page 277



[Type here] 

 

D:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\8\AI00002866\$grhirxe2.doc 6 

4 Information is exempt if the exemption is required for the purpose of 
avoiding an infringement of the privileges of either House of Parliament 
(section 34). 

 
5 Information is exempt if, in the reasonable opinion of a qualified 

person, disclosure would, or would be likely to, prejudice the effective 
conduct of public affairs.   This is an absolute exemption only in so far 
as it relates to Parliament (section 36). 

 
6 Personal information about the person making a request (section 40).   

This iscovered by the Data Protection Act 2018 . 
 
7 Information provided in confidence (section 41).   This applies if 

releasing the information would amount to an actionable breach of 
confidence at the time a request is made.    

 
8 Prohibition on disclosure (section 44).   This applies to information the 

disclosure of which is prohibited by any legislation or if disclosure 
would be a contempt of court. 

 
Exemptions Subject to the Public Interest Test 
 
The following exemptions are subject to the public interest test.   An authority 
must release the information requested unless “in all circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information” 
 
9 Information intended for future publication (section 22). 
 
10 Information held for the purpose of safeguarding national security 
(section 24) 
 
11 Information whose disclosure would, or would be likely to, prejudice the 

defence of the realm (section 26) 
 
12 Information whose disclosure would, or would be likely to, prejudice 

relations between the UK and any other state, international 
organisation or court or UK interests abroad (section 27). 

 
13 Information whose disclosure would, or would be likely to prejudice 

relations between any administration in the UK and any other such 
administration (section 28). 

 
14 Information whose disclosure would, or would be likely to, prejudice the 

economic or financial interests of the UK (section 29). 
 
15 Information held at any time by an authority in connection with a 

criminal investigation (section 30). 
 

Page 278



[Type here] 

 

D:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\8\AI00002866\$grhirxe2.doc 7 

16 Information whose disclosure would, or would be likely to, prejudice the 
prevention or detection of crime, the apprehension of offenders, or the  
administration of justice, information relating to civil proceedings 
(section 31). 

 
17 Audit information (section 33).   This relates to information held by any 

public authority which has functions in relation to the audit of the 
accounts of other public authorities. 

 
18 Information is exempt if it is held by a government department of the 

National Assembly of Wales and relates to the formulation of policy, 
ministerial communications, or the operation of any Ministerial private 
office (section 35). 

 
19 Information is exempt if it relates to communications with Her Majesty 

or with other members of the Royal Family or the Royal Household or 
is concerned with Honours (section 37). 

 
20 Information is exempt if it is likely to endanger the health and safety of 

an individual (section 38). 
 
21 Information is exempt if the authority is obliged to release the 

information under the Environment Information Regulations and Aarhus 
Convention (section 39). 

 
22 Information in respect of which a claim for legal professional privilege 

could be maintained is exempt (section 42). 
 
23 Information is exempt if it constitutes commercial interests (section 43). 
 
24 Personal information of a third party (i.e. data not relating to the 

requestor). An exemption will stand or fall on whether disclosure of the 
information to a member of the public would be unfair, taking into 
account all of the circumstances involved, in particular how the 
information was obtained; the likely expectations of the data subject 
regarding disclosure of the information; the effect which disclosure 
would have on the data subject; and the public interest in disclosure of 
the information. If disclosure of personal data to a member of the public 
would be unfair then the request is likely to need to be refused under 
the 2000 Act insofar as it relates to that personal data. 

  

Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 280


	Agenda
	6 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	8 PROPOSED CHANGES TO STANDING ORDERS
	8. Edited Standing Orders 5 March 2021 (1)

	9 FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN
	9. Summary - Five Year Financial Plan
	9. Appendix A - Projects - 5FYP
	9. Appendix B - Earmarked Reserve - 5 YFP

	10 PARSON'S CLOSE INCLUSIVE ADVENTURE
	10. Design Plan V2
	Sheets and Views
	A1 (Portrait)


	10. Visualisation V2
	10. POW for Parson's Close Recreation Ground
	10. Response Document for Parson's Close Recreation Ground V2
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	11 CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2021-2022
	Meetings report Appendix A 2021-2022 Calendar of Meetings V1
	Meetings Appendix B NALC guidance published 4 February 2021
	Meetings report Appendix C. Letter_to_council_leaders_-_remote_meetings

	12 ANNUAL REPORT
	13 OPERATION DODFORD 2021-2022
	14 COMMITTEE MINUTES
	210204  Partnership
	210217 Planning and Transort
	210222  Policy & Finance   minutes
	14d. Investment Strategy 2021 Appendix
	210301  C & E draft
	210308 G & E draft
	210310 Planning and Transport
	210329  Policy & Finance  minutes
	14h. Third Party Funding & Use of Assets Protocol DRAFT
	210331 Planning draft
	14h. Annual Governance Review report
	14h. Health and Safety Policy 2021-22
	14h. Lone Working Policy 2021-22
	14h. draft revised Complaints Policy Apr 21
	14h. FOIproposed Policy amendments




